This electronic thesis or dissertation has been downloaded from the King's Research Portal at https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/



A study of putative p25 modulated synaptic molecules - CYFIP1, CYFIP2 and CSP α - in Alzheimer's Disease

Tiwari, Sachin Suresh

Awarding institution: King's College London

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author and no quotation from it or information derived from it may be published without proper acknowledgement.

END USER LICENCE AGREEMENT



Unless another licence is stated on the immediately following page this work is licensed

under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International

licence. https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/

You are free to copy, distribute and transmit the work

Under the following conditions:

- Attribution: You must attribute the work in the manner specified by the author (but not in any way that suggests that they endorse you or your use of the work).
- Non Commercial: You may not use this work for commercial purposes.
- No Derivative Works You may not alter, transform, or build upon this work.

Any of these conditions can be waived if you receive permission from the author. Your fair dealings and other rights are in no way affected by the above.

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact <u>librarypure@kcl.ac.uk</u> providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

A study of putative p25 modulated synaptic molecules - CYFIP1, CYFIP2 and CSPα - in Alzheimer's Disease

Sachin Suresh Tiwari

Department of Neuroscience,

King's College London

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Abstract

Alzheimer's Disease (AD) is a devastating neurodegenerative condition with synaptic impairment at the onset of disease. Previously, our group have shown that the p25 molecule is changed in the post mortem brain of mild stage AD patients. A mass spectrometric analysis of p25 transgenic mouse brain provided us with a set of potential p25 downstream molecules. Three of these candidate molecules which had synaptic/dendritic localization - CYFIP2, CYFIP1 and CSPa were selected to be studied in the post-mortem brain of Alzheimer's patients. CYFIP2 is a dendritically localised molecule with biological role in local translation modulation and cytoskeleton remodelling. Our case -control studies revealed that CYFIP2 is downregulated in severe stages of disease in hippocampus. We showed a similar CYFIP2 downregulation in Tg2576 mouse model of AD. We performed functional studies of this molecule, using CYFIP2 heterozygous knockout mice. We found that these mutants suffer from memory loss after Pavlovian conditioning. CYFIP1 has similar cellular function as CYFIP2. Our studies showed that CYFIP1 is upregulated in AD hippocampus. However, this upregulation is unlikely to be compensation for CYFIP2 downregulation, as it was not observed in superior temporal gyrus. CSPa, a synaptic vesicle protein that has been implicated in neurodegeneration in Kufs disease, was found to be downregulated in AD hippocampus, but, surprisingly, upregulated in cerebellum. This suggests that CSPa may protect neurons from degeneration. In agreement, we found that CSPa upregulation in htau mutant mice correlates with absence of neuronal loss. Taken together, analysis of candidate p25-regulated synaptic proteins have provided novel insights into mechanisms underlying synaptic degeneration and memory impairment in AD.

Table of Contents

Page No.

Abstract
Acknowledgment
Abbreviations
Chapter 1 : Introduction
1.1. Alzheimer's Disease
1.1.1. Significance of AD research
1.1.2. Disease - Pathology and Diagnosis17
1.1.3. Mechanistic understanding of Disease18
1.1.3.1. APP – production and processing19
1.1.3.2. Tau and APP25
1.1.3.3. Other factors implicated in the onset of AD27
1.2. The Synapse and Alzheimer's disease
1.2.1. Role of APP and its catabolites at synapses
1.2.1.1. APP at synapse
1.2.1.2. Amyloid β at synapse
1.2.1.3. Soluble oligomers and plaques at synapse
1.2.2. Synaptic defects in AD
1.2.3. Molecular Mechanism of synaptic degeneration in AD
1.3. Relevant mouse models in the study 40
1.3.1. Htau mouse model
1.3.2. Tg2576 mouse model42
1.4. Target molecules of the study43
1.4.1. p25
1.4.2. CYFIP2/ CYFIP1
1.4.3. CSPα
1.5. Overall objective of the study
Chapter 2 : Materials and methods
2.1. Samples
2.1.1. Postmortem Human Brain Samples50
2.1.2. Tg2576 Mouse Brain Samples51
2.1.3. Htau Mouse Brain Samples52
2.1.4. CYFIP2+/- Mouse Brain53
2.2. Protein preparation

2.2.1. Lysate preparation from Human Brain Sample57
2.2.2. Protein preparation from mouse brain tissues
2.3. Western Blot Analysis
2.4. Immunohistochemistry
2.5. Cloning of CYFIP2 shRNA plasmid62
2.6. CYFIP2 Mouse Genotyping63
2.7. Fear Conditioning
2.7.1. Testing for Contextual Conditioning64
2.7.2. Testing for Tone conditioning65
2.8. Morris Water maze test and Visible platform test65
2.9. Statistical analysis67
Chapter 3: CYFIP1/2 are dysregulated in Alzheimer's disease
3.1. Introduction
3.1.1. What is CYFIP1/2?
3.1.2. Discovery of CYFIP1/284
3.1.3. What is the expression pattern of CYFIP1/2?
3.1.4. What are the functions of CYFIP1/2 at the synapse?
3.1.5. What are the diseases in which CYFIP1/2 has been implicated?
3.1.6. What kind of animal models have been used until now to study CYFIP1/2functions?
3.1.7. Previous studies in the lab that lead to the reported study on role of CYFIP1/2 109
3.2. Results
3.2.1. CYFIP1 is upregulated and CYFIP2 is downregulated in the severe stages of hippocampal AD
3.2.2. CYFIP1 expression is unaltered whilst CYFIP2 is downregulated in the Superior Temporal Gyrus in severe AD112
3.2.3. CYFIP1 expression is unchanged and CYFIP2 was expressed at undetectable levels in the cerebellum of severe AD cases
3.2.4. CYFIP1 expression is unchanged whilst CYFIP2 expression decreases with increasing age in Tg2576 mice
3.2.5. CYFIP1 is unchanged in ageing cerebellum115
3.2.6. CYFIP2 expression is independent of CYFIP1 expression in CYFIP2+/- mice synapses
3.2.7. CYFIP2 ^{+/-} mice show deficits in cued fear conditioning memory
3.2.8. CYFIP2 ^{+/-} mice do not show any defects in formation and maintenance of context dependent fear memory

3.2.9.CYFIP2+/- mice is not impaired in visible platform test and hence suitable for water
maze tests
3.4. Discussion
3.5. Conclusion
Chapter 4: CSPα may be neuroprotective in Alzheimer's disease
4.1 Introduction
4.1.1. What is CSPα?
4.1.2. Discovery of CSPα
4.1.3. What is the expression pattern of CSP $lpha$?
4.1.4. What are the functions of CSP α at the synapse?
4.1.5. What are the diseases in which CSP $lpha$ has been implicated?
4.1.6. What kind of animal models have been used to date to study CSP $lpha$ functions? 142
4.1.7. Previous studies in the lab that lead to identification of CSP $lpha$
4.2. Results
4.2.1. CSPα is upregulated in Cerebellum144
4.2.2. Immunohistochemical studies145
4.2.3. CSP α has synaptic expression146
4.2.4. CSP $lpha$ is downregulated in the hippocampus146
4.2.5. CSP $lpha$ is downregulated in the Superior Temporal Gyrus147
4.2.6. CSP $lpha$ decreases during ageing in the cerebellum148
4.2.7. CSP $lpha$ is unchanged in Tg2576 cerebellum and forebrain148
4.2.8. CSP α shows age dependent downregulation in htau mouse forebrain149
4.2.9. CSPα is unchanged in FTLD cerebellum151
4.3. Discussion
4.4. Conclusion
Chapter 5: Discussion
5.1. Revisiting the questions
5.2. Answers for discussion
5.2.1. Dysregulation of p25 regulated molecules was observed in AD postmortem brain
tissues
5.2.2. Different mouse models of AD confirmed the results observed obtained from postmortem brain
5.2.3. CYFIP2 functional study revealed its significance for synaptic functions and AD 165
5.3. CYFIP2 and CSP α downregulation follows p25 downregulation in the forebrain of mild AD 166
5.4. CYFIP1 upregulation may be a second wave of neurodegeneration

5.5. A p25-CYFIP2-CSP α feed-forward model of AD synaptotoxicity	. 168
5.6. Future studies	. 173
5.7. Conclusion	. 175

References	·	
------------	---	--

Index of figures and tables -

Page.No.
Figure 1.1. Interaction of amyloid β , Tau and other factors involved in AD pathogenesis
Figure 1.2. APP processing and amyloid β accumulation
Figure 1.3. APP processing and feed forward model
Figure 1.4. Molecular Model of an Average Synaptic Vesicle containing CSP32
Figure 2.1. CYFIP mutant allele cassette
Figure 2.2. The CYFIP2 shRNA cloned in pZacU6 plasmid
Figure 2.3. CYFIP2 ^{+/-} mice have no deficit in forming contextual fear memories56
Figure 2.4. CYFIP2 ^{+/-} mice have no deficit in retention of contextual fear memories
Figure 2.5. CYFIP2 ^{+/-} mice show memory impairment in cued fear conditioning paradigm at 5 days interval
Figure 3.1. The WAVE regulatory complex
Figure 3.2. The translational repression complex
Figure 3.3. Chromosome locus 15q11- q13
Figure 3.4. Specific binding of anti-CYFIP antibodies
Figure 3.5. CYFIP1 expression is specifically increased in hippocampus in severe, but not mild AD
Figure 3.6. Age-dependent down-regulation of CYFIP1 in forebrain of Tg2576 mice

Figure 3.7. CYFIP1 levels in Htau mouse brain are not changed
Figure 3.8. CYFIP1 expression does not change in cerebellum with normal ageing
Figure 3.9. CYFIP2 expression is decreased in forebrain of severe AD patients
Figure 3.10. Age-dependent decrease of CYFIP2 expression in forebrain of Tg2576 mice
Figure 3.11. CYFIP1 expression is not altered in crude hippocampal synaptosomes of CYFIP2 ^{+/-} mice
Figure 3.12. CYFIP2 ^{+/-} animals are impaired in maintaining cued fear memory99
Figure 3.13. CYFIP2 ^{+/-} animals are not impaired in formation and maintenance of contextual fear memory
Figure 3.14. CYFIP2 ^{+/-} animals do not display impairments in visible platform test
Figure 3.15. CYIP2 antibody didn't gave any detectable CYFIP2 signal from aged Htau brains in immunoblot study
Figure 3.16. CYFIP2 is absent in glial cells
Figure 4.1a. CSPα-Hsc-70-SGT complex at the presynapse
Figure 4.1b. CSPα regulates vesicle recycling
Figure 4.2. CSPα is involved in BK channel density regulation
Figure 4.3 . Specific binding of anti-CSPα antibodies
Figure 4.4 . CSPα expression is increased in Alzheimer's disease cerebellum132
Figure 4.5. Increased CSPα immunostaining in Alzheimer's disease cerebellum133
Figure 4.6. CSPα immunostaining in cerebellum is typical for synaptic expression
Figure 4.7. CSPα protein expression is reduced in Alzheimer's disease hippocampus
Figure 4.8. CSPα protein expression is reduced in Alzheimer's disease superior temporal gyrus
Figure 4.9. Normal ageing reduces $CSP\alpha$ expression in healthy human cerebellum

Figure 4.10. Abnormal APP processing is not sufficient to cause CSPα upregulation in cerebellum 139
Figure 4.11. Mice expressing human tau have an age-dependent CSPα overexpression that correlates with neuroprotection 140
Figure 4.12. CSPα expression in cerebellum is not changed inFTLD.141
Figure 5.1. p25-CYFIP2-CSPα feed-forward model of AD synaptotoxicity172
Figure S1. Decreased CSPα immunostaining in Alzheimer's disease hippocampus and STG
Figure S2. CSPα levels are not changed in Tg2576 mouse forebrain179

Table 2.1. Details of post-mortem brain tissues	73
Table 2.2. Details about the antibodies used	80
Table S1. Details of mice used	176

Publication

Evidence that the presynaptic vesicle protein CSPalpha is a key player in synaptic		
degeneration and protection in Alzheimer's Disease. Tiwari SS, d'orange		
M, Troakes C, Shurovi BN, Engmann O, Noble W, Hortobagyi T, Giese KP. Mol Brain		
2015,8:6		

Acknowledgment

This PhD study was conducted under the supervision of **Prof. Peter Giese** and I am very grateful for his constant support, motivation, advice and suggestions in different phases of this study. He has been an excellent mentor throughout this project and I have learned a great deal from him. I am also thankful to my other supervisors - **Dr. Frank Hirth** and **Dr. Tibor Hortobagyi**, for their continous intellectual input and mentoring as well as my personal tutor **Dr. Angela Bithell** for her support.

This project would never had been so much fun without the company of my fellow labmates and dear friends – Fabio, Wajeeha, Keiko and Walter. I thank them for all the collaboration and great times, within as well as outside the lab. Also, the previous lab members Shurovi Badrun, Marie D'Orange, Flora Vasile, Vitor Paiva, Larissa Heidemeyer, Yumna Ahmed, Jason Daoud, Vidushi Golash, who were all great fun to work with in lab.

I have had a great deal of help from various friends at Institute of Psychiatry during this PhD project. I am grateful to **Dr. Amy Pooler** for teaching the primary cell culture, **Dr. Wendy Noble** for all the help with animal studies, **Dr. Claire Troakes** for the help with postmortem studies, **Dr. Aaron Jeffries** for the help in sequencing, **Prof. John Cooper** for the help in Immunohistochemistry, **Dr. Lotta Parviainen** for providing the glial culture and **Dr. Teresa Rodriguez** for the help with plasmid transfection studies.

This PhD study was made possible with the funding support from various bodies -**King's College London** provided the International PhD scholarships and conference participation grant, **Guarantors of Brain** provided funds for the travel grant , **EMBO** funded the short term fellowship and **ARUK** provided the travel grant.

I acknowledge **Dr. Wendy Noble, Dr. Angela Bithell, Dr. Anthony Vernon, Dr. Claire Traokes** and **Dr. Graham Cocks** who provided the support with proof reading this document. I appreciate **Prof. Thomas Sudhof's** help, for kindly providing the plasmid for CSPα overexpression studies. I thank **Dr. Victoria Harris, Dr. Ulrike Naumann** (Department of Biostatistics, King's College London) for their advice on statistical analysis and **Katalin Erzsébet Nagy** for assistance during immunohistochemical studies.

I thank my friends, family and teachers who believed in me. I am indebted to my school teacher Mr. Francis Thomas for inspiring me to pursue science, my late uncle Mr. Rajesh Agnihotri, my university teachers - Dr. Varsha Gupta, Dr. P.K. Burma, Prof. B.K. Thelma and Prof. Sheela Srivastava for trusting my abilities.

Finally but most importantly I am grateful to **my parents**, **my brother and the universal force** – for keeping my spirits strong in this pursuit.

Abbreviations

- 1) AD Alzheimer's disease
- 2) AMPAR- α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor
- 3) APP- Amyloid precursor protein
- 4) sAPPα soluble amyloid precursor protein alpha
- 5) sAPP β soluble amyloid precursor protein beta
- 6) BCA Bicinchoninic acid
- 7) Cdk5 -Cylin dependent kinase-5
- 8) CSP Cysteine String Protein
- 9) CYFIP1 Cytoplasmic FMRP interacting protein 1
- 10) CYFIP2 Cytoplasmic FMRP interacting protein 2
- 11) ECL -Enhanced Chemiluminescence
- 12) EIF4E Eukaryotic translation Initiation Factor 4E
- 13) FMRP -Fragile-X Mental Retardation Protein
- 14) FTLD Frontotemporal Lobar Degeneration
- 15) FXR Fragile-X related protein
- 16) NFT Neurofibrillary Tangeles
- 17) NMDAR -N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor
- 18) NSE- Neuron Specific Enolase

- 19) PWS- Prader Willi Syndrome
- 20) STG Superior Temporal Gyrus
- 21) TBST Tris-Buffered Saline Tween 20
- 22) WAVE WASP family Verprolin-homologous protein
- 23) WASP Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein
- 24) WRC -WAVE regulatory complex

1.1. Alzheimer's Disease

Alzheimer's Disease (AD) was reported first by the German psychiatrist Alois Alzheimer in 1906 in Tübingen, Germany (Alzheimer et al., 1995). He reported the correlation between cognitive deficits of a 51 year-old woman and cortical histopathology of plaques and neurofibrillary changes on her death at the age of 55 years. 106 years after this revelation, much has been discovered about the pathology of the disease and yet a lot remains to be understood in terms of the molecular mechanisms leading to AD and associated dementia.

1.1.1. Significance of AD research

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a neurodegenerative disorder and it is the most prominent cause of dementia in the elderly. The prevalence of AD is evident from the epidemiological statistics for the year 2011 in the US population (Alzheimer's Association statistics) –

5.4 million Americans irrespective of the age group have been diagnosed with AD. This group includes 5.2 million people above the age of 65 years and 200,000 below the age of 65 years diagnosed with early onset AD. Therefore approximately 1 in every 8 individuals (or 13%) above the age of 65 years has been diagnosed with AD. If untreated, the prevalence of this disease in people above 65 years is projected to triple by 2050 to about 11 to 16 million.

- It is the sixth leading cause of death amongst all ages in the US population
- With the current growth in prevalence of AD in the US population, the annual economic burden of the disease is estimated to inflate from \$183 billion in 2011 to \$1.1 trillion by 2050.

Due to the current lack of knowledge about the mechanisms underlying AD aetiology and poor diagnostic as well as therapeutic tools for AD, it is emerging as a major social and economic burden in our modern ageing society. Hence there is an urgent need to understand this disease in as much detail as possible to develop better early stage diagnostic markers as well as therapies.

1.1.2. Disease - Pathology and Diagnosis

AD is characterized by the presence of extracellular amyloid β plaques, intracellular neurofibrillary tangles (NFT), and loss of synapses and neurons. AD progression has been divided into three stages based on the spread of hyperphosphorylated tau protein – mild (Braak stages 1-2), moderate (Braak stages 3-4) and severe (Braak stages 5-6) (Braak and Braak, 1991b). The mild stage lasts 2-5 years and is characterized by the onset of memory impairment with impairment in short-term memory, deficits in problem solving ability, depression, aphasia (inability to effectively communicate) and other cognitive impairments (Holtzman et al., 2011). However, the patient at this stage can perform daily tasks and has perfect motor co-ordination. In the moderate stage of AD, lasting 2-4 years, there is progressive memory impairment that now includes long-term memory deficits, agnosia (inability to recognize others) and apraxia (loss of motor skills). The patient becomes more and more dependent on friends and relatives for performing everyday work (Holtzman et al., 2011). In the severe stages, the patient is

totally dependent on others and has severe cognitive and memory deficits, problems with swallowing, bowel movement and bladder function (Holtzman et al., 2011). When the patient is alive, diagnosis of AD is still not conclusive with post-mortem neuropathological analysis required to unequivocally diagnose AD. Apart from lack of efficient biomarkers of the disease, there is also no cure or effective symptomatic treatment available for AD.

1.1.3. Mechanistic understanding of Disease

The cause of the development of AD is still unknown. Prior the 1970s AD was considered to be a case of presenile dementia (affecting people aged < 65 years), distinct from senile dementia (with age onset > 65 years). However, by the 1970s it was realized that the biology behind both dementias is the same with identical pathological hallmarks and symptoms. There are several hypotheses that have been proposed to explain the causes of early onset and late onset forms of AD. One of the first hypotheses was based on the observation that cholinergic transmission is essential for memory formation (Bartus, 1979) and loss of cholinergic neuron occurs in AD (Davies and Maloney, 1976). Thus, impaired cholinergic transmission was proposed to cause AD. This hypothesis has led to the development of a widely used acetylcholinesterase inhibitor-based therapy, which provided moderate symptomatic relief in clinical use (Farlow et al., 2008). However, in AD most of the cortical pyramidal neurons, which are glutamatergic, are affected and hence the cholinergic neuron-based hypothesis and neurotransmitter replacement therapies have their limits as cause and cure, respectively.

Being the pathological hallmarks of AD, NFT and amyloid β plaques attracted significant attention as possible causes for the disease. Intracellular NFTs are composed of aggregates of paired helical filaments (Kidd, 1963) and these filaments are made up of hyperphosphorylated tau protein (Kosik et al., 1986, Wood et al., 1986). The normal function of tau protein is to stabilize the microtubule assembly (Weingarten et al., 1975). Amyloid plaques are extracellular aggregates of amyloid β peptide fragments and are derived from the cleavage of transmembrane amyloid precursor protein (APP) (Golde et al., 2000, Hardy and Selkoe, 2002). The cleavage of APP to amyloid β peptide is mediated by β -secretase and γ -secretase (Holtzman et al., 2011) as shown in **Fig.1.1.** The cellular function of APP is not yet well known. The *APP* gene has been localized to chromosome 21 in humans (and chromosome 16 in mouse) (Goldgaber et al., 1987, Beyreuther et al., 1993, Cheng et al., 1988) and explains the high correlation between trisomy 21 (Down's syndrome) and AD pathology of amyloid plaques.

1.1.3.1. APP - production and processing

As a key protein implicated in AD it is important to understand APP production and processing mechanisms (**Fig.1.2**). APP production goes through a series of steps from gene transcription, posttranscriptional modification, translation and finally posttranslational modification during its production pathway (Westmark, 2013, Westmark and Malter, 2012). This is then followed by complex processing by enzymes, which leads to production of amyloid peptide amongst other products.

There are several isoforms of APP ranging in size from 695 to 775 amino acids, which includes the fragment from which the amyloid β is derived. APP695 is the most abundant isoform in brain (Kummer and Heneka, 2014). APP mRNA binds to Fragile

X Mental Retardation Protein (FMRP) – a protein important for mRNA transport into dendrites and regulation of local dendritic/synaptic mRNA translation. FMRP represses mRNA translation. This repression is released through an mGluR₅ -dependent signalling pathway at synapses (Sokol et al., 2011, Lee et al., 2010, Darnell et al., 2011). APP is reported to be synthesized in a developmentally regulated manner with expression reaching maximum levels during neuronal differentiation, particularly synaptogenesis, and declining with the final establishment of major neural circuits (Loffler and Huber, 1992, Moya et al., 1994). Changes in the expression profile (both quantitative levels and localization) of RNA binding proteins like FMRP are expected to influence APP and amyloid β synthesis and expression during the course of development. This has been shown in neonatal brains, whereby the APP levels reach their maximum during postnatal weeks 2-6, a period when crucial sensory neural circuits are being established in rodents, and the FMRP levels decline after the 1st postnatal week (Berardi et al., 2000, Lu et al., 2004). A decrease in FMRP levels (or other dendritic translation regulators) will eventually lead to an increase in APP levels during synpatogenesis as reported by Westmark's group (Westmark and Malter, 2012, Westmark, 2013) since FMRP levels regulate the translation of APP mRNA. During synaptogenesis this translational repression is removed by a decrease in FMRP levels leading to elevation of APP levels (Westmark and Malter, 2007). At the other extreme of the development phase, Prasad's group has reported that FMRP levels decrease in an age-dependent manner in rodents (Singh et al., 2007). Hence, with ageing, the decrease in FMRP levels could be contributing to an age-dependent increase of APP or amyloidß production.

At the posttranslational level, APP processing happens through two pathways – amyloidogenic and non-amyloidogenic (**Fig1.1 and Fig.1.2**). In the amyloidogenic pathway, APP is cleaved by β -secretase (BACE-1) followed by γ -secretase (the

catalytic component of which is presenilin) leading to amyloid synthesis. Presenilin 1 (PS1) and Presenilin 2 (PS2) are gamma-secretases that cleave APP (Takasugi et al., 2003). They are multiple transmembrane proteins and span membrane 6-9 times(Kim and Schekman, 2004, Oh and Turner, 2005). Both β -secretase and γ -secretase are transmembrane proteins that have aspartic protease catalytic domains that cleave APP to generate an internal fragment – amyloid β (Westmark, 2013). BACE1 expression is high in brain and BACE1 knockout mice do not show detectable amyloid levels which may have therapeutic use (Vassar et al., 1999, Bennett et al., 2000, Vassar and Citron, 2000)). Amyoid β begins about 99 residues from the C-terminus of APP and extends from the extracellular domain into middle of membrane spanning domain 2013). The γ secreatse activity in both amyloidogenic (Westmark, and nonamyloidogenic pathway releases APP intracellular cytoplasmic domain (AICD) apart from amyloid β in amyloidogenic pathway and p3 fragment in non-amyloidogenic pathway (Selkoe, 2002). AICD binds to different proteins and may be involved in gene regulation, neuronal growth and apoptosis (Raychaudhuri and Mukhopadhyay, 2007). The best characterized of these AICD binding proteins are Fe65 family members. These protein contain two domains that physically interact with C- terminal of APP regulating AICD formation (Fiore et al., 1995, Duilio et al., 1998, Huysseune et al., 2007). Mint/X11 family bind to AICD and modulate AICD mediated transcription in isoform specific manner (Borg et al., 1996, Biederer et al., 2002). Members of JIP family activate AICD-mediated signalling (Scheinfeld et al., 2003). AICD modulates calcium homeostasis, cellular trafficking and cell death (Hamid et al., 2007, Ghosal et al., 2009, Passer et al., 2000). Finally, AICD undergoes two step proteolytic fate rapid inactivation by endosomal insulin degrading enzyme - insulysin (Farris et al., 2003) and cleavage at C-terminal end by caspase 3 activity to yield C31 fragment (Lu et al., 2000). Both the pathway contribute to certain extent in the final AICD degradation.

The formation of amyloid β peptide is a multiple step process. Amyloid β is a mix of peptides of 39 to 43 amino acids (Wang et al., 1996, Lamb et al., 1997). The endoproteolysis is believed to occur in stepwise manner cleaving the C-terminal stub multiple times within its transmembrane domain. The cleavage occurs approximately 3 amino acid apart – the first one at position 48/49 (ɛ-cleavage site), followed by at position 45/46 (ζ -cleavage site), and the last one at position 38/40 or 42 (γ -cleavage site) (Takami et al., 2009, Qi-Takahara et al., 2005, Gu et al., 2001, Sastre et al., 2001). So, ε cleavage is a limiting step for γ cleavage occurrence. Depending on the cleavage site of γ -secretase at the C-terminus end of amyloid β , different forms of amyloid β are generated (Steiner et al., 2008) and some of them are shorter isoforms than the ones mentioned before (Amyloid β - 17,18) depending on the γ secretase activity(Portelius et al., 2011). The ε cleavage site is considered equivalent to S3 site in Notch 1(Schroeter et al., 1998), Also, a new study revealed that S4 cleavage site in Notch1 could be homologous to γ cleavage site in APP(Okochi et al., 2002). This suggest that the intramembrane cleavages that APP and Notch 1 undergo are similar atleast at two sites : $\epsilon/S3$ cleavage and $\gamma/S4$ cleavage , releasing amyloid β /notch-1 β and APP intracellular cytoplasmic domain(AICD)/ Notch-1 intracellular cytoplasmic domain (NICD)(Okochi et al., 2002, Tagami et al., 2008). Just as NICD transcription factor, there are increasing evidence that AICD is also trafficked to nucleus where it could be acting as a transcription factor (Kopan, 2002, Goodger et al., 2009, Roncarati et al., 2002). Though amyloid β peptide is produced throughout life, it has been recently reported that the production of amyloid β_{42} (both the soluble and insoluble form) increases with ageing relative to amyloid β_{40} (after 50 years of age), possibly contributing to AD pathology (Miners et al., 2014). The increase in amyloid β_{42} with

respect to amyloid β_{40} levels have been reported in familial AD as well as transgenic animal models of AD (Wolfe, 2007, Selkoe, 1998). The alternate mechanism of APP processing is the non-amyloidogenic pathway whereby another secretase, α -secretase (ADAM 17), cleaves within the amyloid β domain (between position 16 and 17) of APP leading to formation and release of an 82kDa neuroprotective protein, soluble APP α , into the extracellular matrix , an α C-terminal fragment stub and avoids the formation of the amyloid β fragment (Gandy et al., 1993, Westmark, 2013). APP overexpression leads to increased processing of APP through the amyloidogenic pathway (Mattson, 1997) leading to increased production of amyloid β . Though amyloid β is present in body fluids under physiological conditions, an increased production or reduced clearance of amyloid β leads to toxic formation of amyloid oligomers and amyloid plaques (Klein et al., 2004, Westmark, 2013).

Amyloid β species undergo various kind of post-translational modifications. Pyroglutamylation is an important modification , which was identified at the glutamic acid on position 3 at N-terminal end (Mori et al., 1992) . This species was weakly soluble (Saido et al., 1995) and was present in small amount in plaques. Another amyloid species with pyroglutamate modification showed the pyroglutamylation at aspartate 11(Naslund et al., 1994, Liu et al., 2006). Conversion of glutamate to pyroglutamte is a dehydration reaction which can be catalyzed by the enzyme glutaminyl cyclase (Schilling et al., 2004). In AD glutaminyl cyclase expression has been reported to be increased (Schilling et al., 2008). Both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, reduced glutaminyl cyclase results in reduced pyroglutamate amyloid β formation(Schilling et al., 2008) (Cynis et al., 2008, Jawhar et al., 2011). The in vitro toxicological profile of amyloid β_{42} and amyloid β pyroglutamated at position 3 is same in neuronal cells. Various mouse models of AD show the presence of pyroglutamated AD but its time of first appearance varies (Christensen et al., 2008, Kawarabayashi et al., 2001).

23

Oxidation of amyloid β occurs at methionine at position 35. Methionine 35 is oxidized to methionine sulfoxide and was reported in AD by Greengard's group (Naslund et al., 1994) There are three potential phosphorylation sites on amyloid β – serine at position 8 and 26, tyrosine at position 10. Amyloid β serine 26 phosphorylation has been reported in AD brains (Milton, 2001). Serine 8 phosphorylated species is found in plaques as well as intracellularly and increases oligomeric aggregate formation (Kumar et al., 2011, Kumar et al., 2013a). Many posttranslational modifications in amyloidß are induced by Nitric oxide, like the dityrosine formation and nitration at tyrosine residues, S-nitrothiols at cysteine residues (Radi et al., 2002, Butterfield et al., 2007, Castegna et al., 2003). In APP/PS1 mice, nitrated amyloid β initiates plaque formation which may have a role in early phase of AD (Kummer et al., 2011). The presence of O-glycosylated amyloid β species in the CSF of AD patients have been shown by mass spectrometric analysis (Halim et al., 2011). Isomerization at asparagine residue and racemization at aspartly residues are other mode of post translational modification in amyloidß species (Szendrei et al., 1994, Roher et al., 1993).

Familial, early onset forms of AD are due to point mutations in the gene encoding APP, PS1 or PS2 (Murrell et al., 1991, Levy-Lahad et al., 1995a, Sherrington et al., 1995). These point mutations shift APP cleavage from the non-amyloidogenic pathway to the amyloidogenic pathway, leading to toxic amyloid production. These point mutants are sufficient to induce AD pathology. Thus, abnormal processing can lead to tau hyperphosphorylation and formation of neurofibrillary tangles.

Amyloidβ species activate a number of intracellular signalling pathways (Sheng et al., 2012). They may directly or indirectly activate a mitchondrial apoptotic pathway leading to neuronal toxicity or synaptic impairments by caspase-3 activation (D'Amelio

et al., 2011). They also trigger a number of signalling pathways that lead to increased Ca²⁺ influx, impaired energy metabolism and increased oxidative stress, all of which will contribute to synaptotoxicity and neurodegeneration (Bezprozvanny and Mattson, 2008). Pharmacological studies reveal an amyloid β induced Ca²⁺ influx by interaction with NMDA receptors that leads to the formation of reactive oxygen species (De Felice et al., 2007). Amyloidβ also stimulates glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK3), which has been implicated in AD due to its role in tau phosphorylation (Bhat et al., 2004). In the hippocampus, GSK3 activation has been reported to lead to increased NMDA receptor dependent long term depression (LTD) and inhibition of LTP, which is similar to the activity of amyloid (Peineau et al., 2007, Sheng et al., 2012). A recent report has also shown that inhibition of GSK3 leads to an increase in lysosomal number, causing autophagic degradation of APP (Parr et al., 2012). According to the most recently accepted form of the amyloid cascade hypothesis of AD (Fig.1.1 and Fig.1.2), proposed in 1991 by Hardy and Selko (Hardy and Selkoe, 2002), it is most likey the soluble oligometric forms of amyloid β that lead to neurodegeneration in AD and that the toxic amyloid species could be propagated by a prion-like mechanism from one cell to another (Sheng et al., 2012).

1.1.3.2. Tau and APP

Hyperphosphorylation of tau contributes to AD pathology. Tau belongs to a family of microtubule–associated proteins. Apart from its well known function in microtubule polymerization and stabilization, tau is also implicated in the regulation of axonal transport by motor protein regulation. Mutations in the *Tau* gene have linked tau abnormalities to neurodegenerative diseases; however, there is no report of a *Tau* mutation in AD (Poorkaj et al., 2001). The human *Tau/MAPT* gene has 16 exons and is

located on chromosome 17 at band position 17q21 (Neve et al., 1986, Andreadis et al., 1992). Alternative splicing of the human tau gene gives rise to six tau isoforms (Goedert et al., 1989a, Goedert et al., 1989b). The inclusion or exclusion of a coded exon 10 region determines the classification of these isoforms as 3 repeat (3R) or 4 repeat (4R) (Poorkaj et al., 2001). In the adult human brain the 3R and 4R levels are almost equal whereas adult mouse brain contains the 4R isoforms exclusively. There are 14 amino acids difference at the N-terminal end between mouse and human tau sequences (Andorfer et al., 2003). Tau is a neuronal protein with axonal localization and the primary sequence of tau can be sub-divided into an amino-terminal region, a proline-rich domain followed by microtubule-binding repeat motifs and the carboxyterminal tail (Weingarten et al., 1975, Schweers et al., 1994). There are 79 potential phosphorylation sites on the longest tau isoform (441 amino acids) (Buee et al., 2000). About 20 protein kinases are reported to phosphorylate tau, which includes glycogen kinase 3 (GSK3) and cyclin-dependent protein kinases 5 (Sergeant et al., 2008, Hamdane et al., 2003, Tomizawa et al., 2001). In AD, tau pathology follows a corticocortical connection sequential pathway starting from entorhinal cortex and ending in motor-sensory cortex (Braak and Braak, 1991b). Mice overexpressing human tau show synaptotoxicity even in the absence of NFT, leading to the conclusion that soluble oligomeric tau protein could be an important synaptotoxic molecule downstream of amyloid β (Pooler et al., 2014). Hyperphosphorylated tau aggregates have been shown with post-synaptic signalling complexes modulating axonal to be interacting mitochondrial transport and glutamatergic receptor levels in dendritic spines (Ittner et al., 2010, Shahpasand et al., 2012), providing clues to the mechanism of tau-mediated synaptotoxicity.

1.1.3.3. Other factors implicated in the onset of AD

There are various other risk factors that have been considered important for the onset of AD. Positional cloning strategies have revealed a number of other genes that are risk factors or contributors to AD onset. For the early onset forms of AD (age of onset <65 years) that are mostly familial, *presenilin1* and *presenilin 2* on chromosomes 14 and 1 respectively, have been identified as a major locus linked to the AD (Schellenberg et al., 1992, St George-Hyslop et al., 1992, Levy-Lahad et al., 1995a, Levy-Lahad et al., 1995b). Presenilin, along with other components, form the core functional complex of γ -secretase, which is important for cleavage of Notch, APP and other transmembrane protein (Edbauer et al., 2003).

Apolipoprotein E is an amyloid β binding protein and it is proposed to bind soluble forms of amyloid peptide (Kim et al., 2009). An allele of the *apolipoprotein E (apoE)* gene on chromosome 19 has been linked with late onset AD (onset age >65 years), which is mostly sporadic (Pericak-Vance et al., 1991, Strittmatter et al., 1993). The *apoE4* variant of this gene is considered a major risk factor for late onset AD (Corder et al., 1993). About a quarter of the population carries this allele, raising the question of the contribution of this risk factor to AD. Another variant, apoE2, is thought to have a protective function against the disease as it negatively correlates with AD (Chartier-Harlin et al., 1994).



Figure 1.1. Interaction of amyloid β , Tau and other factors involved in AD pathogenesis. The cleavage of APP by β secretases and γ secretases in the amyloidogenic pathway leads to formation of amyloid peptides of various lengths. These amyloid peptides aggregate to form plaques. The plaques (possibly acting as a reservoir of toxic amyloid species) and the oligomers are the possible cause of subsequent toxicity, inflammation and downstream toxic tau hyperphosphorylation.

This is the most basic pathway of Hardy-Selko's amyloid cascade hypothesis. Taken from (Holtzman et al., 2011).



Figure 1.2. APP processing and amyloid β accumulation. Mature APP (center, inside dashed box) is metabolized by 2 competing pathways, the α-secretase pathway that generates sAPP_α and C83 (also known as CTFα; left) and the β-secretase pathway that generates sAPP_β and C99 (right). Some β-secretase cleavage is displaced by 10 amino acid residues and generates sAPP_{β'} and C89. All carboxy terminal fragments (C83, C99, and C89) are substrates for γ-secretase, generating the APP intracellular domain (AICD) and the secreted peptides p3 (not shown), Aβ (right), and Glu¹¹ Aβ. Aβ aggregates into small multimers (dimers, trimers, etc.) known as oligomers. Taken from (Gandy, 2005).



Figure 1.3. APP processing and feed forward model. This model has been proposed by Westmark on the basis of their findings that indicate that amyloid β stimulates dendritic APP synthesis and can be inhibited by anisomycin or MPEP, indicating the relevance of an mGlur5 dependent and protein translation dependent pathway for APP synthesis at dendrites. Thus APP processing and cleavage leads to amyloid β formation, which in turn initiates a feed forward loop resulting in further APP synthesis through an mGluR₅ and protein translation dependent mechanism. This generates more APP molecules to be processed by the amyloidogenic pathway into amyloid β peptides. Taken from (Westmark, 2013).



Figure 1.4. Molecular model of an average synaptic vesicle containing CSP protein.

The model is based on space-filling models of all macromolecules at near atomic resolution.

(A) Outside view of a vesicle. CSP is one of the proteins visible on the surface.

(B) View of a vesicle sectioned in the middle (the dark-colored membrane components represent cholesterol).

(C) Model containing only synaptobrevin to show the surface density of the most abundant vesicle component. Taken from (Takamori et al., 2006).

1.2. The Synapse and Alzheimer's disease

Loss of synapses is an important pathology of AD, which occurs at the earliest stages of disease preceding the neuronal loss (discussed in detail later). To understand synaptic degeneration in AD was the primary objective of this PhD study. Which mechanisms lead to synaptic loss in AD is an important unanswered question in neurodegeneration research. To better understand the factors leading to synaptic and subsequent neuronal losses in AD it is essential to understand broadly the significance of APP (and its catabolites) and Tau at the synapses or dendrites.

1.2.1. Role of APP and its catabolites at synapses

1.2.1.1. APP at synapse

APP has been reported to play a role in synapse formation, synaptic transmission, dendritic spine formation, learning and memory (Hoe et al., 2012). Apart from the important amyloid β (discussed in section 1.2.1.2), other catabolites of APP have distinct functions. Soluble APP α (sAPP α , produced as a result of α secretase cleavage of APP in the non-amyloidogenic pathway) interacts with and disrupts APP dimers in the membrane preventing starvation-induced cell death, hence performing a neuroprotective function (Gralle et al., 2009). CPEB (Cytoplasmic Polyadenylation Element Binding) factor is anchored to membrane by APP promoting polyadenylation induced translation (Cao et al., 2005). sAPP α also has been reported to enhance LTP and enhance the *de novo* protein synthesis in rat synaptoneurosomes (Claasen et al., 2009, Taylor et al., 2008). Whereas sAPP α is neuroprotective, soluble APP β (sAPP β)

on the other hand could be neurotoxic. Tessier-Lavigne's group has reported that sAPP β binds to death receptor 6 (DR6) causing axonal degeneration (Nikolaev et al., 2009). In the amyloidogenic pathway of APP processing, β -secretase cleavage of APP produces a 104 amino acid long fragment at the carboxy terminal end, which has been shown to be important for spatial learning and LTP maintenance (Nalbantoglu et al., 1997). γ -secretase further cleaves this fragment producing different lengths of amyloid β and an intracellular carboxy terminal fragment. The latter intracellular fragment of APP has been shown to be important in cellular signaling, protein-protein interactions and apoptosis (Zheng and Koo, 2011).

1.2.1.2. Amyloid β at synapse

Amyloid β has been reported to be involved in increasing LTD, decreasing LTP, enhancing calcium influx and enhancing membrane depolarization (Koffie et al., 2011, Blanchard et al., 2002). Amyloid β binds to number of cell surface receptors, which also includes APP and NMDA receptors (Verdier et al., 2004). At the excitatory synapses, the lateral diffusion and accumulation of Amyloid β causes peptide clustering leading to a decreased mobility but increased activity of mGluR₅ at synapses (Renner et al., 2010). Amyloid β also activates two signaling molecules, GSK3 β and mTOR, both of which are relevant to AD pathology (Takashima et al., 1996, Caccamo et al., 2011, Mines et al., 2011). Westmark et al. have shown that Amyloid β stimulates dendritic APP synthesis (Westmark et al., 2011). Primary cultured neurons that were treated with Amyloid β_{42} showed increased expression of APP, MAP1B and RhoB. The Amyloid β_{42} mediated overexpression of dendritic APP can be blocked by MPEP (an mGluR₅ antagonist) or anisomycin (a translation inhibitor) indicating that the mGluR₅ and the translation dependent pathway are involved. Amyloid β has been reported to increase the levels of APP in neuronal hybrid cells as well as induce secretion of amyloid β in rat cortical neurons (Le et al., 1995, Marsden et al., 2011). On the basis of the above facts, Westmark has proposed a feed forward loop for amyloid β action at the synapses whereby increased APP translation leads to increased release of amyloid β (by the amyloidogenic pathway), which stimulates mGluR₅ signalling dependent dendritic translation of APP mRNA (**Fig.1.3**) (Westmark et al., 2011, Westmark, 2013).

1.2.1.3. Soluble oligomers and plaques at synapse

In earlier versions of the amyloid cascade hypothesis, amyloid plaques were considered to be the toxic entity responsible for synaptic and neuronal losses (Hardy and Higgins, 1992). However, reports have shown the presence of soluble active oligomeric forms (dimers, trimers, tetramers, dodecamers, etc.) of amyloid β in synthetic amyloid β peptide preparation (Kayed et al., 2003), in APP transgenic mouse brains (Shankar et al., 2009) and in AD brain tissue (Shankar et al., 2008), which is potentially neurotoxic. In addition, the insoluble amyloid fibrils as well as their aggregate plaques might be inactive, acting simply as reservoir of these oligomers. Protofibrils from synthetic amyloid β which are thinner than classical 8nm amyloid fibrils have been reported to be neurotoxic in in vitro condition (Hartley et al., 1999). However, the plaques acting as reservoirs at the synapse do lead to distortions of neurites in their vicinity (Hyman et al., 1995). A recent array tomography study by Spires-Jones et al in APP transgenic mice, shows a radial gradient of excitatory synapse loss and neuritic dystrophy (Spires-Jones et al., 2007). This synaptic loss and dystrophy is highest in the region closest to the plaques and reduces in a radial fashion, reaching normal levels at about 30-50 µm away from plaque core edge (Spires-Jones et al., 2007). The same group used array tomography with post-mortem tissue and they shows that oligometric amyloid β
binds to the pre- and post-synapse. Further the signal is much higher in close proximity to a plaque (Koffie et al., 2012). These morphological studies reveal that insoluble plaques may be having synaptotoxic and neuritic effects by acting as a reservoir of toxic soluble oligomers. Biochemical isolation of soluble amyloid oligomers and insoluble plaques from same AD cortex and electrophysiologically assay of their effects on mouse brain slices have shown that soluble oligomers block LTP whereas washed amyloid cores do not (Shankar et al., 2008). However, washing the amyloid core in harsh solvent (formic acid) before the assay made them toxic as it releases their constituent oligomers (Shankar et al., 2008). Hence, it is becoming more widely accepted that insoluble plaques or amyloid fibrils might be locally neurotoxic by being in a dynamic equilibrium with the soluble oligomers and protofibrils in the vicinity.

1.2.2. Synaptic defects in AD

Synaptic loss can be detected in the earliest stages of AD. Various groups have reported the loss of pre-synaptic proteins like VAMP2 and SNAP25 and post-synaptic proteins like PSD95, and Shank1 (Pham et al., 2010, Arendt, 2009). Microscopy studies have reported alterations in synaptic structure in the early stages of AD as well as APP transgenic mice (Scheff et al., 2013, Masliah et al., 1994, Alonso-Nanclares et al., 2013). Studies have shown more severe losses of glutamatergic terminals but not GABAergic terminals in AD hippocampus and animal models (Canas et al., 2014, Mitew et al., 2013). At the same time Cuello's group suggest that GABAergic synapses degenerate equally to glutamatergic synapses in AD from animal model studies (Bell et al., 2006). Consistent with studies using neuropathological and structural studies, gene expression studies have revealed a number of genes that are altered in early AD that includes the genes involved in synaptic vesicle trafficking, postsynaptic density

scaffolding, neurotransmitter receptors, etc. (Berchtold et al., 2013, Chang et al., 2013). Synaptic losses in the cortex and limbic system have been shown to correlate best with memory impairments in AD and the synaptic losses precede neuronal losses as suggested by a greater extent of synaptic loss compared to neuronal loss during AD. Post mortem brain immunohistochemical studies have shown that neurons in AD have reduced synaptic staining (Terry et al., 1991, DeKosky and Scheff, 1990, Scheff et al., 1990, DeKosky et al., 1996, Ingelsson et al., 2004). An increased level of amyloid β_{42} is expected to be involved in synaptic losses during AD (Sisodia and Price, 1995, Selkoe, 1989, Selkoe, 1993). However the mechanism by which amyloid β and other APP metabolites lead to synaptotoxicity is not yet known (Overk and Masliah, 2014). Monomeric amyloid ß aggregates to form amyloid fibrils and smaller order oligomeric species (Glabe, 2008, Selkoe, 2008). The oligomers of amyloid β organize into dimers, trimers and higher order arrays (Mucke and Selkoe, 2012, Tsigelny et al., 2014). More recent studies have reported these oligomers to be the toxic species and a trigger for the synaptic pathogenesis in AD (Klein, 2002, Glabe, 2005). However, understanding the precise nature and mode of action of this oligomeric species is an active field of research.

Based on the positive feedback loop model (Fig.1.3), Westmark has suggested that increased processing of APP through the amyloidogenic pathway, at the expense of non-amyloidogenic pathway, promotes amyloid β accumulation and synaptic loss before plaque accumulation in AD (Westmark, 2013). Excessive amyloid β could be leading to synaptic failure in AD by altering the molecular composition of postsynaptic density (a site where scaffolding protein recruit and anchor receptors) and thus altering the downstream signaling (Westmark, 2013). Experiments by Dineley's group have strengthened this hypothesis and had shown that the form of the oligomeric species as well as the treatment time determines the downstream signaling (Bell et al., 2004). Acute treatment with oligomeric amyloid β_{42} activates ERK (extracellular regulated kinase) mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK^{ERK}) and its downstream target, ribosomal S6 kinase, but not c-JNK (Jun N-terminal kinase) mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK^{JNK}). On the other hand, chronic treatment with oligomeric form or high molecular weight aggregates of amyloid β_{42} leads to MAPK^{ERK} downregulation and MAPK^{JNK} activation (Bell et al., 2004, Westmark, 2013). Hence, amyloid β induced alteration at PSD could be leading to synapse failure in AD.

1.2.3. Molecular Mechanism of synaptic degeneration in AD

Dysregulation of glutamate receptors has been shown to be one of the processes upstream of synaptic degeneration that could cause alterations in axonal transport of synaptic vesicles and mitochondria leading to dendritic and spine alterations (Mota et al., 2014, Hsieh et al., 2006). Therefore aberrations in synaptic function may precede the loss of pre-synaptic terminals and dendritic spines culminating into synaptic loss. Neuronal loss occurs in the late stages of AD. Downstream of amyloid β accumulation at synaptic sites, many receptors and signaling cascades have been identified those are affected. mGluR5 (Renner et al., 2010), ephrin (ephR2) (Cisse et al., 2011) and prion protein (PrP) (Lauren et al., 2009) are some of the molecules that have been reported to be acting as amyloid β oligomer receptors. At the PSD, binding of extracellular amyloid β oligomers to lipid anchored PrP(C) activates intracellular Fyn kinase affecting synaptic activity (Chin et al., 2005, Um and Strittmatter, 2013). Strittmatter's group has shown that this activation requires mGluR5, where mGluR5 interacts with an amyloid β oligomer-PrP(C) complex (Um et al., 2013). This amyloid β -PrP(C)mGluR5 complex activates a signaling pathway causing eEF2 phosphorylation and ultimately dendritic spine loss (Um et al., 2013). Binding of amyloid β oligomers at the synapse leads to the dysregulation of activity and expression of NMDA and AMPA receptors, which in turn leads to defects in synaptic activity (Paula-Lima et al., 2013, Sivanesan et al., 2013). Lipton's group has shown that amyloid β induces the glutamate release from astrocytes. This causes activation of extrasynaptic NMDA receptors (eNMDAR) on neurons and eNMDA is the glutamate receptor system involved in synaptotoxicity in AD (Talantova et al., 2013). eNMDAR activation causes synaptic transmission dysregulation, caspase-3 activation and tau phosphorylation, which leads to spine loss (Talantova et al., 2013).

Downstream of amyloid β , tau is also considered to be an important factor leading to synaptic loss. Reports of the relevance of tau interacting proteins like spastin and α 1 Takusan in amyloid-induced synaptic and spine loss further supports this point (Zempel et al., 2013, Nakanishi et al., 2013). Apart from indirect interactions between amyloid β and Tau mediated by receptors/ signaling pathways (spastin, α 1 Takusan, GSK3, CDK5, Fyn Kinase), the monomeric and oligomeric amyloid β directly interacts with Tau in AD affected neurons. These interactions increase in number as cognitive decline and synaptic loss increase with disease progression (Manczak and Reddy, 2013).

Studies in transgenic mouse lines carrying mutant forms of human APP have been important for understanding mechanisms related to synaptotoxicity in AD, although these mouse models do not show overt neuronal loss (Gandy et al., 2010, Malthankar-Phatak et al., 2012, Wirths and Bayer, 2010). However, they do show substantial synaptic loss and neuritic dystrophy. Also, the manipulations that rescue synaptic loss also rescue memory impairment in these models again suggest that β causes cognitive impairments in AD by inducing synaptic deficits (Roberson et al., 2011). Since, the AD mouse models do not have significant neuronal loss and develop synaptic loss as well as memory impairment before the appearance of plaques, it can be suggested that the soluble amyloid β entities are the ones causing synaptic deficits. Also, the impairments in the earlier stages of AD are primarily due to synaptotoxicity that leads to neuronal degeneration.

1.3. Relevant mouse models in the study

Mouse model of disease are an excellent system to study specific disease mechanisms, in spite of the drawbacks of not being able to fully replicate the entire AD pathology. There are several mouse model of AD that has been generated in past decades. For our project we have used the following animal systems: the hTau mouse model of AD(Andorfer et al., 2003), the Tg2576 mouse model of AD (Hsiao et al., 1996) and the CYFIP2^{+/-} mouse model (Kumar et al., 2013b).

1.3.1. Htau mouse model

In humans, the alternative splicing of a single *Tau* gene leads to six isoforms (Goedert et al., 1989a, Goedert et al., 1989b, Kosik et al., 1989). These isoforms are categorized as 3R or 4R based on inclusion or exclusion of a nonessential region coded by exon 10 (Hutton et al., 1998, Poorkaj et al., 2001). Mouse and human tau protein sequences differ by 14 amino acids at their N-terminal end. Possibly this species difference in tau alternative splicing could be the reason as to why the AD mouse models do not have NFTs. In 2003 Peter Davies's group developed a mouse model that expresses the 6 human tau isoforms and does not express the 3 mouse tau isoforms. The htau

transgenic mice from Davies's group express a human tau transgene under the control of a tau promoter and have a null mutation obtained by the insertion of eGFP cDNA into exon1 of the mouse tau gene (Andorfer et al., 2003). Htau transgenic mice were obtained by crossing 8c mice that carry the human tau gene (Duff et al., 2000) with tau knockout mice with a disrupted mouse tau gene (Tucker et al., 2001), leading to an F1 generation that was backcrossed to tau knockout mice. This produced htau transgenic mice on a C57BL/6 background that are homozygous for mouse *tau* disruptions but homozygous for a human tau transgene. The mice express all six isoforms of human tau but none of the mouse tau isoforms.

These mouse models have been shown to undergo age-related accumulation of AD relevant phosphorylated tau in the cell bodies and neuronal dendrites, also showing an accumulation of aggregated paired helical filaments. Cell body accumulation (redistribution from axons) of phosphorylated tau was detected by 3 months of age and the levels increase with age (Andorfer et al., 2003). By 9 months of age the levels of phosphorylated tau in htau mice model resemble early stage NFT pathology in human brain. The majority of tau pathology in htau mice is located in hippocampus and neocortex and is minimal in brain stem and spinal cord (Andorfer et al., 2003). Polydoro et al. reported age-dependent synaptic and cognitive impairments in these mice model. Basal synaptic transmission as well as LTP induction is impaired in the hippocampal CA1 region in 12 month-old mice but not 4 month-old mice (Polydoro et al., 2009). Further, spatial memory formation (water maze test) and object recognition memory formation (disruption of visual recognition memory of novel object) are impaired in 12 month-old mice. At this ageing point the mutants have a moderate tau pathology compared to 4 month-old mice (Polydoro et al., 2009).

1.3.2. Tg2576 mouse model

Familial AD is an inherited form of AD and its onset is earlier in comparison to sporadic AD. In 1996 Karen Hsiao's group created the Tg2576 mouse line to model familial AD using an APP transgene from a large Swedish family with early onset AD (Hsiao et al., 1996). Tg2576 mice express human APP₆₉₅ (K670N, M671; APP₇₇₀ numbering), under control of hamster prion protein (PrP). This model was developed on a background of C57BL/6 and SJL mouse strains. The mice express the mutant human APP at 5.5 times the level of endogenous murine APP (Hsiao et al., 1996). The hAPP transgene had a double mutation (amino acid substitution) in APP, with Lys 670 to Asn and Met671 to Leu.

These mutations lead to amyloid β overproduction. The mice display several characteristic neuropathologies of AD – plaques, activated microglia, inflammation, synaptic deficits, increased amyloid β soluble as well as insoluble) (Hsiao et al., 1996, Chapman et al., 1999, Frautschy et al., 1998, Benzing et al., 1999, Smith et al., 1998). The soluble oligomeric forms of amyloid β are considered to be the primary toxic species as discussed above. This soluble form is present as early as 4 months of age in these mice (Fodero et al., 2002). By 10-11 months, amyloid plaques start to form (Hsiao et al., 1996). However, there are many neuropathological features of AD that are not faithfully replicated in this model. These include negligible change in the cholinergic system (Gau et al., 2002), neurofibrillary tangles are missing (Irizarry et al., 1997) and neuronal loss or brain atrophy are not detectable (Irizarry et al., 1997). Also, the physico-chemical organization of amyloid peptides in Tg2576 mice has been reported to be different than that found in AD in humans (Kalback et al., 2002). Furthermore, it has been suggested that the overexpression of the C-terminal APP fragment may cause unwanted phenotypes in this mouse model (Saito et al., 2014).

Taken together, the Tg2576 model does not exactly replicate AD but it models amyloid β production and plaque deposition – an important pathology in both sporadic and familial forms of AD. The neuropathology in the Tg2576 models is reported to be present at 10-12 months of age (Hsiao et al., 1996, Kawarabayashi et al., 2001, Pratico et al., 2001) although there, is already a loss of dendritic spines at 3 months of age (D'Amelio et al., 2011).

The behavioural and memory impairments reported in the Tg2576 animals emerge at time points before plaque deposition. Hsiao et al. report an impairment in spatial memory (from Morris water maze tests) in these models at 9-10 months of age (Hsiao et al., 1996), whereas Westerman et al. report it at 6 months (Westerman et al., 2002). In Y-maze tests, Hsiao et al. report an impairment at 9-10 months of age (Hsiao et al., 1996) while Ognibene reports it at 7-12 months age (Ognibene et al., 2005). In the novel arm recognition test reported by Park et al, the young mice (3-4 months) do not show any difference, whereas the aged Tg2576 mice (12-15 months) show impairments (Park et al., 2008).

1.4. Target molecules of the study

In this project, we have studied the role of two novel neuronal proteins that are dysregulated in AD and they may have a role in synaptic degeneration during AD – CYFIP1/2 (Chapter 3) and CSP α (Chapter 4). Previous studies in the laboratory have shown both of these molecules to be regulated by another neuronal molecule – p25.

p25 is a 209 amino acid long proline rich cleavage product of the cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (Cdk5) activator p35. p35 protein's cleavage into the C-terminus 25kDa p25 fragment and N-terminus 10kDa p10 fragment is mediated by calpain, a calciumdependent protein protease (Patrick et al., 1999, Tang et al., 1997). p25 is a more stable Cdk5 activator protein with a longer half life in comparison to ubiquitin degradation prone p35 (Patrick et al., 1999). Also whereas p35 is membrane bound, p25 is localized in the cytosol and nucleus, leading to the suggestion of p25 acting as a signal between the synapse and the nucleus (Patrick et al., 1999, O'Hare et al., 2005). Not much is known about the function of p25 at the synapse. Tsai's group has reported that p25 is upregulated in AD (Patrick et al., 1999). However, reports from several groups, including ours, have shown that p25 might be downregulated in the earlier stages of AD and continue to be so until the severe stages (Engmann et al., 2011, Tandon et al., 2003, Yoo and Lubec, 2001). Studies with a p25 transgenic mouse model have shown that p25 overexpression is neurotoxic and leads to memory impairments (Fischer et al., 2005). However, our group has shown in AD postmortem tissue that p25 levels are downregulated in milder stages of AD, so p25 overexpression-based models are not relevant for AD (Engmann et al., 2011). p25 has been reported to be involved in LTP, synaptic functions and memory formation (Fischer et al., 2005, Engmann et al., 2011, Ris et al., 2005, Angelo et al., 2003), however the pathway by which it influences these processes is under active investigation.

p25 has been reported to be essential for memory formation and synaptogenesis. Both the Giese group and Tsai group have shown the importance of p25 in memory formation. Overexpression of p25 leads to improved spatial memory in mouse models (Angelo et al., 2003, Fischer et al., 2005) and p25 transgenic mice have enhanced late phase hippocampal CA1 LTP as well as increased synapse density (Angelo et al., 2003, Ris et al., 2005, Engmann et al., 2011). Hence, p25 has been shown to be involved in regulation of molecules essential for synaptogenesis or synaptic functioning. A proteomic study from syaptosomes of p25 transgenic mice yielded a set of synaptic proteins (about 20) that are regulated by p25 and includes post synaptically located Cytoplasmic FMR interacting proteins2 (CYFIP2) and pre-synaptically located Cysteine string protein (CSPa) (Engmann et al., 2011). These molecules might be involved in synaptogenesis and LTP during memory formation. At the same time it could be speculated that these molecules may be downregulated along with a decrease in p25 levels in the initial stages of AD (Tandon et al., 2003, Engmann et al., 2011). This has been demonstrated in Optic atrophy 1 (OPA1) - a mitochondrial protein involved in mitochondrial fusion as well as spine formation.(Wang et al., 2009). OPA1 was also one of the candidate p25 regulated proteins obtained in the aforementioned proteomic study from the Giese group that was downregulated in the hippocampus in early stages of AD (Engmann et al., 2011). Hence p25 downregulation possibly leads to dysregulation of synaptic proteins in the initial stages of AD affecting the synaptic structure and function (Giese, 2014).

1.4.2. CYFIP2/ CYFIP1

Cytoplasmic FMR Interacting Protein -1 (CYFIP1) and Cytoplasmic FMR Interacting Protein -2 (CYFIP2) are FMRP co-activators (Schenck et al., 2001). They are members of a highly conserved protein family in humans (Schenck et al., 2001). CYFIP1/2 colocalize with FMRP and are found in the cytoplasm as well as synaptosomal extracts (Schenck et al., 2001). Even though the amino acid sequence is 87.7% identical between CYFIP1 and CYFIP2, the binding affinities of these proteins differ; CYFIP1 binds only with FMRP whereas CYFIP2 binds FMRP

and the FMRP related proteins - FXR1 and FXR2 (Schenck et al., 2001). CYFIP1 acts as an EIF4E binding protein (4E-BP) inhibiting the translation of FMRP bound mRNA (Napoli et al., 2008). CYFIP family proteins are also part of the actin cytoskeletal modulating WAVE complex (Cory and Ridley, 2002, Derivery et al., 2009). The small Rho GTPase, Rac1, binding to CYFIP1/2 removes CYFIP1/2 from the WAVE complex so that WAVE can activate actin polymerization via Arp2/3 (De Rubeis et al., 2013). CYFIP2 has been shown to be a p53-inducible protein that causes apoptotic cell death in non-neuronal cells (Jackson et al., 2007). CYFIP1 on the other hand is not p53 inducible (Jackson et al., 2007). In Drosophila there is just one orthologue of CYFIP family molecules that is exclusively expressed in the nervous system (Schenck et al., 2003), suggesting that during the course of evolution CYFIP1 and 2 might have acquired different functions in humans. The *CYFIP1* gene is located on chromosome 15 (Nowicki et al., 2007) with *CYFIP2* located on chromosome 5 (NCBI Gene ID: 26999). CYFIP1 and CYFIP2 have not been reported to have any non-neuronal expression in the brain.

1.4.3. CSPα

CSP α (Cysteine String Protein α) is a 34 kDa synaptically located J-domain containing protein (Zhao et al., 2008) (Fig.1.4). The CSP α structure contains an N-terminal Jdomain and a string of 13-15 cysteine residues in the middle region (Braun and Scheller, 1995). CSP β and CSP γ are two other protein variants that are homologous to the CSP α sequence in the mammalian genome (Evans et al., 2003). However, these proteins are not expressed in brain (Fernandez-Chacon et al., 2004).

 $CSP\alpha$ has been shown to be involved in the following functions in neurons: (1) Exocytosis - it acts as a co-chaperone of a trimeric complex by interacting with two other proteins - Heat Shock Protein 70 (Hsc 70) and small glutamine-rich TPRcontaining protein (SGT). Thomas Sudhof's group has shown that this trimeric complex is involved in exocytosis by interacting and co-chaperoning the SNARE proteins leading to synaptic vesicle fusion in presynaptic terminals (Sharma et al., 2011). SNARE proteins are a set of synaptically localized membrane fusion proteins involved in vesicle recycling mechanism in presynaptic terminals. In CSPa knockout mice, the levels of SNARE proteins (like α Synuclein and SNAP-25) are reduced (Chandra et al., 2005). (2) Endocytosis – $CSP\alpha$ interacts with dynamin 1 and facilitates the polymerization of dynamin, which is important for endocytotic vesicle fission (Zhang et al., 2012). (3) Modulation of calcium dependent K⁺ channels (BK channels) where CSPa is important for modulation of pre-synaptic BK expression (Kyle et al., 2013). CSPa knockout mouse show upregulation of BK channels and hence aberrant synaptic activity. (4) Modulation of presynaptic calcium levels by regulating calcium channels (Ranjan et al., 1998). CSPa have not been reported to have any non-neuronal expression in the brain.

1.5. Overall objective of the study

As described before, synaptic losses are important feature of AD pathology. However, the molecular mechanisms leading to the synaptic losses or synaptic impairments are not precisely known. Based on the previous studies in the Giese lab using AD post mortem brain as well as a p25 transgenic mouse model (Engmann et al., 2011, Angelo et al., 2003, Giese, 2014), we obtained a set of novel, putative p25 regulated candidate molecules that could be relevant to synaptic and neuronal losses in AD. After screening these molecules, we narrowed down our targets for further study in AD to three synaptic molecules - CYFIP1, CYFIP2 and CSPα.

So, the broad aim of this study was -

<u>To investigate the role of three putative p25 regulated molecules in AD – CYFIP1,</u> <u>CYFIP2 and CSPα.</u>

The methodology and experimental design used to complete this PhD study have been described in **Chapter 2**. Since, CYFIP1 and CYFIP2 belong to the same family of proteins, their study has been described in a single chapter (**Chapter 3**), with the study of CSP α described in a separate chapter (**Chapter 4**). The specific aims and results of each of these two parts have been stated in the respective chapters. The broader discussion on the overall implications and outlook from the results of this PhD study has been presented in the final chapter (**Chapter 5**).

2.1. Samples

2.1.1. Postmortem Human Brain Samples

Human brain samples were obtained from the London Brain Bank for Neurodegenerative Diseases, Institute of Psychiatry, King's College London. They were received in two set, which were treated separately. The first set contained hippocampal tissue from control subjects, subjects with mild Alzheimer's disease (AD; Braak stages I-II) and subjects with severe AD (Braak stages V- VI) [n = 7 for each]group], as well as superior temporal gyrus (STG) samples from control and severe AD [n = 7 and n = 9, respectively]. The second set comprised hippocampus, STG and cerebellum samples from control, mild and severe AD patients (n = 5 for each group). To increase the sample size of cerebellum, a new cohort (n = 5 per group) was added later to the analysis. Additionally, cerebellum samples (n=5) were obtained from the post mortem brains of patients with Frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD) to analyze the levels of CSP α in FTLD, where the cerebellar pathology has been reported. Moreover, to analyze the level of $CSP\alpha$ in ageing, cerebellar tissues were obtained from subjects who died less than 30 year old - young (n=6) and subjects who died more than 90 year old - aged (n=7). The causes of death were not related to neurodegenerative disease in these subjects (see Table 2.1 for details). All human tissue samples were handled according to the regulations of Human Tissue Authority and King's College London brain bank for neurodegenerative diseases.

2.1.2. Tg2576 Mouse Brain Samples

APPswe (Tg2576) mice, expressing mutant human APP (K670N/M671L) under the control of the hamster prion promoter (Hsiao et al., 1996) were obtained from Taconic farms (Germantown, NY, USA). Mice were maintained by breeding Tg2576 males in C57BL/6 x SJL F1 genetic background with C57BL/6 x SJL F1 wild-type females, as recommended by the supplier.

Mice were housed on 12 h light: 12 h dark cycles with food and water available ad *libitum.* Mice were killed by cervical dislocation; the brains removed, tissue dissected and immediately snap frozen on dry ice. All animal procedures were conducted in accordance with the UK Animal Scientific Procedures Act 1986. Mice were genotyped 5'-CGACTCGACCAGGTTCTGGGT-3', PCR using primer 5'by set ATAACCCCTCCCCAGCCTAGA-3'.The amplification conditions were as following : PCR Reaction mixture - 1X buffer, H₂O - 10.7µl, 2mM Mg₂Cl₂, 0. 2 mM dNTP, 0.75µM APP Forward primer, 0.75µM APP Reverse primer, 0.025µM Taq polymerase (Invitrogen), 2µl/reaction DNA (Total volume made to 20 µl by addition of H₂O) . PCR Program - (1)Initialization - 94^oC for 3 minutes (2) 35 cycles -Denaturation - 94°C for 30 seconds . Annealing - 60°C for 60 seconds, Extension - 72° C for 60 seconds (3) Final hold – 4° C. Cortico-Hippocampal tissue from 4 month (n=3) and 12 month (n=4) old Tg2576 mutants as well as wild type (WT) littermate mice (4 month ,n=4; 12 month ,n=4) were used for analysis by immunoblotting. Sexes of the animals were balanced.

2.1.3. Htau Mouse Brain Samples

Htau transgenic mice expressing a human tau transgene under control of tau promoter and having a null mutation obtained by the insertion of eGFP cDNA in exon1 of the mouse tau gene were studied to analyse tau-related neurodegeneration (Andorfer et al., 2003). The htau transgenic mice were obtained by crossing 8c mice with human tau gene (Duff et al., 2000) and tau knockout mice with disrupted mouse tau gene (Tucker et al., 2001), leading to an F1 generation which was backcrossed to tau knockout mice, that produces htau transgenic mice on a C57BL/6 background which were obtained from Jackson Laboratories (Bar Harbour, Maine, USA; B6.Cg-Mapttm1 (EGFP) Klt Tg(MAPT)8cPdav/J. Stock number: 005 491). These mice express all six isoforms of human tau, but none of the mouse tau isoforms. Mice were genotyped by PCR as described in (Andorfer et al., 2003) to confirm the presence of the human *MAPT* (Tau) transgene and the mouse *Mapt null* background using primers for the human MAPT gene (forward 5'-ACTTTGAACCAGGATGGCTGAGCCC-3', reverse 5'-CTGTGCATGGCTGTCCCTACCTT-3'), and the mouse Mapt gene (forward 5'-CTCAGCATCCCACCTGTAAC-3', reverse 5'-CCAGTTGTGTATGTCCACCC-3'), as described in (Andorfer et al., 2003). The primers for the disrupted *Mapt* gene were: Forward:5'AAGTTCATCTGCACCACCG3', Reverse:5'TCCTTGAAGAAGATGGTG CG3'. The amplification conditions were as following : PCR Reaction mixture - 1X buffer, H₂O - 10.7µl, 2mM Mg₂Cl₂, 0.2 mM dNTP, 0.75µM APP Forward primer, 0.75µM APP Reverse primer, 0.025µM Taq polymerase (Invitrogen) , 2μ /reaction DNA (Total volume made to 20 μ l by addition of H₂O). PCR Program -(1)Initialization - 94° C for 3 minutes (2) 35 cycles – Denaturation - 94° C for 30 seconds, Annealing - 60° C for 60 seconds, Extension - 72° C for 60 seconds (3) Final hold -4° C.

Hippocampal, frontal cortex and cerebellar tissue were isolated from 3-4 monthsold and hippocampal-cortical tissue from 24 month-old htau transgenic mice as well as wild-type littermates. Sample size for each category is described in the relevant chapters.

Mice were housed on 12 h light: 12 h dark cycles with food and water available *ad libitum*. Mice were killed by cervical dislocation; the brains removed, tissue dissected and immediately snap frozen on dry ice. All animal procedures were conducted in accordance with the UK Animals Scientific Procedures Act 1986

2.1.4. CYFIP2+/-Mouse Brain

CYFIP2 null mutants were generated by European Conditional Mouse Mutagenesis Program (EUCOMM) having a neo gene insertion in an intron of the CYFIP2 gene. This mutant uses a knockout first design. The knockout allele contains an IRES:lacZ trapping cassette. A floxed promoter driven neo cassette inserted into the intron of CvFIP2 gene disrupts the gene function (Fig. 2.1.)(Kumar et al., 2013b, Skarnes et al., 2011). CYFIP2 heterozygote and wild type mouse with C57BL/6 N background were obtained from Wellcome Trust Sanger Institute (Wellcome Trust Genome Campus, Hinxton Cambridge, UK). The mice were subsequently bred by crossing CyFIP2^{+/-} males with wild type female in the animal breeding facility at the James Black Center, King's College London. Mice were genotyped by PCR, using genomic DNA isolated from ear or tail samples. The mutants were detected by mutant allele specific primer (Forward CYFIP2 primer -5'TTCCTTCCTTCCTTGTCCC3', Reverse CASR1 primer - 5'TGCCAGGAGAGAGAGAGGTGGTG3') and wild type were detected using wild allele specific primer (Forward,CYFIP2primer

5'TTCCTTCCTTGTCCC3';Reverse,CYFIP2primer5'TCGTGGTATCGTTAT

GCGCC3') (All primers synthesized by Sigma Aldrich).



Figure 2.1. CYFIP mutant allele cassette. The *lacZ-neomycin* cassette is knocked in an intronic sequence within *CYFIP2* allele.



Figure 2.2. The CYFIP2 shRNA cloned in pZacU6 plasmid



Figure 2.3. CYFIP2^{+/-} mice have no deficit in forming contextual fear memories



Figure 2.4. CYFIP2^{+/-} mice have no deficit in retention of contextual fear memories



Figure 2.5. CYFIP2^{+/-}mice show memory impairment in cued fear conditioning paradigm at 5 days interval

The amplification conditions were as following: The wild type band was 461 base pairs and mutant band is 248 base pairs. PCR Reaction mixture - 1X buffer, $(0.5\mu l)$ 50mM Mg₂Cl₂ (0.5µl) 10mM dNTP , (1.5µ1) 10µM CYFIP2 Forward primer, (1µl) 10 µMCYFIP2 Reverse primer, (0.5µl) 10 µM CASR1, 0.125µl Taq polymerase (Invitrogen) 1µl/reaction DNA (Total volume was made 25 µl by addition of 17.3µl H₂O) . PCR Program - (1)Initialization - 93°C for 2 minutes (2) 35 cycles – Denaturation - 93°C for 30 seconds , Annealing - 58°C for 30 seconds, Extension -72°C for 30 seconds (3) Final extension - 72°C for 10 minutes (4) Final hold – 4° C.

Hippocampi from 3-4 months old CYFIP2 heterozygote mice and wild-type littermates were isolated. Samples sizes are -n=9 for CYFIP2^{+/-} mice and n=7 for wild type mice. Mice were housed on 12 h light: 12 h dark cycles with food and water available *ad libitum*. Mice were killed by cervical dislocation; the brains removed, tissue dissected and immediately snap frozen on dry ice. All animal procedures were conducted in accordance with the UK Animals Scientific Procedures Act 1986.

2.2. Protein preparation

2.2.1. Lysate preparation from Human Brain Sample

The frozen samples were lysed at 4°C in a RIPA lysis buffer system (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., USA). The RIPA buffer contained 0.1 % sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), 1% Nonidet P-40, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate and 0.004% sodium azide in Tris buffered saline (TBS; composed of 6.0 g/l Tris and 8.7 g/l NaCl, adjusted to pH 7.5 with 37% HCl). Protease inhibitors cocktail, sodium orthovandate, and α -toluenesulphonyl fluoride were added to the buffer, diluted to 1:100. The SDS

concentration was increased by adding 0.25% SDS in the final volume of buffer. About 100 mg of brain tissue was lysed in 300 μ l buffer volume. Samples were homogenized using a dounce homogenizer (12 strokes, 700 rpm) and centrifuged at 3,000 rpm for 10 minutes. Supernatants were then isolated for immunoblotting.

2.2.2. Protein preparation from mouse brain tissues

Frozen tissue was homogenised at 100 mg/ml in 2 x sample buffer (0.5 M Tris-HCl, pH 6.8, 4.4 % (w/v) sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), 20 % (v/v) glycerol, 2 % (v/v) 2mercaptoethanol, 0.01 % (w/v) bromophenol blue, and Complete mini-protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche Products Ltd., UK), using a mechanical homogenizer. Following brief sonication, homogenates were centrifuged at 25,000 g for 20 minutes at 4°C, and the supernatant was collected. For mouse samples, a BCA based protein quantification procedure (Thermo Fisher) was used to determine the protein amount.

Crude synaptosomes were isolated from hippocampus as following – Frozen tissue was homogenized at 100 mg / ml in lysis buffer (0.32 M sucrose, 10mM pH7.4 Tris-HCL, 2mM EDTA, 2mM EGTA, 0.2 mM phenyl methyl sulfonyl fluoride). Following centrifugation at 1000g for 10 minutes, 4° C to remove nuclei and cell debris, the resulting supernatant was centrifuged at 10,000 g for 20 minutes to obtain crude synaptosomal pellet. To resuspend the synaptosomal pellets (P2 fraction), for each 10 mg of starting tissue, 10 µl of 2X sample buffer (No- EC886, Protein loading buffer, Blue 2X, National Diagnostics) was added.

2.3. Western Blot Analysis

Comparable protein amounts (for mouse samples according to protein determination; for human samples an equal volume) were separated on a criterion TGX precast gels (BioRad-continous gradient, 4-15 %) and the protein was transferred onto a methanol activated Polyvinylidene (PVDF) membrane (BioRad), using standard protocols. One hour blocking was carried out in 5% w/v milk powder (Merck) in 1X TBST (Tris-Buffer saline - 60g/l Tris, 87 g/l NaCl, 0.05% Tween-20, pH 7.5). Subsequently, membranes were incubated in primary antibody solution prepared in blocking buffer overnight at 4°C. After three ten-minute washes in 1X TBST at room temperature, the membrane was incubated with horse-radish peroxidase conjugated secondary antibodies in blocking buffer for two hours at room temperature. After three ten-minute washes with 1X TBST, the membrane was incubated for 3 minutes in enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) reagent (Thermo Scientific) and then exposed to an X-ray film (Amersham) in the linear range. To probe the membranes with other primary antibodies, they were washed in western blot stripping buffer (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) for one hour followed by three washes with TBST of 10 minutes duration each and incubation as described above.

Antibody details are given in **Table 2.2**. CSP α antibody specificity was checked by performing western blot analysis of forebrain and cerebellar tissues from CSP α knockout mouse. The knockout mouse tissue was a gift from Dr.Fernandez-Chacon (IBiS, Seville, Spain). The CSP α band was missing in the knockout forebrain and cerebellar tissue , and was prominently and very specifically visible in equal amount of protein fraction from wildtype mouse forebrain and cerebellum (**Fig.4.3**). The CSP α band in wildtype mouse forebrain showed up as double bands as observed in our studies.

Our CYFIP2 and CYFIP1 antibodies were highly specific. **Fig.3.4.** is a full blotscan from the same membrane with post-mortem hippocampal tissue lysates, showing the CYFIP2, CYFIP1 and NSE bands (internal control). This blot shows the highly specific binding of the CYFIP antibodies used by us. Further specificity of CYFIP2 antibody was demonstrated by the western analysis of the forebrain tissues from CYFIP2 heterozygous mice that showed 50 percent downregulation when compared to wild type mice as expected assuming the antibodies were CYFIP2 specific **Fig.3.11**. To study if the CYFIP2 is also expressed in the glial cells, lysates from mixed glial cell culture (as explained below) were probed with CYFIP2 antibodies. There was no expression of CYFIP2 in glial cells (**Fig.3.16**).

Neuronal Specific Enolase are neuron specific enzymes and are used as neuronal markers (McAleese et al., 1988). NSE was used as loading control in our studies and as a neuronal protein to normalize the amount of studied proteins. Synaptophysin are presynaptic proteins that are widely used as synaptic markers (Sudhof et al., 1987). In our studies, we have used synaptophysin as loading control and normalizing marker protein for synapse specific analysis.

Signals were analyzed with ImageJ software (NIH). For standardization of protein in each lane, the proteins of interest were normalized against the neuronal house-keeping marker protein neuron-specific enolase (NSE) and the synaptic vesicle protein synaptophysin.

Glial cultures: Glial cells were isolated from post-natal day 1-4 (P1-P4) Cln3-/- or WT mouse cerebral cortices, as previously described (Williams and Price, 1995) and cultured on poly-D-lysine (PDL, 25µg/ml, Sigma) coated T75 (Corning, Costar) flasks at a density of 2-3 cortices per flask in Dulbecco's Modified Eagles Medium (DMEM, Gibco), supplemented with 10% foetal bovine serum (FBS, Biosera) and

penicillin/streptomycin (50 U/ml / 50µg/ml, P/S, Sigma). Once these cultures reached confluence (12-14 days) they were composed of a base layer of non-dividing astrocytes and an upper layer of dividing microglia and a few oligodendrocytes.

2.4. Immunohistochemistry

Human brain sections from sample described in the section under post-mortem human brain samples were used for immunohistochemistry. Sections of human brain of 7 µm thickness were cut from paraffin-embedded tissue blocks. Sections were deparaffinised in xylene and rehydrated in ethanol. Endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked by incubation of sections with 2.5% H₂O₂ in methanol. To enhance antigen retrieval sections were exposed to citrate buffer (2.94 g/L, pH 6.0) for 16 minutes microwave treatment (6 minutes high, two 5 minutes simmer). After blocking in normal swine serum (DAKO Ltd), primary antibodies against CSPa (1:500, AB1576 Merck Millipore), and synaptophysin (1:100, SY38 DAKO Ltd) were applied overnight at 4°C. Following rinsing and two five minutes washes in TBS, sections were incubated appropriate biotinylated secondary antibodies (1:100.Swine anti-rabbit with immunoglobulin/biotinylated, E0353 DAKO Ltd), followed by incubation with avidin:biotin enzyme complex (Vectastatin Elite ABC kit, Vector Laboratories, Peterborough, UK). Following washing, sections were incubated for 10 –15 min with 0.5 mg/ml 3,3'-diaminobenzidine chromogen (Sigma-Aldrich Company Ltd, Dorset UK) in Tris-buffered saline (pH 7.6) containing 0.05% H₂O₂. Sections were counterstained with Harris's haematoxylin.

See Table 2.2 for list of antibodies and concentrations used.

2.5. Cloning of CYFIP2 shRNA plasmid

A 65 basepair CYFIP2 shRNA as described by Anitei et al., 2010) (Sense strand:5'CCTTCCTCCATCATGTACC3';Antisensestrand:5'GGTACATGATGGAGG AAGG3') was designed with Bam H1 sites at the terminal positions and Spe1 site inside the sequence to confirm the presence of insert (Forwardsequence:5'GATCC-CCTTCCTCCATCATGTACCTTCAAGAGAGGTACATGATGGAGGAAGGTTTTT TACTAGTG3';Reversesequence:5'GATCCACTAGTAAAAAACCTTCCTCCATCA TGTACCTCTCTTGAAGGTACATGATGGAGGAAGG-G3'). The CYFIP2 shRNA oligonucleotide strands were designed by Sigma. The two strands were annealed together as following -Forward oligonucleotide (2µl,100µM)and Reverese oligonucleotide(2µl,100µM)were added in 5µl,10X Buffer 2 (New England Biolab)and the volume was made to 50µl by addition of deionized water .This mixture was heated at 95°C for 3 minutes,80°C for 1 minute,70°C for 1 minute,60°C for 1 minute, 50°C for 1 minute and finally placed in ice. The oligonucleotide starnd were annealed to form an shRNA complex. The annealed shRNA was ligated in a pZacU6 plasmid and was inserted downstream to a U6 promoter using Bam H1 sites (Fig.2.2). The plasmid also had a GFP marker protein downstream to a Synapsin promoter. The resulting plasmid correctness was verified by sequencing facility at Santa Cruz Biotechnology using the followingprimersequences,Forwardprimer:5'ACGATACAAGGCTGTTAGAGAGA3', Reverseprimer:5'GGTGCTGAAGCTGGCAGT3'(IntegratedDNATechnologies). This plasmid(pZacU6CYFIP2) was packaged into an Adeno Associated Viral delivery sytem (AAV2/9) by Penn Vector Core Facility, University of Pennsylvania.

2.6. CYFIP2+/- Mouse Genotyping

For genotyping the mouse, the genomic DNA was isolated from tail tissues (or ear clips). About 1 cm of tail tissue (approx 30 mg) or ear clips from each mice were placed in 500 μ l (100 μ l for ear clips) of lysis buffer (1M Tris-HCL,pH8.5 ; 0.5M EDTA ;1% SDS; 5M NaCl ; The volume was made up by adding deionized distilled water (MilliQ) with an addition of Proteinase K (18.6 mg/ml) to a final concentration of 0.1 μ g/ μ l. This mix was incubated at 55°C overnight. The digested tail mix was vortexed for 1 minute and then centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 10 minutes. The supernatant was decanted in a new tube , followed by addition of 500 μ l of isopropanol at room temperature. The precipitate was obtained after inverting the tube several times. The tube was centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 2 minutes and the supernatant is discarded. The pellet were washed with 500 μ l 70 % ethanol (100 μ l for the ear clips) by spinning for 1 min and the ethanol was decanted followed by 5 minutes of air drying. The DNA was resuspended in about 100 μ l deionized water.

The isolated genomic DNA was used for CYFIP2 mouse genotyping using the mutant and wild type specific primer as described before. The primers were synthesized by Integrated DNA Technologies. The PCR mix per sample consisted of 2.5µl 10X buffer, 18.375 µl water, 0.5 µl MgCl₂ (50 mM), 0.5 µl dNTP (10mM) and 0.125µl *Taq* DNA polymerase (Invitrogen). The PCR protocol consisted of a 2 minute heating at 93° C, followed by 35 cycle of denaturation (30 second, 93° C), annealing (30 second, 56° C) and extension (30 second, 72° C). At the end of PCR cycle, the sample were heated for 10 minutes at 72° Cand then held at 4° C until recovered.

2.7. Fear Conditioning

For the fear conditioning trial mouse were handled for three days prior to training by the person performing the experiment. The mice were habituated to the experimentalist by placing them on hand for 2 minutes per animal per day. The experimentalist was blinded to the genotype of the animals. Each mouse was placed in a soundproof conditioning chamber (Med Associates Inc, USA). The fear conditioning protocol used was carried out simultaneously to observe the contextual memory and cued memory. 3-4 months aged CYFIP2 mutant and wild type were trained and the same animals were trained for tone conditioning and context conditioning. The animal was placed in the fear conditioning chamber for 3 minutes duration in total; after 2 minutes a tone (75dB, 10KHz) was presented for 30 s and the last 2 seconds of tone co-incided with a mild foot shock (0.75 mA). After the tone/ foot shock pairing the animal was left in the conditioning chamber for 30 s and then returned back to its home cage.

2.7.1. Testing for Contextual Conditioning

The testing for contextual fear memory was carried out in the training chamber for 5 minutes duration without any tone presentation or foot shock being provided. The readout for the memory was a state of freezing during a pre assigned two second slot in every 5 second interval of entire 5 minutes recording. The scoring was done by an unbiased genotype blinded experimenter. The testing for memory of contextual conditioning at 1 to 5 days interval was carried out with one set of mouse (Wild type n= 13; CYFIP2^{+/-} n= 15) from the same generation of litters. The testing for memory of contextual conditioning at 28 days interval was carried out with another set of mice (Wild type n= 18; CYFIP2^{+/-}, n= 12)

2.7.2. Testing for Tone conditioning

As mentioned previously the mice used for testing the contextual memory were used for testing the tone memory as well. They were tested for the tone memory in the same fear conditioning chamber, but the contextual cues (Interiors of the box, colour of light and odour) inside the chamber were modified. Each animal was placed in the chamber for 6 minutes. The first 3 minutes were meant for acclimatization to the chamber environment and for testing whether the animal had a fear response to the modified context. In the last 3 minutes the tone used for training (75 dB, 10 KHz) was introduced. The readout for the memory was a state of freezing observed during a pre assigned two second slot within every 5 second interval (of entire 6 minutes recording). The scoring was done by a genotype blinded experimenter. The testing for tone conditioning at 1 hour and 1 day interval post training was carried out with one set of animals from same generation of litters (Wild type , n= 18 : CYFIP $2^{+/-}$, n= 12). The testing for tone conditioning at 5 day interval post training was carried out with a different set of animals from same generation of litters (Wild type , n= 13 ;CYFIP2^{+/-}, n=15)

2.8. Morris Water maze test and Visible platform test

The spatial reference memory will be analyzed using Morris watermaze paradigm (D'Hooge and De Deyn, 2001). The watermaze trial was performed in a pool of 1.5 m diameter, with water temperature of 24°C degrees. The platform diameter was 0.1

meter and the level of water was 0.1 cm above platform surface. The water was made opaque by addition of non toxic white paint (ELC ready mix paint, 44800 White 284).

Both CYFIP2^{+/-} (n=12) and Wild type (n=18) mouse aged between 3-4 months were handled for 2 minutes each for 8 days before the training commenced. The mouse cages were placed half an hour before the experiment in the watermaze training room. On the first day of the trial, each mouse was habituated to the platform conditions. 4 trials per day per animal from four different directions were performed. Each trial lasted a maximum of 90 seconds, with 60 seconds of interval in between each trial whereby the animal stayed on the platform. If the animal was unable to locate the platform by the end of 90 seconds, it was guided to the platform. On sixth day, a probe trial was carried out for 60 seconds by removing the platform and recording the time spent in each quadrant including the target quadrant.

The results from water maze revealed that the mice haven't learned the task during the training (Fig.3.14a) until day 6 and further training was discontinued due to time limitations. The test will be repeated in future studies.

After a resting interval of two days, a visible platform test was carried with the same conditions as described in the hidden platform test to avoid any error in the water maze hidden platform result by the defects in sensory - motor responses in animal to due to genetic manipulation. The water pool was covered on all sides by curtains to avoid exposure to any spatial cues and the platform position was highlighted by placing a white sphere of about 4 cm diameter on platform as a distinguishable visible object. The animal was released in the pool from the farthest location from the visible platform. The recording was made in two trials separated by 60 seconds interval where the animal stayed on the platform. The person performing the experiment was

blind to the genotype of the mouse. The recording was done by HVS Image tracking software (HVS Image 2013).

2.9. Statistical analysis

For the post mortem human brain studies -

Statistical analysis for the samples where the data wasn't pooled from two different time point was performed using an unpaired t-test analysis. The pooling of data from tissue samples procured from patients in two sets at two different time point was performed using a linear regression model based on following equation -

$$\left(\frac{CSP}{Synaptophysin}\right)_{i} = \beta_{0} + \beta_{1} \times X_{1i} + \beta_{2} \times X_{2i} + \varepsilon_{i}$$

Where $X_{\mathbf{1}i}$ is the categorical predictor coding for the group difference (e.g. Control versus Severe), and $X_{\mathbf{2}i}$ is the categorical predictor coding for the different experiments (" I^{st} cohort" versus " 2^{nd} cohort")

This regression model helps us to pool the CSP or CYFIP score from two different set of patients eliminating the contribution made by the difference in experimental conditions (like the scanner used) to the final result. This analysis was performed using SPSS (version 20). SPSS provides the output as an ANOVA score. The final result is displayed as an ANOVA score indicating the overall significance. The contribution and the significance of the factor of interest e.g. the disease pathology to the overall significance is subsequently provided by a t-test analysis. Hence, this analysis strategy helps to identify the significant change of a CSP/CYFIP score in diseased patients as compared to control eliminating any effect induced by the different experimental conditions when the different set of tissue samples was processed. The level of significance for the analysis was 0.05 and the outliers were decided by using mean ± 4 *SD as threshold.

Since the data used in this project involved pooling the data from two different sets, and hence utilized the regression analysis model for statistical studies, it was not suitable to perform a co-relation study between different aforesaid parameters and the protein levels observed in post-mortem tissues. Hence, I adopted the strategy of comparing the significant difference between the age, PMD and Gender (nonparametric analysis) of patient samples grouped into different pathological state of disease– control, mild, severe AD. The analysis for pH couldn't be performed as some of the samples I used in my study were from a previous published study in lab where the pH data was not recorded or analysed.

Hippocampus AD samples –

A) Effect of Gender – Pearson's chi-square test was performed to discover the relationship between the categorical variable (Gender and Pathological state). The p = 0.627, shows there was no statistically significant association between the individuals gender and its pathological state.

B) Effect of Age – One way ANOVA showed no changes in the age between control , mild and severe groups , F(2,33) = 0.961 , p=0.393.

C) Effect of Postmortem Delay – One way ANOVA showed an association between post-mortem delay and the pathological state of patients, F (2,33) = 4.812, p=0.015. Tukey's posthoc test revealed that the post-mortem delay was not significantly different between the control and severe pathological state group (p=0.091). It was also not different between the mild and severe pathological state group (p=0.686). However,

the post-mortem delay between control and mild pathological state showed significant difference (p=0.014). The post-mortem delay in control (21.4 ±2.3 hours) was significantly higher than mild state AD patient hippocampus (12.7±1.9 hours).

Gender and age do not show any statistically significant difference in various pathological states of AD in hippocampus. This result along with the fact that none of the molecule (CYFIP1/2 and CSP α) used in this study have any sex linked inheritance pattern, leads us to conclude that gender does not have any impact on the results. Also , the statistical output concludes that the age of the patients across the different pathological states was same and hence did not had any impact on the protein level analysis in post mortem tissues. The post mortem delay did not had any effect on the result between control and severe, as it was not significantly different between the two groups. However, the post-mortem delay between the control and mild group was significantly different, with an increased delay in control group. This difference could have impacted the protein expression profiles. It is unlikely that this delay may have impacted our results as there was no change observed in CYFIP1, a trend of increase of CYFIP2 and a significantly increased CSP α in control hippocampus group as compared to mild stage AD hippocampus. This shows that the proteolytic degradation of hippocampal proteins under investigation was not significant to effect the read out from control tissues as compared to mild tissues within the given time frame of postmortem delay.

STG AD Samples -

A) Effect of Gender - Pearson's chi-square test was performed to discover the relationship between the categorical variable (Gender and pathological state). The p =

0.018, showed a statistically significant association between the individuals gender and its pathological state.

B) Effect of Age – Independent sample two tailed T test showed there was no significant difference in the age between the control and severe STG groups (t = -0.959, p=0.347)

C) Effect of Postmortem delay – Independent sample two tailed T test showed there was no significant difference in the post-mortem delay between the control and STG groups (t = 1.046, p = 0.306)

Gender showed significant association with the pathological state of STG. However, since none of the studied proteins have been reported to have sex linkages, the possibility of gender differences having an impact on results is negligible. Unfortunately, the exact co-relation study cannot be performed with our scores as they were pooled together from different experimental sets. Age and post-mortem delay was not significantly different in the control and severe AD STG.

Cerebellum AD Samples -

A) Effect of Gender - Pearson's chi-square test was performed to discover the relationship between the categorical variable (Gender and pathological state). The p = 0.585, showed no statistically significant association between the individuals gender and its pathological state.

B) Effect of Age – One way ANOVA showed there was no significant difference in the age between the control , mild and severe AD cerebellum , F(2,27) = 0.756, p=0.479.

C) Effect of Postmortem delay – One way ANOVA showed that there was no significant difference in the post-mortem delay between the control , mild and severe AD cerebellum. F(2,27)=2.066, p=0.146.

Gender, age or post-mortem delay do not effect the results obtained from cerebellum AD tissue.

Cerebellum FTLD samples -

A) Effect of Gender - Pearson's chi-square test was performed to discover the relationship between the categorical variable (Gender and pathological state). The p = 1.0, showed no statistically significant association between the individuals gender and its pathological state.

B) Effect of Age – Independent sample two tailed T-test showed there was no significant difference in the age between the control and FTLD cerebellum , t = -0.361,p=0.728.

C) Effect of Postmortem delay – Independent sample two tailed T-test showed that there was no significant difference in the post-mortem delay between the control and FTLD cerebellum. t=1.309, p=0.227.

Gender, age or post-mortem delay do not effect the results obtained from cerebellum FTLD tissue.

Cerebellum ageing study samples -

Since age was different in the two groups within this study (young and old cerebellum) , the effect of gender and post-mortem delay was ascertained.

A) Effect of Gender - Pearson's chi-square test was performed to discover the relationship between the categorical variable (Gender and pathological state). The p = 0.048, shows a statistically significant association between the individuals gender and its pathological state.
B) Effect of post-mortem delay - Independent sample two tailed T-test showed that there was no significant difference in the post-mortem delay between the young control and old control cerebellum. t=-0.701, p=0.498.

Since $CSP\alpha$ does not shows sex linked inheritance, it is possible that this slight significance is due to the small sample size and this significance will disappear with increase in the number of cerebellar samples. Post mortem delay is not significantly different in the young and old cerebellar tissues.

For the studies with mice model,

For normality distribution test - Levene's test and Histogram normality plots were used G.E.P. (1953) "Non-Normality (refer Box and Tests to on Variances". Biometrika 40 (3/4): 318-335). Independent T-test, one way ANOVA and Two -way repeated measure ANOVA were performed based on the design of experiments. SPSS version 20 (IBM) was used to perform statistical analysis. For Nonparametric analysis of independent group Mann Whitney U test and for related samples Wilcoxon Signed rank test was used. 2-way repeated measure ANOVA was employed for analyzing the impact of time and genotype on the behaviour on post training scoring at different intervals. The level of significance for the analysis was 0.05 and the outliers were decided by using mean ± 3 *SD as threshold.

Hippocampus -

	Pathological			PMD(
S.No	state	Sex	Age(Years)	Hours)
1	Control	М	81	18
2	Control	F	92	17
3	Control	М	78	10
4	Control	М	85	16
5	Control	F	76	28
6	Control	М	65	24
7	Control	М	86	6
8	Control	F	72	24
9	Control	F	55	24
10	Control	F	80	31
11	Control	F	71	30
12	Control	М	77	29
13	Mild AD	М	81	12
14	Mild AD	F	92	9
15	Mild AD	F	80	3
16	Mild AD	F	55	12
17	Mild AD	F	81	17
18	Mild AD	F	81	16.5
19	Mild AD	F	82	13
20	Mild AD	М	64	16

21	Mild AD	F	83	24
22	Mild AD	М	81	3
23	Mild AD	М	90	5.5
24	Mild AD	F	94	21
25	Severe AD	М	64	23
26	Severe AD	F	68	11
27	Severe AD	М	80	15
28	Severe AD	F	69	16
29	Severe AD	М	77	10
30	Severe AD	F	69	16.3
31	Severe AD	F	79	24
32	Severe AD	F	71	21
33	Severe AD	F	82	4.5
34	Severe AD	F	80	4.3
35	Severe AD	F	88	19
36	Severe AD	М	75	17

Superior Temporal Gyrus -

	Pathological			
S.No	state	Sex	Age(Years)	PMD(Hours)
1	Control	F	55	24
2	Control	М	55	24
3	Control	М	65	24
4	Control	М	69	24
5	Control	М	86	6
6	Control	М	65	24
7	Control	М	71	5
8	Control	М	81	18
9	Control	F	92	17
10	Control	М	78	10
11	Control	М	85	16
12	Control	F	76	28
13	Severe AD	F	69	16.3
14	Severe AD	F	71	21
15	Severe AD	F	80	4
16	Severe AD	F	81	24
17	Severe AD	F	82	4.5
18	Severe AD	F	82	12
19	Severe AD	F	88	19
20	Severe AD	F	91	23
21	Severe AD	М	75	17
22	Severe AD	М	64	23

23	Severe AD	F	68	11
24	Severe AD	М	80	15
25	Severe AD	F	69	16
26	Severe AD	М	77	10

Cerebellum -

	Pathological			
S.No	state	Sex	Age(Years)	PMD(Hours)
1	Control	М	73	23
2	Control	F	92	23
3	Control	F	55	12
4	Control	М	77	11
5	Control	М	54	30
6	Control	М	81	18
7	Control	F	92	17
8	Control	М	78	10
9	Control	М	85	16
10	Control	F	76	28
11	Mild AD	М	81	12
12	Mild AD	F	92	9
13	Mild AD	F	80	3
14	Mild AD	F	55	12
15	Mild AD	F	81	17
16	Mild AD	М	93	14
17	Mild AD	F	84	24

18	Mild AD	F	92	20
19	Mild AD	М	92	11
20	Mild AD	М	63	16
21	Severe AD	М	70	20
22	Severe AD	F	71	18
23	Severe AD	F	92	11
24	Severe AD	F	61	3
25	Severe AD	F	95	13
26	Severe AD	М	64	23
27	Severe AD	F	68	11
28	Severe AD	М	80	15
29	Severe AD	F	69	16
30	Severe AD	М	77	10

Cerebellum (FTLD) -

There were no known mutations in any of the patient samples. One patient showed Tau-positive frontotemporal dementia with parkinsonism (FTDP-17) and another showed tau negative , ubiquitin immunoreactive neuronal changes (FTLD – U). The ubiquinated protein is now known to be TAR- DNA- binding protein 43 (TDP-43). Two patients had FTD caused by FTLD-TDP43. Fifth one had FTLD-TDP43 with Motor Neuron Disorder (FTLD-MND-TDP43)

Cereb	ellum (FTLD)							
	Dathalagiaal	Autonau				ETI D status		
	Famological	Autopsy			r MD(FILD status		
S.No	state	No.	Sex	Age(Years)	Hours)			
1	Control	A127/11	М	73	23			
2	Control	A 144/10	Г	02	22			
2	Control	A144/10	Г	92	23			
3	Control	A358/08	F	55	12			
4	Control	A053/11	М	77	11			
5	Control	A130/09	М	54	30			

						No
						known
6	FTLD-U	A103/08	F	85	24	mutations
	FTLD-					No known
7	TDP43	A013/10	М	69	6	mutations
	FTLD-MND-					No known
8	TDP43	A120/11	М	71	14	mutations
	FTLD-					No known
9	TDP43	A403/08	F	70	16	mutations
	FTLD					No known
10	(FTLDP-17)	A099/08	М	70	7	mutations

Cerebellum (healthy ageing) -

S.No	Age Category	Sex	Age(Years)	PMD(Hours)
	Young			
1	Control	М	18	24.5
	Young			
2	Control	М	22	45
	Young			
3	Control	М	21	37
	Young			
4	Control	М	16	14
5	Young	М	25	18

	Control			
	Young			
6	Control	F	26	10
7	Old Control	F	102	44
8	Old Control	М	97	44
9	Old Control	F	99	32
10	Old Control	F	96	16
11	Old Control	F	92	9
12	Old Control	F	92	23
13	Old Control	М	95	44

Table 2.2. Details about the antibodies used

Serial	Primary	Dilution	Secondary Antibody	Primary
No.	Antibody			Antibody
				manufacturer
1	CSPa	1:50,000	1:50,000, Peroxidase	AB1576,
	(for		conjugated,	Merck
	immunoblotting)		GoatAntirabbit(P0448,DAK	Millipore
			O Ltd)	
2	CSPa	1:500	1:100, Biotinylated	AB1576,
	(for		Swine, Antirabbit	Merck
	immunohistochemi		(E0353,DAKO Ltd)	Millipore
	-stry)			
3	CYFIP1	1:1000	1:2000, Peroxidase	07-531, Merck
			conjugated, Goat-Antirabbit	Millipore
			(p0448,DAKO Ltd)	
4	CYFIP2	1:1000	1:2000, Peroxidase	GTX110897,
			conjugated, Goat-Antirabbit	GeneTex
			p0448, DAKO Ltd)	
5	Synaptophysin	1:1000	1:5000, Peroxidase	4329, Cell
	(for		conjugated, Goat-Antirabbit	Signalling
	immunoblotting)		p0448,DAKO Ltd)	Technology

6	Synaptophysin	1:100	1:100,	Biotinylated	4329,	Cell
	(for		Swine,Antii	rabbit(E0353,D	Signalling	5
	immunohistochemi		AKO Ltd)		Technolog	gy
	-stry)					
7	NSE	1:60,000	1:5000,	Peroxidase	AB951,M	erck
			conjugated,	Goat-Antirabbit	Millipore	
			p0448, DAH	KO Ltd)		

Chapter 3 - CYFIP1/2 are dysregulated in Alzheimer's disease

3.1. Introduction

3.1.1. What is CYFIP1/2?

Cytoplasmic FMR Interacting Protein -1 (CYFIP1) (also called Sra1) and Cytoplasmic FMR interacting Protein -2 (CYFIP2) (also called PIR121) are co-activators of FMRP (Fragile-X Mental Retardation Protein) and members of a highly conserved protein family in humans (Schenck et al., 2001). CYFIP1/2 co-localizes with FMRP and is found in the cytoplasm as well as synapses/dendrites (Schenck et al., 2001). Even though the amino acid sequence is 87.7% identical between CYFIP1 and CYFIP2, the binding affinities of these proteins differ. CYFIP1 binds only to FMRP whereas CYFIP2 binds FMRP and the FMRP related proteins FXR1 and FXR2 (Schenck et al., 2001). CYFIP1 acts as a EIF4E (Eukaryotic Initiation Factor 4E) binding protein (4E-BP) inhibiting the translation of FMRP bound mRNA (Napoli et al., 2008). CYFIP family proteins are also part of the actin cytoskeletal modulating WAVE complex, binding to the constituent of WAVE complex (Cory and Ridley, 2002, Derivery et al., 2009). Binding of the small Rho GTPase Rac1 to CYFIP1 and 2 removes these proteins from the WAVE complex so that WAVE can activate actin polymerization via Arp2/3 (De Rubeis et al., 2013). Additionally in non-neuronal cells (human colorectal adenocarcinoma cell line), CYFIP2 was shown to be a p53 inducible protein which causes apoptotic cell death (Jackson et al., 2007). CYFIP1 on the other hand is not p53 inducible in these cells (Jackson et al., 2007). In Drosophila there is a single orthologue of the CYFIP family of molecules, which is exclusively expressed in the nervous

system (Schenck et al., 2003), implicating that during the course of evolution CYFIP1 and 2 might have acquired different functions in humans. CYFIP1 gene is located on chromosome 15 (Nowicki et al., 2007) and CYFIP2 gene is located on chromosome 5 (NCBI Gene ID: 26999).

3.1.2. Discovery of CYFIP1/2

Tabata's group cloned the CYFIP1 gene while they were sequencing a cDNA library from an immature myeloid cell line (KG-1) (Nomura et al., 1994). This was designated as KIAA0068. The same group mapped the gene to chromosome 15. In subsequent years the CYFIP1 gene was mapped to the locus- chromosome 15q11.2 (Chai et al., 2003). Jean-Louis Mandel's group in 2001 isolated CYFIP1 and CYFIP2 proteins when they tried to identify novel proteins that interact with Fragile X-mental Retardation Protein (FMRP) (Schenck et al., 2001). They used a yeast 2-hybrid screen based on a mouse embryonic expression library using the N-terminus of FMRP as bait.

The CYFIP 2 gene was mapped on chromosome 5 by International Radiation Hybrid Mapping Consortium (Map element – stSG9917). The precise location is at 5q33.3 locus.

3.1.3. What is the expression pattern of CYFIP1/2?

Both the members of CYFIP family are expressed in the hippocampus and forebrain. However, in the cerebellum, only CYFIP1 and not CYFIP2 is expressed (Hoeffer et al., 2012). Both CYFIP1 and CYFIP2 show co-localization with FMRP and ribosomes in neurons. Apart from the perinuclear space, they are also reported to be present in synapses and dendrites (Schenck et al., 2001, Cajigas et al., 2012).

3.1.4. What are the functions of CYFIP1/2 at the synapse?

CYFIP1/2 were discovered relatively recently and the precise function of these molecules in normal physiology is not well known. However, there are two distinct roles in which both these molecules have been implicated (though with slight variations between CYFIP1 and CYFIP2 within these). Two differing schools of thought arising from the common pioneer group of Mandel ((Schenck et al., 2001) stress differently on the contribution of the CYFIPs to each of these functions. Whereas De rubies *et al* (De Rubeis and Bagni, 2011, Napoli et al., 2008) have reported on the local translation modulatory functions of CYFIP , Bardoni *et al* have reported on the role of CYFIP1/2 as more relevant to the regulation of actin cytoskeletal dynamics (Abekhoukh and Bardoni, 2014, Schenck et al., 2003). However, a recent paper from Claudia Bagni's group reveals a link between both these reported functions of CYFIPs (De Rubeis et al., 2013). The detailed descriptions of both the functions assigned to CYFIP1/2 are as following -

Actin cytoskeletal remodeling - CYFIP1/2 are components of the WAVE regulatory complex (WRC) (Fig.3.1) that also consists of WAVE protein , NAP1 (NCKAP1) subunit, ABI1/ABI2 protein and BRK1 (also known as HSPC300) (Cory and Ridley, 2002, Derivery et al., 2009). The transduction of Rac Signalling by WAVE complex to trigger Arp2/3 dependent actin nucleation is mediated by CYFIP1 (Derivery et al., 2009) (and possibly CYFIP2) – a process important for modulating actin dynamics, leading to proper cell polarity and migration. The

WAVE proteins are part of WASP family (Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein), which consists of 5 members - WASP, N-WASP, WAVE1, WAVE2 and WAVE3 proteins. All these proteins can activate Arp2/3 by a VCA (Verprolin homology, Central and Acidic region) domain present in all the WASP members. The interaction of CYFIP1/2 with the small RhoGTPase Rac1 leads to cleavage of the sub-complex consisting of CYFIP1/2,NAP1, ABI1 from the inactive WAVE holocomplex This cleavage results in availability of WAVE holocomplex for interaction with Arp2/3 (leading to actin nucleation), and the availability of CYFIP1/2 for interactions with other proteins, such as FMRP (as discussed in second function) (Abekhoukh and Bardoni, 2014, Schenck et al., 2001, Schenck et The WAVE complex has been shown to be involved in actin al., 2003). cytoskeletal dynamics by assisting the remodeling of lamellipodia via interaction with CHC (Clathirin Heavy Chain Protein) (Gautier et al., 2011). In MCF10A cells (an immortalized mammary epithelial cell line), CYFIP1 activation leads to abnormal acini structures. A similar phenotype is observed following knockdown of the WRC component - WAVE2 and NCKAP 1 (Silva et al., 2009). However knocking down FMRP (the CYFIP interacting partner) in the same cell line doesn't lead to a similar phenotype (Silva et al., 2009). Chen et al have recently reported a study which emphasizes the relevance of CYFIP1/2 in actin cytoskeletal dynamics in Drosophila. A new class of motif – WIRS (WRC-interacting receptor sequence) was identified in drosophila and defines a new class of ligands for Wave regulatory Complex. The WIRS peptide specifically interacts with the surface formed from the complex between CYFIP1/2 and Abi2. Alterations in these interaction lead to disruption of actin reorganization and egg morphology in Drosophila causing female sterility (Chen et al., 2014, Abekhoukh and Bardoni, 2014).



Figure 3.1. The WAVE regulatory complex. Under Rac-GDP condition CYFIP is a component of WAVE regulatory complex (WRC). Rac GTP interacts with CYFIP leading to cleavage of CYFIP along with Abi2 and Nap from WRC leaving behind a WAVE holocomplex which interacts with Arp2/3 causing actin nucleation. Taken from (Abekhoukh and Bardoni, 2014).



Figure 3.2. The translational repression complex. *CYFIP binds to EIF4E and FMRP to form a translation repression complex at the postsynaptic end. This complex binds to locally regulated pool of mRNA molecules at synapse/dendrites and keeps them repressed in an activity dependent manner. During synaptic activity, this complex breaks down liberating mRNA to be accessed and translated by polyribosomes leading to protein synthesis at synapse.*



Figure 3.3. Chromosome locus 15q11- q13.*CYFIP* is present in the region between breakpoint 1 (BP1) and breakpoint 2 (BP2).The BP1-BP2 deletion is present at 15q12region. Taken from(Abekhoukh and Bardoni, 2014).







C NSE



Figure 3.4. Specific binding of anti-CYFIP1/2 antibodies. The full blot containing the human hippocampal lysates showing the specific binding of anti-CYFIP1, anti-CYFIP2 and loading control anti-NSE antibodies. For all three antibodies, bands are from the same membrane and same set of patients.



Figure 3.5. CYFIP1 expression is specifically increased in hippocampus in severe, but not mild AD. (a) Significant up-regulation of CYFIP1 expression in hippocampal lysates from severe AD patients (n=12) and control subjects (n=12). (b) CYFIP1 expression in lysates of superior temporal gyri from severe AD (n=13) and control subjects (n=12). (c) CYFIP1 expression in cerebellar 91

lysates from severe AD (n=10) and control subjects (n=10). (d) Similar levels of CYFIP1 expression in hippocampal lysates from mild AD patients (n=12) and control subjects (n=12). All the samples were normalized against neuron specific marker NSE. Panel (e) shows the representative blots. Means \pm s.e.m. are shown. **, p<0.01.



Figure 3.6. Age-dependent down-regulation of CYFIP1 in forebrain of Tg2576 mice. (a) CYFIP1 expression in hippocampal cortical lysates of 12 month-old wild type (n=4) and Tg2576 (n=3) mice. (b) The expression of CYFIP1 in hippocampal cortical lysates of 4 month -old wild-type mice (n=4) and Tg2576 (n=4) mice. Panel (c) shows representative western blots. All the samples were normalized against NSE. Means \pm s.e.m are shown. **,p<0.01.



Figure 3.7. CYFIP1 levels in Htau mouse brain are not changed. Hippocampus **(A)** from young mouse (3-4 months), frontal cortex **(B)** from young mouse (3-4 months), cerebellum **(C)** from young mouse and hippocampal frontal cortical region **(D)** from aged Htau mouse (24 months) were probed with CYFIP1 antibody and there was no change detected as compared to the levels in the wild type (t= 1.456, p= 0.179).



Figure 3.8. CYFIP1 expression does not change in cerebellum with normal ageing. CYFIP1 expression was normalized against NSE in cerebellum of young (15-30 years, n=6) and old (90-105 years, n=7) control patients. Means \pm s.e.m are shown.



Figure 3.9. CYFIP2 expression is decreased in forebrain of severe AD patients. (a) CYFIP2 expression in hippocampal lysates from severe AD patients (n= 9) and control subjects (n=11). (b) CYFIP2 expression in lysates of STG from severe AD patients (n=13) and control subjects (n=12). (c) CYFIP2 expression in hippocampal lysates of mild AD (n=12) and control subjects (n=12). (d) Representative western blots. CYFIP2 protein expression was normalized against NSE. Means \pm s.e.m. are shown. *, p<0.05; **, p<0.01.



Figure 3.10. Age-dependent decrease of CYFIP2 expression in forebrain of Tg2576 mice. (a) CYFIP2 expression in hippocampal –cortical lysates of 12 month-old wild-type mice (n=4) and Tg2576 (n=3). (b) CYFIP2 expression in hippocampal-cortical lysates of 4 month-old wild-type (n=4) and Tg2576 mice (n=4). Representative western blots are shown in panel (c). In all the panels, the CYFIP2 expression was normalized against NSE. Means \pm s.e.m. are shown. **, p<0.01.



Figure 3.11. CYFIP1 expression is not altered in crude hippocampal synaptosomes of CYFIP2^{+/-} mice. (a) CYFIP2 expression in crude synaptosomal (P2) fraction of hippocampal lysates from wild-type controls (n=7) and CYFIP2^{+/-} mice (n=9). The same blot as in panel (a) was used to probe for CYFIP1 expression as shown in panel (b). The house keeping synaptic marker protein synaptophysin was used to normalize against CYFIP expression in both panels. Panel (c) shows the representative western blot. Means \pm s.e.m. are shown. *, p<0.05.



Figures 3.12. CYFIP2^{+/-} **animals are impaired in maintaining cued fear memory. (a)** Freezing score before (Pretone) and during tone stimulus (Tone)

presentation of wild-type mice (n=18) and CYFIP2^{+/-} mice (n=12) 1 hour after training. (b) The same mice as in panel (a) were tested 1 day after training for freezing score before and during the exposure to tone stimulus. (c) Freezing score (Pretone and tone) for the wild type (n=13) and CYFIP2^{+/-} mice (n=15) 5 days after training. Means \pm s.e.m. are shown. *, p<0.05.



Figure 3.13. CYFIP2^{+/-} animals are not impaired in formation and maintenance of contextual fear memory. (a) Freezing score during the context presentation for wild-type (n=13) and CYFIP2^{+/-} mice (n=15) for 5 subsequent days after training. (b) Freezing score 28 days after training on context presentation to wild-type (n=18) and CYFIP2^{+/-} mice (n=12). Means \pm s.e.m. are shown.



Figure 3.14. CYFIP2^{+/-} animals do not display impairments in visible platform test. (a) Latency (in seconds) test score of wild type (n=7) and CYFIP2 ^{+/-} mice (n=6) per quadrant on the probe test day (six days after training). (b) Latency (in second) scores of mice from panel (a) in a visible platform test paradigm. Means \pm s.e.m. are shown.



Figure 3.15. CYIP2 antibody didn't gave any detectable CYFIP2 signal from aged hTau brains in immunoblot study.



Figure 3.16. CYFIP2 is absent in glial cells. Glial culture (first five lanes from left) along with mouse cortical neuronal culture (lane 6-9 from left) and human hippocampal lysate (lane 10 and 11 from left) was probed with anti-CYFIP2 antibodies. Actin was used as the loading control. No signal was detected in the lanes with glial cell culture.

2) Modulation of local translation at synapses – CYFIP1/2 have been reported to act as modulators of local mRNA translation near dendrites and synapses in an activity dependent manner. Claudia Bagni's group in 2008 reported the existences of a translation repression complex consisting of the core component of a 5'mRNA cap binding protein eIF4E, CYFIP1 and FMRP binding at the 3' end of mRNA (Napoli et al., 2008) (Fig.3.2.) This core repressor complex is formed specifically in the brain and suggested to act as a translation repressor for an array of mRNA molecules that are regulated by interaction with FMRP. These include cytoskeletal proteins like MAP1B, p0071(Brown et al., 2001, Nolze et al., 2013), synaptic plasticity molecules like αCaMKII (Zalfa et al., 2003), Amyloid precursor protein (APP) (Westmark and Malter, 2007), and even CYFIP2 (Darnell et al., 2011).

FMRP bound to a specific mRNA recruits CYFIP1, which in turn binds to eIF4E, leading to repression of translation. Activation of Brain Derived Neurotrophic Factor / NT- 3 growth factor receptor (TrkB) or group 1 metabotrophic glutamate receptors (mGluRs), releases CYFIP1 from eIF4E and translation of the mRNA initiates (Napoli et al., 2008). CYFIP1 and CYFIP2 interact with FMRP, but only CYFIP2 also interacts with the FMRP related proteins- FXR1 and FXR2 (Schenck et al., 2001). Also, the domain of CYFIP binding to FMRP is the site that is used for homo- and heteromerization in FMRP, hence there is a competition for the same site between CYFIP1/2 and FXR proteins (Schenck et al., 2001).

A recent report by Claudia Bagni's group establishes a link between the two aforesaid functions of CYFIP molecules whereby a BDNF driven synaptic signaling mechanism releases CYFIP1 from the translation inhibition complex , allowing the translation of repressed mRNA and causing the free CYFIP1 to move into WAVE regulatory complex (De Rubeis et al., 2013). Active Rac1 plays an important role in changing the equilibrium of the two CYFIP1 incorporating complexes – the translation modulating eIF4E-CYFIP1-FMRP complex and the actin cytoskeletal dynamics modulating WAVE regulatory complex (De Rubeis et al., 2013). Also, since a number of mRNAs responsible for actin cytoskeletal modifications including CYFIP2 (which is part of WAVE regulatory complex) are regulated by this translation repression complex, it seems that this complex on its own is also involved in cytoskeletal modification.

3.1.5. What are the diseases in which CYFIP1/2 has been implicated?

Cancer - CYFIP1 knockdown leads to dysregulation in epithelial morphogenesis and along with Ras leads to carcinomas (Silva et al., 2009). CYFIP2 has also been reported to have a pro-apoptotic effect through its interaction with IMP-1 (Insulin like Growth Factor mRNA binding protein -1) (Mongroo et al., 2011).

Neurodevelopmental disorders - No point mutations in *CYFIP1/2* have been directly implicated in any disease. However, deletions in region 15q11-q13 (which includes *CYFIP1* gene) are associated with Autism spectrum disorders (Fig.3.3). The paternal deletion of this region leads to Prader-Willi Syndrome (PWS), whereas the maternal deletion of this region leads to Angelmann syndrome (Cassidy et al., 2000). The interstitial duplication of maternal region which includes the region relevant to Prader-Willi syndrome and Angelmann syndrome, leads to a behavioral phenotype more variable than Prader-Willi Syndrome and Angelmann Syndrome on their own. This includes developmental delays, seizures, ataxia, autism or atypical autism with minor

features of dysmorphism. On the other hand the duplication in paternal region of the same locus does not lead to any abnormal phenotype (Browne et al., 1997, Abekhoukh and Bardoni, 2014). A microdeletion of a region consisting of 4 genes – *NIPA1,NIPA2,CYFIP1,TUBGCP5-* and a non-coding mRNA WHAMML1 - between the <u>breakpoint1</u> and <u>breakpoint 2</u> on 15q11-13 locus, does not lead to Prader-Willi Syndrome but shares common features of learning disabilities, behavioral problems and dysmorphisms (Leblond et al., 2012, Kirov et al., 2009, Madrigal et al., 2012). Hence, the genes between breakpoint 1 and breakpoint 2, of which CYFIP1 is important, play important roles in cognitive and behavioral functions. The importance of CYFIP1 in neurodevelopment is further emphasized by the work of Hagerman's group, which reported a decreased level of CYFIP1mRNA in patients with FragileX syndrome and Prader Willi Syndrome (Nowicki et al., 2007).

CYFIP2 has been reported to be overexpressed in Fragile X patients at the protein level without any change detected in the mRNA level, suggesting an FMRP dependent dysregulation of CYFIP2 expression (Hoeffer et al., 2012). There results were reported in lymphocytes, although a similar result is observed in the postmortem forebrains of Fragile X patients.

Neurodegenerative disorders – To our knowledge, no other group has specifically studied the role of CYFIP1/2 molecules in neurodegenerative disorders. Genome Wide Association studies (GWAS) of Copy Number Variations (CNV's) by Rogaeva's group in Alzheimer's disease using a patient cohort from a Caribbean hispanic population have identified a duplication at the locus 15q11-q13 (consisting of *TUBGCP5,CYFIP1, NIPA2, NIPA1* and *WHAMML1* genes) which showed significant association with Alzheimer's disease. Quantitative PCR confirmed an increase in CYFIP1 levels in this cohort(Ghani et al., 2012). Apart from amyloid precursor protein , widely implicated in

Alzheimer's disease, Bagni's group has also reported an array of other proteins suspected to be involved in Alzheimer's disease onset – Elav protein 3, Elav protein 4, Nck Associated protein 1 and Cholesterol 24- hydroxylase to be regulated by the CYFIP constituting mRNA translation repression complex (De Rubeis et al., 2013).

3.1.6. What kind of animal models have been used until now to study CYFIP1/2functions?

Mandel's group developed a fly knockout model of CYFIP proteins to understand the role of this protein. Drosophila has just one homolog of the CYFIP family - dCYFIPand one homolog of FXR family - dFXR. The expression of dCYFIP is specific to central nervous system and shows interaction with dFMRP and dRac. It is 67% identical to human CYFIP1/2. Loss of function mutations in dCYFIP affects axonal growth and branching, establishing the importance of CYFIP in neuronal connectivity (Schenck et al., 2003). There is impaired synapse growth at the neuromuscular junction in *dCYFIP* mutants as indicated by shorter synapse terminals and increased number of buds when compared with wild types (Schenck et al., 2003). FMRP and CYFIP serve opposite molecular functions as evident by neuro-muscular junction phenotypes in *dFMR1* mutants which are opposite to *dCYFIP* null flies (Zhang et al., 2001). Schenck et al have shown that overexpression of this morphological phenotype (such as short synapses) of *dFMR1* is rescued by co-overexpression of *dCYFIP*. They proposed that dRac1 controls dCYFIP which in turn controls dFMR1 (Schenck et al., 2003). Zhao et al established in *dCYFIP* fly mutants, that neuro-muscular junction development is regulated by CYFIP (Zhao et al., 2013). They showed that synaptic vesicle size in *dCYFIP* mutants is larger and the numbers of cisternae are elevated, though the number of synaptic vesicles is not changed between wild-type and mutant flies. This shows that
CYFIP may modulate F-actin machinery leading to the regulation of endocytosis and synaptic vesicle recycling (Zhao et al., 2013) . This study helped us to narrow down and screen for the second candidate molecule – Cysteine String Protein α (described in chapter 4) – in our post mortem study. This is a synaptic vesicle protein which showed a significant difference in mass spectrometric analysis of p25 transgenic mice synaptosomes, carried out in lab before this project started (Engmann et al., 2011). Inactivation of *dCYFIP* also results in reduced expression of WAVE complex member proteins like Nckap1 (Kette) and WAVE (Scar) (Bogdan et al., 2004, De Rubeis et al., 2013).

Pittman *et al*, obtained the first mutant in a vertebrate of CYFIP family proteins in 2010 (Pittman et al., 2010). This mutation was in CYFIP2 functions which were specifically investigated in Zebrafish. In a genetic screen to identify the pathways involved in retinotectal axon pathfinding, to understand eye –brain development, a *nev* (*CYFIP2*) mutant was identified that had impairments in the positional information of dorsonasal axons while projecting through optic tract (Pittman et al., 2010). This phenotype is similar to the axon branching phenotype reported by Schenck et al in fly mutants of *dCYFIP* gene (Schenck et al., 2001). Pittman et al also showed that CYFIP2 is broadly expressed in central nervous system with a suggested role in protein translation at synapses.

In mice, both the *CYFIP1* and *CYFIP2* null mutations are lethal (Kumar et al., 2013b, Pathania et al., 2014). Buxbaum's group has studied haploinsufficient CYFIP1 mice and demonstrate that this model mimics the features like more rapid extinction in inhibitory avoidance testing, unaltered LTP in CA1 induced by high frequency stimulation and enhanced mGluR-LTD of *FMR1* knockout mice (Bozdagi et al., 2012). Indeed, mGluR-dependent LTD was significantly increased in CYFIP1 heterozygous

mice as compared to wild type. Similar to FMR1 knockouts, these mice showed an enhanced extinction of inhibitory avoidance. However, there was no difference in learning in the Y-maze and Morris water maze tests (Bozdagi et al., 2012). Bagni's group has shown that siRNA mediated knockdown of CYFIP1 expression in primary cortical neurons leads to a change in dendritic spine morphology (more immature spines) without affecting spine density (De Rubeis et al., 2013). This was also observed in hippocampal neurons of CYFIP1 expression decreases the complexity of dendrites on CA1 pyramidal neurons (Pathania et al., 2014). As previously demonstrated with *dCYFIP* mutants in the fly, in the case of rat hippocampal neurons ,inactivation of CYFIP1 resulted in impairment of axonal growth , which was similar to the phenotype observed with WAVE inactivation(Kawano et al., 2005).

To study CYFIP2 functions in haploinsufficient state, we have used CYFIP2 heterozygote mice on a C57BL/6 N genetic background. In 2013, Kumar et al studied these mice and proposed cocaine response behavior as one of the functions in which CYFIP2 plays an important role. They also showed that the presence of the S968F mutation in the *CYFIP2* gene within C57BL/6 N train destabilizes the CYFIP2 proteins, reducing the protein half-life to 2.8 hours as compared to 8.5 hours in C57BL/6Jmice(Kumar et al., 2013b).

3.1.7. Previous studies in the lab that lead to the reported study on role of CYFIP1/2

Prior studies in the Giese lab have investigated the role of the CdK5 activator p25 in Alzheimer's disease (Engmann et al., 2011). A mass spectrometric analysis of synaptosomes isolated from hippocampus of p25 transgenic mice (in a C57BL/6J

genetic background) yielded candidate molecules that may be putative downstream molecules to p25. This project began with the aim of investigating synaptic pathology in Alzheimer's disease and dementia. The synaptic proteins from the mass spectrometric study were screened to identify novel molecules responsible for Alzheimer's onset and to investigate their role in Alzheimer's disease. CYFIP2 was one of the synaptic proteins which were identified. Since CYFIP1 belongs to the same protein family, this was also screened. In the subsequent part of the study CSP α (as described chapter 4) –a pre synaptic protein was also studied because Zhao et al's result hinted at the role of synaptic vesicle proteins in Alzheimer's disease (Zhao et al., 2013).

The hypothesis we developed for the project reported in this chapter was – <u>"Local translation modulators of dendritic mRNA (CYFIP1/2) are dysregulated in Alzheimer's disease ".</u>

The aims of the study described in this chapter were -

- 1) To investigate the relevance of CYFIP1/2 in Alzheimer's disease by performing a case-control study using post-mortem brain tissues to analyse the levels of CYFIP1/2 in different regions of the brain at different stages of Alzheimer's disease.
- 2) To investigate the relevance of CYFIP1/2 in cognitive decline associated with normal aging by analyzing the levels of CYFIP1/2 in postmortem brain from young and aged subjects.
- 3) To investigate the validity of the hypothesis that functional compensation between CYFIP1 and CYFIP2 may exist by biochemical analysis of brain tissue lysates from CYFIP2 heterozygote mice.

4) To understand the role of CYFIP2 in memory as well as dementia associated with Alzheimer's disease by behavioral testing of CYFIP2 heterozygous knockout mice.

3.2. Results

3.2.1. CYFIP1 is upregulated and CYFIP2 is downregulated in the hippocampus of severe stages of AD

The medial temporal lobe, specifically, the hippocampus is one of the first and most severely affected regions in the brain during the course of AD progression (Braak and Braak, 1991a). Onset of AD is characterized by the loss of memory and defects in cognitive skills. These defects are attributed to the loss of synapses at the onset of AD, particularly in the hippocampus (Arendt, 2009) . This synaptic loss precedes the neuronal death. Therefore, we decided to analyze the changes in the levels of CYFIPs in the hippocampal neurons.

We obtained hippocampus samples of severe (Braak stage 5-6) AD cases and controls in two sets from London Neurodegenerative Brain Bank. For the mild cases, the patient sample was obtained in one set. The patient sample details are listed in **Table 2. 1.** We tried to obtain the samples with lowest possible post-mortem delays available. Since the immunoblots from two sets were analyzed on different scanners, the data obtained from them was pooled together and analyzed using regression statistics described in **Chapter 2**. We studied first whether in the late stages of AD CYFIP protein expression in hippocampus is affected, comparing post-mortem samples from severe AD patients and control subjects using western blot analysis. The expression of CYFIP was normalized to the neuronal marker NSE (Neuron Specific Enolase) (**Fig.3.5a, 3.9a**). The levels of CYFIP1 were found to be significantly increased in the hippocampus of severe AD patients (**F(2,21)=39.471, p<0.01)**. In contrast, CYFIP2 levels were significantly decreased in the hippocampus of severe AD patients (**F(2,21)=39.471, p<0.01)**. In contrast, CYFIP2 levels were significantly decreased in the hippocampus of severe AD patients (**F(2,17)=3.905,p<0.05)**. To investigate if these dysregulations are already present in the early stages of the disease, we analysed hippocampal lysates from patients with mild AD (**Fig.3.5d, Fig.3.9c**). Western blot analysis revealed no change in the expression of CYFIP1 in these cases (**F(2,21)=1.014,p=0.206**). CYFIP2 expression was numerically reduced reduced in these cases, but just failed to reach statistical significance, possible due to the small sample size (**F(2,21)=36.047,p= 0.056**). This data may suggest that CYFIP2 downregulation is an early event in AD, though CYFIP1 upregulation is not.

3.2.2. CYFIP1 expression is unaltered whilst CYFIP2 is downregulated in the Superior Temporal Gyrus in severe AD

We next studied CYFIP expression in the superior temporal gyrus (STG), which is affected later at moderate stages of AD and to a lesser extent than the hippocampus (Braak and Braak, 1991a).

In a western blot analysis we compared CYFIP expression in post-mortem STG from severe AD to patient controls. The levels of CYFIP expression were normalised with NSE (Fig. 3.5b, Fig. 3.9b). In the case of CYFIP1, there were no changes observed between severe AD cases and control subjects (F(2,22)=81.180;p=0.263).

When CYFIP2 expression was probed, a downregulation was observed in severe AD cases as compared to control (F(2,22)=10.505,p<0.01), replicating our findings in the hippocampus.

3.2.3. CYFIP1 expression is unchanged and CYFIP2 was expressed at undetectable levels in the cerebellum of severe AD cases

The cerebellum is one of the least affected regions in AD pathology (Larner, 1997). Though diffuse amyloid plaques and increased numbers of activated microglia have been reported, there is no neurofibrillary tangle pathology reported in the cerebellum (Larner, 1997). Furthermore, motor disturbances that can be assigned to cerebellum dysfunction are not observed in AD. These features make it a good internal control in a case-control study of AD patients. To investigate if CYFIP could be one of the factor(s) that play a role in the disease mechanism affecting forebrain but not the cerebellum in AD, we performed case-control studies on cerebellum.

We obtained cerebellum samples from severe AD cases and controls in two sets from the London Neurodegenerative Brain Bank. For the mild cases, the patient sample was obtained in one set. As with hippocampal samples, We tried to obtain the samples with lowest possible post-mortem delays available. Again, since the immunoblots from two sets were analyzed on different scanners, the data obtained from them was pooled together and analyzed using regression statistics described in **Chapter 2**.

We investigated the levels of CYFIP in post-mortem cerebellum from severe AD patients and compared with controls, using western blot analysis. The normalization was carried out with NSE (Fig. 3.5c). CYFIP1 expression was not altered in cerebellum of severe AD patients as compared to control (F(2,17)=4.484,p=0.894). We were

unable to detect CYFIP2 expression in our immunoblots from these tissue samples in both cases and controls (Hoeffer et al., 2012).

3.2.4. CYFIP1 expression is unchanged whilst CYFIP2 expression decreases with increasing age in Tg2576 mice

Mouse models are useful to investigate some mechanisms of AD. However, not all aspects of AD can be modelled in mice, possibly due to the short life span of the mice. We studied whether abnormal APP processing in the hippocampus-forebrain is sufficient to induce CYFIP1 upregulation and CYFIP2 downregulation, using Tg2576 mice, a widely used mouse model for abnormal APP processing.

We performed a western blot analysis at two time points, 4 and 12 months of age. At 4 months of age Tg2576 mice do not have amyloid plaques but do show some memory impairment, whereas at 12 months of age, Tg2576 mice memory deficits are more pronounced and amyloid plaques are detectable(Hsiao et al., 1996, Stewart et al., 2011). CYFIP expression at both ages was normalized against NSE. This comparison revealed significant differences between genotypes. CYFIP1 was significantly reduced at the 12 month time point in Tg2576 mice (Fig.3.6a) (t=-5.487, p<0.01) but was unchanged at the 4 month time point (Fig. 3.6b)(t=0.973,p=0.368).CYFIP2 was also significantly reduced by 50 % at the 12 month time point (Fig.3.10a)(t=-6.560,p<0.01) in Tg2576 mice with no change in 4 month old mice (Fig.3.10b)(t=-1.031,p=0.343). Aged Tg2576 mice therefore replicated the same result for CYFIP2 as observed in postmortem human brains, but not for CYFIP1. This suggests that the aged brain of these mice might be modeling the early stages of AD in patient brain.

3.2.5. CYFIP1 is unchanged in ageing cerebellum

The increased CYFIP1 expression in hippocampus in AD indicates that CYFIP1 expression is plastic. This raised the issue whether normal ageing also regulates CYFIP1 expression.

Hence, we analyzed the cerebellar lysates from healthy subjects belonging to two age groups, 15-30 years and 90-105 years (Fig. 3.8). We were unable to obtain the good quality hippocampal tissues from control subjects with short postmortem delays, so, we probed the available cerebellar lysates (with the pre existing limitation of no detectable CYFIP2 signals) in western blots. Western blot analysis and normalization with NSE showed that normal ageing has no effect on CYFIP1 expression in cerebellum (t=0.581,p=0.573).

3.2.6. CYFIP2 expression is independent of CYFIP1 expression in CYFIP2+/- mice synapses

To perform further functional studies on the significance of CYFIP2 molecules in AD, we used CYFIP2^{+/-} mouse model. The homozygous knockout of *CYFIP2* gene is lethal at embryonic stage (Kumar et al., 2013b).

Since CYFIP2 and CYFIP1 molecule have nearly 88 % sequence identity, we wanted to know if the expression of the two molecule are related and if overexpression of one molecule type compensates for the underexpression of another molecule type or *vice versa*. Crude hippocampal synaptosomal preparations (P2) from CYFIP2^{+/-} mice

(as described in chapter 2) were probed for CYFIP2 and CYFIP1 expression in synaptosome (Fig.3.11a and Fig.3.11b). The normalization was carried out with synaptic marker synaptophysin. CYFIP2 expression showed a downregulation of about 50% in the mutant mice (t=-2.548,p<0.05) as compared to wild type. Also, these results show that the heterozygotic status at genetic level in these mutant mice is replicated at protein level for CYFIP2, making them a viable model to study the functional effect of CYFIP2 downregulation. The CYFIP1 expression on the other hand was relatively unaffected by the downregulation of CYFIP2 expression, as it was not different in mutant mice (t=0.090,p=0.929) synaptosomes as compared to wild type mice.

3.2.7. CYFIP2 +/- mice show deficits in cued fear conditioning memory

Fear conditioning memory tests are fast and precise behavioral tests to analyze the extent of learning and memory impairments in *in vivo* models (Maren, 2001, Maren, 2008). CYFIP2^{+/-} mice were tested in contextual and cued fear conditioning tasks. In the cued fear conditioning tasks the mice were tested at 1 hour (Fig.3.12a), 1 day (Fig.3.12b) and 5 day (Fig.3.12c) intervals after training (as described in chapter 2). The freezing score of the animal was the readout for learning and memory phenotype. One mouse group was used to score freezing at 1 hour and 1 day after conditioning (Group 2) and another mouse group was trained to be used for memory testing 5 days after conditioning (Group 1). The freezing score at each time point was analyzed before (pretone) and during (tone) the presentation of cue while testing. At 1 hour time point, there was no significant difference between wild type and CYFIP2^{+/-} for pretone (t=-0.707,p=0.485) and tone (t=0.335,p=0.740) scores. At 1 day time point, the same

mouse group was tested and there was no difference between wild type and mutant mice in pretone freezing score(U=85, Z=-0.976,p=0.329) and tone freezing score (t =0.846,p=0.405). At 5 day time point, animals from group1 were tested for the first time after training for cued fear conditioning memory. Both mutant and wild type had learned well during the training, since there was a significant difference between freezing pretone and tone score of the group consisting of mutants as well as wild type (Z=-4.623,p<0.001). The pretone freezing score was not different (U=68.50, Z=-**1.614,p=0.107**) between mutant and wild type. However, the freezing tone score was significantly reduced in CYFIP2^{+/-} mice (t=2.213,p<0.05) indicating a defect in maintenance of cue dependent memory. The effect of sex on the cue memory impairment at 5 day interval was also tested between 8 male and 20 female in the total sample of group 1 mouse. A 2 way ANOVA test followed by post-hoc test using Tukey revealed that there is no influence of sex on this phenotype (GenotypeF(1,24)=4.784,p=0.039;SexF(1,24)=0.845,p=0.367;Genotype SexF(1,24) =0.204, p=0.655).

3.2.8. CYFIP2^{+/-} mice do not show any defects in formation and maintenance of context dependent fear memory

In the second part of studying the fear conditioning memory defects in CYFIP2^{+/-} mice, the mice were tested for contextual fear memory. The CYFIP2^{+/-} and wild type mice from Group 1 were tested for 5 subsequent days after training at 24 hours time interval to plot the extinction curve for contextual fear memories (**Fig.3.13a**). A 2 way repeated measure ANOVA test revealed that the animals have learned during the training but there is no genotype specific difference in contextual fear learning and memory

(Genotype-F(1,12)=0.036,p=0.854; Day-F(4,9)=22.560,p<0.001; Genotype_Day-F(4,9)=1.510,p=0.279). To study contextual fear memory maintenance over a longer period, the mice from Group2 were tested 28 days after training (Fig.3.13b). There was no significant difference between freezing scores of CYFIP2^{+/-} and wild type mice

(t=-0.117,p=0.907).

3.2.9.CYFIP2+/- mice is not impaired in visible platform test and hence suitable for water maze tests

Morris water maze test (D'Hooge and De Deyn, 2001) is the gold standard for studying spatial memories. CYFIP2^{+/-} mice will be tested for defects in hippocampal dependent spatial memories in future studies. To test the suitability of CYFIP2^{+/-} mice for Morris water maze experiments, a preliminary set of experiment were performed which included training on water maze platform for six days followed by probe trial on sixth day (as described in methods) (Fig.3.14a,) and visible platform test (Fig3.14b). The training for six days and the probe trial on sixth day didn't reveal any significant difference in wild type and mutant mice as well as showed that there was no learning in the mice group by sixth day (Target quadrant time spent versus other quadrants, t=1.031,p=0.325; Target platform crossing, t=0.590,p=0.567). The same group of mice were tested on a visible platform test to determine if the CYFIP2 ^{+/-} mice have a phenotype apart from spatial memory affecting their suitability for future longer water maze trials (like locomotor defects, visual defects, muscular defects). The visible platform test showed no difference in the performance of CYFIP2^{+/-} mice as compared to wild type mice (t=1.671, p=0.123). Hence, these animals are suitable for future spatial memory tests utilizing Morris water maze paradigm.

3.4. Discussion

Our investigation of CYFIP1/2 molecules have revealed the following important findings (1) CYFIP2 is downregulated in the milder stages of AD in forebrain and this downregulation may be responsible for dementia in AD as shown by memory impairment in behavioral studies of CYFIP2 ^{+/-} mice (2) CYFIP1 is upregulated in the later stages of AD in hippocampus (3) CYFIP1 and CYFIP2 expression regulations are not dependent on each other (4) CYFIP1 expression in human cerebellum does not change with normal aging (5) CYFIP2 downregulation, but not CYFIP1 upregulation, is modeled in Tg2576 mice, an AD model that has abnormal APP processing .

With respect to the first finding, we have shown that CYFIP2 downregulation is an early event in AD hippocampus and STG as seen in the case control postmortem studies. In the milder stages of disease, hippocampus is one of the first brain regions to be affected, where we observed a trend (p<0.10; though not significant perhaps due to a smaller sample size) for downregulation of CYFIP2. In the later stages of disease CYFIP2 expression in the hippocampus and STG showed a very significant downregulation.

From the previous studies with p25 transgenic mouse as described previously (Engmann et al., 2011), a downregulation of CYFIP2 expression was expected. In cultured hippocampal neurons CYFIP2 is expressed in dendritic spines and its expression is enriched at excitatory synapses (Pathania et al., 2014). Further CYFIP2 overexpression in these hippocampal neurons tend to increase dendritic branching similar to CYFIP1 overexpression (Pathania et al., 2014). Thus, a downregulation of

CYFIP2 expression may reduce dendritic branching as was shown for a downregulation of CYFIP1 expression (Pathania et al., 2014). Further, CYFIP1 downregulation affects spine morphology in cortical and hippocampal neurons (De Rubeis et al., 2013, Pathania et al., 2014) in that mushroom spines are increased whereas long thin spines are reduced. We have modeled the CYFIP2 downregulation in AD in CYFIP2^{+/-} mice. We found that CYFIP2^{+/-} mice have normal memory formation of cued fear memory, but the maintenance of this memory is impaired, as it declines within 5 days after training. Interestingly, in the CYFIP2^{+/-} mice memory loss was not found for contextual fear memory, which requires the amygdala and the hippocampus. Cued fear memory requires the amygdala and it is a matter of debate whether the hippocampus is also needed (Maren, 2008). Our data suggest that downregulation of CYFIP2 expression in the hippocampus can lead to memory loss. A recent BSc project in our lab showed that spine morphology is affected in CA1 pyramidal neurons in CYFIP2^{+/-} mice, in that there are more immature and less mature spines. This spine phenotype may have accounted for the observed memory loss in our fear conditioning studies. Moreover, Kumar et al have reported the presence of S968F mutation in C57BL/6 N strain of mice that we have used in the present study (Kumar et al., 2013b). This mutation reduces the half life of CYFIP2 to 2 hours as opposed to 8 hours in the C57BL/6 J strain. This data by Kumar et al was published by the end of this PhD study, hence we continued with the use of C57BL/6 N strain. If there are any minimal phenotypic differences as a result of the reduced half life of CYFIP2 molecules, they must have been accounted during the data analysis, since the test and control mice in our study have the same genetic background from the same strain.

One of the mechanisms by which CYFIP2 reduced expression might be leading to synaptic losses could be an altered activity of the WRC complex. As reported by Pathania et al group, CYFIP1^{+/-} mice with reduced expression of CYFIP1, has been

known to be leading to altered WRC mediated actin cytoskeletal dynamics affecting cell viability and altered spine morphology (Pathania et al., 2014). This hints towards a similar phenotype for CYFIP2^{+/-} mice.

An alternative mechanism by which CYFIP2 haploinsufficieny could be leading to synaptic losses causing dementia in AD patients is by its involvement as a translation modulator of dendritically localized mRNA. Bagni's group has shown the existence of a eIF4E-CYFIP-FMRP complex acting as a modulator of dendritically or synaptically localized mRNA s in a synaptic activity dependent manner by inhibiting the translation of target mRNA (Zalfa et al., 2003, De Rubeis et al., 2013). Thus, downregulation of CYFIP2 may reduce FMRP-mediated translation repression of mRNAs, which could results in overexpression of synaptic proteins that may become toxic for the synapse.

Our study with Tg2576 mice leads to two conclusions. First, the CYFIP2 downregulation observed in postmortem studies of AD brain was modeled in Tg2576 mice. This was at a developmental time point when the cognitive deficits in these mice have started to emerge like reduced spine density and impaired contextual fear conditioning (D'Amelio et al., 2011). The CYFIP2 downregulation in Tg2576 mice is in agreement with a trend of a downregulation in postmortem hippocampus of mild AD. In contrast, Tg2576 mice do not model the CYFIP1 overexpression in hippocampus which occurs in postmortem hippocampus of late AD. Taken together, this suggests that Tg2576 mice model only the early stages of AD. Second, since CYFIP2 downregulation was detected in Tg2576 mice, it shows that abnormal APP processing is sufficient to cause this downregulation in AD.

CYFIP2 mRNA is itself one of the mRNAs regulated by FMRP based translation repression complex, leading us to speculate about a probable self correcting loop

(Darnell et al., 2011). But, at the same time APP mRNA translation may be regulated by FMRP and CYFIP2. This is suggested as a recent BSc project in our lab has shown that synaptic APP protein expression is increased in CYFIP2^{+/-} mice. Taken together, the following model can be proposed: abnormal APP processing leads to a downregulation of CYFIP2 expression which in turn may lead to over expression of synaptic APP expression (Fig.5.1). This model suggests a feed-forward loop for amyloid toxicity at synapses; it was already proposed on the grounds that FMRP regulates APP mRNA translation, (Westmark, 2013). Fmr1 knockout mice have elevated levels of APP. The synaptic and behavior impairments in *Fmr1* knockout mice could be rescued by rescue of APP overexpression in them. At the same time, in primary cultured neurons, amyloid β leads to elevation of APP levels in dendrites (Westmark et al., 2011). These studies suggest a role of CYFIP2 both as modulator of local translation mechanism as well as in actin cytoskeletal dynamics. As demonstrated by Bagni's group (De Rubeis et al., 2013) for CYFIP1 involvement in both these respective process, as well as by Kittler's group showing a dysregulation of CYFIP1 expression levels that leads to pathological changes in CNS maturation and neuronal connectivity((Pathania et al., 2014), it is very likely that CYFIP2 also plays a similar role especially in context with AD.

However, to what extent does could CYFIP1 overexpression compensate for CYFIP2 haploinsufficiency? A survey of literature shows that apart from similarities in sequences, there are considerable parallels in terms of functional role. However, there are differences as stated in introduction - CYFIP2 but not CYFIP1 can interact with the other members of FMRP family – FXR1 and FXR2, as well as being one of the molecules regulated by p53, which is not the case with CYFIP1. Also, the results from Pathania et al have shown that CYFIP1 overexpression impairs dendritic branching and spine morphology in hippocampal neurons (*in vivo*). Thus, only if

CYFIP1 and CYFIP2 would have exactly the same functions in the hippocampus, then the CYFIP1 upregulation in late AD may compensate for the CYFIP2 downregulation. However, CYFIP1 upregulation was not found in postmortem STG. Further, CYFIP2^{+/-} mice do not upregulate CYFIP1 in the hippocampus. Thus, it is more likely that the CYFIP1 upregulation in late AD hippocampus represents a further wave of neurodegenerative mechanisms.

3.5. Conclusion

Our studies with CYFIP1/2 molecules have suggested a relevance for both CYFIPs in synaptic degeneration in AD , using postmortem human brain analyses and mouse models. Our work has confirmed the hypothesis that CYFIP family proteins are dysregulated in AD. Further functional studies with CYFIP2^{+/-} mice as well using Adeno Associated Virus mediated CYFIP2 (**Fig.2.2**) knockdown studies are planned to firmly establish the mechanistic impact of this dysregulation.

Chapter 4: CSPα may be neuroprotective in AD

4.1 Introduction

4.1.1. What is CSPα?

CSP α (Cysteine String Protein α) is a 34 kDa synaptically located J- Domain containing protein (Zhao et al., 2008). It contains an N-Terminal J domain and a string of 13-15 cysteine residues in the middle region (Braun and Scheller, 1995). The cysteine string residues undergo palmitoylation which anchors CSP α to synaptic vesicles (Ohyama et al., 2007). There are two other protein variants homologous to CSP α sequence in the mammalian genome – CSP β and CSP γ (Evans et al., 2003). However, these proteins are not expressed in brain (Fernandez-Chacon et al., 2004)

4.1.2. Discovery of CSPα

CSP was discovered in Eric Buchner's lab in *Drosophila* using an 'antibody to gene approach' (Zinsmaier et al., 1990). This approach was pioneered by Seymour Benzer and approximately 200 *Drosophila* brain-specific monoclonal antibodies were isolated from the mice immunized with *Drosophila* head protein homogenates (Buchner et al., 1988). One of these antibodies, mAb ab49, bound to the neuropils and synaptic boutons in the neuro-muscular junction. The recovery of antigen cDNA was carried out by screening a cDNA expression library from the same group. Sequencing of the cDNA identified a string of 11 cysteine residues leading to the name Cysteine String Protein (Zinsmaier et al., 1990). The first CSP protein in vertebrates was discovered by Umbach's group in *Torpedo* fish (Gundersen and Umbach, 1992).

Subsequently, three isoforms of CSP were identified in the mammalian genome – $CSP\alpha$, $CSP\beta$ and $CSP\gamma$. $CSP\alpha$ and $CSP\beta$ sequences share a high degree of sequence homology with each other and with the CSP sequence identified in *Drosophila* (Evans et al., 2003). In *Drosophila* there is only CSP isoform in contrast to mammals.

4.1.3. What is the expression pattern of CSP α ?

CSP α is present in synaptic vesicles and constitutes about 1 % of total synaptic vesicle protein (Eybalin et al., 2002) . It is expressed in most synapses including the neuromuscular junctions and is abundant in central nervous system neuropils (Evans and Morgan, 2005). CSP α is also present in secretory vesicles of endocrine, neuroendocrine and exocrine cells (Redecker et al., 1998, Zhang et al., 1998) The presence of CSP α has been detected in non-neuronal tissues like liver, pancreas and adrenal glands (Chamberlain et al., 1996)

4.1.4. What are the functions of CSPα at the synapse?

CSP α has been shown to be involved in the following functions in neurons- (1) Exocytosis - It acts as a co-chaperone of a trimeric complex by interacting with two other proteins : Heat Shock Protein 70 (Hsc 70) and small glutamine –rich TPRcontaining protein(SGT) (Figure 4.1 a). Thomas Sudhof's group has shown that this trimeric complex is involved in exocytosis by interacting and co-chaperoning the SNARE proteins leading to synaptic vesicle fusion in presynaptic terminals (Sharma et al., 2011). SNARE proteins are a set of synaptically localized membrane fusion proteins involved in the vesicle recycling mechanism in presynaptic terminals. In CSP α knockout mice, the levels of SNARE proteins (like α Synuclein, SNAP-25) are reduced (Chandra et al., 2005). (2) Endocytosis – CSP α interacts with dynamin 1 and facilitates the polymerization of dynamin, which is important for endocytotic vesicle fission (Zhang et al., 2012) (Figure 4.1b) (3) Modulation of calcium dependent K ⁺ channels (BK channels) - CSP α is important for modulation of presynaptic BK channel expression (Kyle et al., 2013) (Figure 4.2). CSP α knockout mouse models show upregulation of BK channels and hence aberrant synaptic activity and (4) Modulation of presynaptic calcium levels by regulating calcium channels (Ranjan et al., 1998).

4.1.5. What are the diseases in which CSPα has been implicated?

Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease and polyglutamine diseases (such as Huntington's disease), are all characterized by mis-folded protein aggregates. These protein aggregates have been shown to be a result of a defect in chaperone machinery and, indeed, molecular chaperones can act as neuroprotective factors (Muchowski and Wacker, 2005). A number of abnormally folded proteins show co-localization with identical molecules of a molecular chaperone system. CSP α interacting partner Hsc70 has been shown to be important for regulating the accumulation and toxicity of misfolded protein aggregates in models of Alzheimer's, Parkinson's and polyglutamine diseases (Muchowski and Wacker, 2005, Bonini and Fortini, 2003). Moreover, a recent study has shown that loss of function CSP α mutations are responsible for a hereditary neurodegenerative condition known as adult onset autosomal dominant neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis (ANCL) (Benitez et al., 2011).



Figure 4.1 a. **CSPα-Hsc-70-SGT complex at the presynapse**. CSPα forms a trimeric complex by interacting with two other proteins: Heat Shock Protein 70 (Hsc 70) and small glutamine –rich TPR-containing protein (SGT). This complex mediates the exocytosis of synaptic vesicles at pre-synaptic terminals. Taken from (Sharma et al., 2011).



Figure 4.1 b. CSP α regulates vesicle recycling. CSP α binds dynamin 1 leading to dynamin polymerization, which is important for endocytosis. CSP α forms a trimeric complex with SGT and Hsc70, and this complex interacts with SNAP-25 leading to exocytosis. Taken from (Sheng and Wu, 2012).



Figure 4.2 CSP α is involved in BK channel density regulation. CSP α modulates BK channel density at pre-synapse and the defect in CSP α levels impact BK channel density thereby regulating the excitability at synapse. CSP α knockout leads to increased membrane excitability possibly leading to neurodegeneration. Taken from (Kyle et al., 2013).



Figure 4.3. Specific binding of anti-CSP α antibodies. CSP α knockout mouse (Fernandez-Chacon et al., 2004) forebrain and cerebellum lysate was probed alongside forebrain and cerebellum from wild type mice with anti-CSP α antibody in an immunoblot study. There was no signal detected from the lanes containing CSP α knockout brain lysates.



Figure 4.4. CSPa expression is increased in Alzheimer's disease cerebellum. (A) CSPa expression in post-mortem cerebellum from patients with severe Alzheimer's disease (n = 10; average age at death = 74.7 ± 4.0 years) and control subjects (n = 10; average age at death = 76.3 ± 4.2 years). CSPa expression was normalized against NSE. **(B)** CSPa expression in post-mortem cerebellum from patients with mild Alzheimer's disease (n = 10; average age at death = 81.3 ± 4.1 years) and control subjects (n = 10). CSPa expression was normalized against NSE. **(C)** The same samples as in panel **(A)** were used but CSPa expression was normalized against synaptophysin. **(D)** The same samples as in panel **(B)** were used but CSPa expression was normalized against synaptophysin. Panel **(E)** shows the representative western blots. Means ± s.e.m. are shown. *, p<0.05; **, p<0.01; ***, p<0.001.



Figure 4.5. Increased CSP α immunostaining in Alzheimer's disease cerebellum. Fixed cerebellar cortex sections from a patient with severe Alzheimer's disease (A,B) and a control subject (C,D) were probed with anti-CSP α antibodies for analysis of CSP α expression. CSP α expression in the cerebellar cortex of the Alzheimer's disease patient appeared higher than in the control subject. In A and C ,the granule cells of the cerebellum show increased cytoplasmic and neuropil labelling in AD as compared to an

age-matched control case . In **B** and **D**, cerebellar cortex with the Purkinje cell layer and granule cells are visible in the lower right corner . There is increased immunoreactivity in the neuropil in AD as compared to an age-matched control case. Negative control images are shown in **E** and **F** (immunohistochemistry with omission of the primary antibody) and confirm the specificity of labelling in Figure 4.5, 4.6 and S1 .Haematoxylin counterstain. Original magnification: 400x _Scale bars represent 20 μ m.



Figure 4.6. CSP α immunostaining in cerebellum is typical for synaptic expression. Immunohistochemical sections of cerebellar dentate nucleus region from a control patient were immunostained with anti-CSP α antibodies (A) and with antibodies against the synaptic marker synaptophysin (B). This comparison indicated that the CSP α immunostaining is synaptic as obtained for synaptophysin immunostaining. Scale bars represent 200 µm.



Figure 4.7. CSP α protein expression is reduced in Alzheimer's disease hippocampus when normalized against synaptophysin. (A) CSP α expression in post-mortem hippocampus from patients with severe Alzheimer's disease (Braak stages V and VI; n = 12; average age at death = 75.2 ± 2.0 years) and control subjects (n = 12; average age at death = 76.5 ± 2.9 years). CSP α expression was normalized against the neuron specific house keeping marker protein NSE. (B) CSP α expression in postmortem hippocampus from patients with mild Alzheimer's disease (Braak stages I and

II; n = 12; average age at death = 80.3 ± 3.2 years) and control subjects (n = 12). CSP α expression was normalized against NSE. (C) The same samples as in panel (A) were used but CSP α expression was normalized against the synaptic marker protein synaptophysin (severe Alzheimer's disease, n = 11; control, n = 11). (D) The same samples as in panel (B) were used but CSP α expression was normalized against synaptophysin (mild Alzheimer's disease, n = 12; control, n =

11). Panel (E) shows the representative western blots. Means \pm s.e.m. are shown. *, p<0.05; **, p<0.01.



Figure 4.8. CSPa protein expression is reduced in Alzheimer's disease superior temporal gyrus. (A) CSPa expression in post-mortem STG from patients with severe Alzheimer's disease (n = 13; average age at death = 73.2 ± 3.4 years) and control subjects (n = 12; average age at death = 76.9 ± 2.1 years). CSPa expression was normalized against NSE. (B) The same samples as in panel (A) were used but CSPa expression was normalized against synaptophysin (severe Alzheimer's disease, n = 13; control, n = 12). Panel (C) shows the representative western blots. Means \pm s.e.m. are shown. **, p<0.01; ***, p<0.001.



Figure 4.9. Normal ageing reduces CSP α expression in healthy human cerebellum. (A) CSP α expression in post-mortem cerebellum from healthy young (n = 6; average age at death = 21.3 ± 1.6 years) and aged (n = 7; average age at death = 96.1 ± 1.4 years) subjects. CSP α expression was normalized against NSE. (B) The same samples as in panel (A) were used but CSP α expression was normalized against synaptophysin. Panel (C) shows the representative western blots. Means ± s.e.m. are shown. *, p<0.05.



Figure 4.10. Abnormal APP processing is not sufficient to cause CSPa upregulation in cerebellum. (A) CSPa expression in cerebellum of 4 month-old wild-type (n = 4) and Tg2576 mice (n = 4). (B) CSPa expression in cerebellum of 10 month-old wild-type (n = 3) and Tg2576 mice (n = 3). CSPa expression was normalized against NSE. Panel (C) shows the representative western blots. Means \pm s.e.m. are shown.



Figure 4.11. Mice expressing human tau have an age-dependent CSPa overexpression that correlates with neuroprotection. (A) CSPa expression in hippocampus of young (3-4 months) wild type (n = 6) and htau mice (n = 6). (B) CSPa expression in cortex of young (3-4 months) wild type (n = 6) and htau mice (n = 6). (C) CSPa expression in cerebellum of the same mouse sample as in panel (A) and (B). (D) CSPa expression in old (24 months) wild type (n = 4) and htau mice (n = 7). CSPa expression was normalized against NSE in all panels. Panel (E) shows the representative western blots. Means \pm s.e.m are shown. ***, p<0.001.



Figure 4.12. CSP α expression in cerebellum is not changed in FTLD. CSP α expression in post-mortem cerebellum from patients with FTLD (n = 5; average age at death = 73.0 ± 3.0 years) and control subjects (n = 5; average age at death = 70.2 ± 7.2 years). CSP α expression was normalized against NSE (A). Panel (B) shows the representative western blots. Mean ± s.e.m. are shown.

4.1.6. What kind of animal models have been used to date to study CSPα functions?

Genetic studies carried out on mice and flies have provided critical insights into the synaptic role of CSP. Deletion of the CSP gene in *Drosophila* causes paralysis and decreases life expectancy (Ranjan et al., 1998, Umbach et al., 1994). At elevated temperatures, there is a complete loss of evoked neurotransmitter release and the flies paralyze within minutes. The loss of neurotransmitter release at the CSP mutant neuromuscular junction can be overcome by increased extracellular Ca^{2+} or accumulated intracellular Ca^{2+} level during high-frequency stimulation (Nie et al., 1999, Bronk et al., 2005).

CSP α knockout mice also develop progressive motor and sensory impairments leading to paralysis, blindness and premature death by postnatal day 40-60 (Chandra et al., 2005, Fernandez-Chacon et al., 2004). Synapses of CSP α knockout mice display an age dependent deterioration of synaptic function that correlates well with breakdown of synaptic structure and the progressing neurological symptoms. However, as opposed to *Drosophila*, the evoked neurotransmitter release is normal in young CSP α knockout mice and it progressively becomes asynchronous as well as deteriorates with age (Fernandez-Chacon et al., 2004, Ruiz et al., 2008). By age of P30 the level of evoked release at mutant mice neuromuscular junctions and Calyx of Held synapses is quantitatively equivalent to the levels in mutant Drosophila neuromuscular junctions. Similar to Drosophila , in the knockout mice as well the evoked neurotransmitter release can be restored by high extracellular Ca^{2+} or with high frequency stimulation (Ruiz et al., 2008).

4.1.7. Previous studies in the lab that lead to identification of CSP α

A previous study in the lab showed that the truncated cyclin-dependent kinase 5 activator p25 is reduced in AD (Engmann et al., 2011). Normally, p25 generation is linked to the synthesis of particular synaptic proteins, synaptogenesis and memory formation (Engmann et al., 2011). Thus, impaired p25 generation may cause early synaptic dysfunction in AD. Furthermore, the mass spectrometric study of synaptosomal fractions from P25 transgenic mice demonstrated that p25 generation regulates expression of the synaptic chaperone protein cysteine string protein (CSP) α (Engmann et al., 2011).

Based on the studies of neuroprotective mechanism of CSPa published in literature, we developed and began to explore the hypothesis that: CSPa might be involved in neuroprotective mechanisms in AD

To investigate this hypothesis we performed case-control studies with post mortem brain tissues and with brain tissues from animal models of AD as described previously in chapter 2 (Methods).

Our objectives for this study were -

 To investigate the relevance of CSPα in Alzheimer's disease by performing a case-control study using post-mortem brain tissues to analyse the levels of CSPα in different regions of the brain at different stages of Alzheimer's disease
- 2) To investigate the relevance of CSPα in cognitive decline associated with normal aging by analyzing the levels of CSPα in postmortem brain from young and aged subjects
- 3) To find a suitable mice model of AD that replicates the CSPα results observed in postmortem human brain tissue for future studies

4.2. Results

4.2.1. CSPα is upregulated in Cerebellum

Cerebellar regions are one of the least affected regions in AD pathology (Larner, 1997). Though diffused amyloid plaques and increased microglia have been reported, there is no neurofibrillary tangle pathology reported in the cerebellum (Larner, 1997). Further, motor disturbances that can be assigned to cerebellar dysfunction are not observed in AD. These features suggest that there are mechanisms in cerebellar regions that provide neuroprotection against AD and hence make it a good internal control in case-control study of AD patients. To investigate if CSP α could be one of the factors that might be playing a role in the neuroprotective mechanism in cerebellar regions in AD, we performed case-control studies on cerebellum.

We obtained cerebellar samples of severe AD cases and controls in two sets from the London Neurodegenerative Diseases brain bank. For the mild cases, the patient samples were obtained in one set. The details of the patient samples have been provided in **Table.2.1**. We tried to obtain the samples with lowest possible post-mortem delays. Since the immunoblots from two sets were analyzed on different scanners, the data obtained from them was pooled together and analyzed using regression statistics described in Chapter 2.

We investigated the levels of CSP α in post-mortem cerebellum from severe AD patients and compared with controls, using western blot analysis. The normalization was carried out with NSE and synaptophysin (Fig. 4.4. A, C). In both cases CSP α levels were significantly increased by about 50% (referring to NSE expression: F(2,17)=2.761; p<0.05; referring to synaptophysin expression: F(2,17)=5.281, p<0.01). This surprising finding suggested that already in early AD there could be an upregulation of CSP α expression in cerebellum. Therefore, we also analysed CSP α expression in mild AD (Fig. 4.4.B, D). We found that the levels of CSP α were significantly increased in the cerebellum when normalized with both NSE and synaptophysin (referring to NSE expression:F(2,17)=7.245; p<0.05; referring to synaptophysin expression: F(2,17)=7.245; p<0.05; referring to synaptophysin expression: F(2,17)=7.245; p<0.05; referring to to the changes observed in hippocampus of mild AD patients.

4.2.2. Immunohistochemical studies

To further investigate cellular localization of CSP α , qualitative immunohistochemical studies were performed on cerebellar sections from an AD case and control. To confirm the cerebellar expression changes, we carried out a qualitative immunohistochemical analysis with post-mortem cerebellar cortical tissues from one severe AD patient (n=1) and one control subject (n=1) (**Fig. 4.5**). A neuropathologist blind to the disease state of the tissue performed a qualitative comparison of CSP α signal. A similar comparison was carried out with hippocampal and STG sections of control (n=1) and AD patients

(n=1) (Fig.S1). This qualitative comparison confirmed an increase in CSP α levels in cerebellum in severe AD compared to a healthy control case as well as a decrease of CSP α in forebrain of severe AD patients.

4.2.3. CSPα has synaptic expression

To validate the synaptic specificity of the anti-CSP α antibodies, the immunohistochemistry was compared with synaptophysin expression patterns (Fig.4. 6). Staining of cerebellar dentate nucleus from a control subject showed similar results with both antibodies, confirming that the CSP α immunostaining was typical for synaptic staining and is increased in AD.

4.2.4. CSPα is downregulated in the hippocampus

The hippocampus is one of the first and most severely affected regions in the brain during the course of AD progression (Braak and Braak, 1991a). AD onset is characterized by the loss of memory and defects in cognitive skills. These defects are attributed to the loss of synapses at the onset of AD. Synaptic loss precedes the neuronal loss. Based on this, we decided to analyze the changes in the levels of CSP α in hippocampal neurons.

We obtained hippocampal samples of severe AD cases and controls in two sets from the London Neurodegenerative Diseases brain bank. For the mild cases, the patient samples were obtained in one set. The details of the patient samples have been provided in **Table.2.1**. We tried to obtain the samples with lowest possible post mortem delays. Since the immunoblots from two sets were analyzed on different scanners, the data obtained from them was pooled together and analyzed using regression statistics described in Chapter 2.

We first studied whether, in the late stages of AD, CSP α protein expression in the hippocampus is affected, comparing post-mortem samples from severe AD patients and control subjects in a western analysis. As with the Cerebellum, the CSP α expression was normalized to either the neuronal marker NSE or the synaptic marker synaptophysin (Fig. 4.7. A, C). In both cases CSP α levels were significantly decreased in the hippocampus of severe AD patients (referring to NSE expression: **F(2,21)=21.287**; p<0.01; referring to synaptophysin expression: **F(2,19)=14.622**, p<0.05). This result suggests that in severe AD CSP α expression is not simply reduced due to neuronal or synaptic loss, and it suggests that reduced CSP α may precede synaptic loss during AD progression. Therefore, we also analysed CSP α expression in mild AD (Fig. 4.7. B, D). Western analysis revealed a significant decrease in CSP α levels in the hippocampus of patients when normalized with synaptophysin (**F(2,20=4.257**; P<0.05), but showed no difference when normalized with NSE (**F(2,21=0.366**, p=0.427), which indicates that the drop in CSP α level in hippocampus is an early event in AD.

4.2.5. CSPα is downregulated in the Superior Temporal Gyrus

After investigating the expression of CSP α in hippocampus, which is the earliest as well as most severely affected in AD, we studied CSP α expression in the superior temporal gyrus (STG), which is affected later at moderate stages of the disease and less severely than the hippocampus (Braak and Braak, 1991a).

In a western blot analysis we compared CSP α expression in post-mortem STG from severe AD patients and controls. The level of CSP α expression was normalised with NSE or synaptophysin (Fig. 4.8). In both cases there was a significant reduction in CSP α expression (referring to NSE expression: F (2,22)=14.827; p<0.01; referring to synaptophysin expression: F(2,22)=7.481, p<0.001), similar to the result seen in the hippocampus (Fig. 4.8. A, C).

4.2.6. CSPα decreases during ageing in the cerebellum

The increased CSP α expression in the cerebellum in AD patient tissue indicates that CSP α expression is plastic. This raised the question as to whether normal ageing also regulates CSP α expression in the cerebellum.

To investigate this, we analysed the cerebellar lysates from healthy subjects belonging to two age groups, 15-30 years and 90-105 years (**Fig. 4.9**).Normalization with NSE showed that normal ageing significantly downregulates CSP α expression by approx. 50% in the cerebellum (t =2.443 ; p<0.05). When normalized to synaptophysin levels the average CSP α expression in the aged cerebellum was much smaller than in the young cerebellum, although this did not reach significance (t=1.351 ; p=0.234), due to large variability in young cerebellum. Taken together, we found an age-dependent decrease of CSP α expression in healthy cerebellum samples. Interestingly, the CSP α expression level in AD cerebellum is similar to the expression level in young healthy cerebellum.

4.2.7. CSPα is unchanged in Tg2576 cerebellum and forebrain

Mouse models are useful to investigate some mechanisms of AD. However, not all aspects of AD can be modelled in mice, possibly due to the short life span of the mice. We studied whether abnormal APP processing in the cerebellum is sufficient to induce $CSP\alpha$ upregulation, using Tg2576 mice, a widely used mouse model for abnormal APP processing.

We performed a western blot analysis at two age points, 4 and 10 months (Fig.4.10).

At 4 months of age Tg2576 mice do not have amyloid plaques but have some memory impairment, whereas at 10 months of age Tg2576 mice memory deficits are more pronounced and amyloid plaques are detectable(Hsiao et al., 1996, Stewart et al., 2011). CSP α expression in cerebellum at both ages was normalized against NSE as well as synaptophysin. This comparison did not reveal any significant difference between genotypes (p=0.169). Therefore, abnormal APP processing does not appear to be sufficient to cause CSP α upregulation in cerebellum.

A similar study was carried out with the forebrain of 4 month and 10-12 month old mice forebrain lysates (Fig S2). There was no change in the forebrain CSP α level at 4 month (t=1.935, p =0.101) or 12 month (t= -0.449, p= 0.672) stage of Tg2576 mice.

4.2.8. CSPα shows age dependent downregulation in htau mouse forebrain

Neurofibrillary tangles (NFT) and hyperphosphorylated tau are the other hallmarks of Alzheimer's disease apart from amyloid plaques. Formation of NFTs leads to neuronal loss. We investigated the levels of CSP α in a mouse model overexpressing human tau (Andorfer et al., 2005)- the htau mice. These mice progressively develop

hyperphosphorylated tau and neurofibrillary tangles, predominantly in the cortex and hippocampus and widespread neuronal loss is apparent in aged mice (Andorfer et al., 2003, Kelleher et al., 2007). The tau pathology is visible from 3 weeks of age, but the neuronal loss starts from 17 months onwards.

We looked at CSPα levels in the hippocampus (Fig. 4.11 A), frontal cortex (Fig. 4.11 B) and cerebellum (Fig.4.11 C) of these mice at 3- 4 months of age. At the same time we also looked at CSPα levels at 24 months age in hippocampal-cortical lysates of these mice (Fig.4.11 D). We were unable to procure the cerebellar tissues of these mice at the 24 month age time point.

The samples were normalised with NSE levels. We saw a significant upregulation of CSP α levels in hippocampus (Fig.4.11 A, t=6.539, p<0.001), frontal cortex (Fig.4.11 B, t=8.005, p<0.001) and cerebellum (Fig. 4.11 C, t=5.200, p < 0.001) in the mice at the 3-4 month time point. At this stage there is no neuronal loss in these mice and the result replicates the result observed in the cerebellum of AD patients. At 24 months of age, there is no difference in the levels of CSP α between hippocampal –cortical regions from wild type and from htau mice (Fig.4.11 D. t = -0.220, p =0.831). This result suggests that a CSP α based neuroprotective mechanism that was preventing neuronal loss in the hippocampal-cortical region in the younger age (inspite of the presence of tau pathology), is eliminated in the old age, possibly making the neurons more prone to tau based toxicity. The cerebellum at the young age is protected by elevated CSP α level as in humans.

To study the levels of previously studied CYFIP protein in Htau mouse, all the mouse tissue samples in figure 4.11 were probed with anti CYFIP2 and anti CYFIP1 antibodies. The CYFIP2 levels in the membranes with htau forebrain lysates were undetectable (Fig.3.15). CYFIP1 levels did not change in htau mice forebrain or cerebellum at any age point (Fig.3.7)

4.2.9. CSPα is unchanged in FTLD cerebellum

Frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD) is a prominent form of dementia that is characterized by neurodegeneration of the frontotemporal region(Cruts et al., 2013). Additionally, as opposed to AD, the cerebellum may be affected (King et al., 2009).

We performed a western blot analysis to study whether altered CSP α expression is linked to neuropathology of the cerebellum in FTLD (Fig. 4.12). CSP α levels were normalized with NSE, and no significant difference was found (t= - 0.373, p=0.719). Hence, increased CSP α expression in the cerebellum appears specific for AD.

4.3. Discussion

The main findings of our study are that 1) expression of CSP α is reduced in degenerating forebrain in mild and severe AD, and 2) CSP α expression is upregulated in AD cerebellum, a brain region not affected in AD. Taken together, these findings link CSP α expression with neurodegeneration, and suggest that CSP α upregulation may be neuroprotective.

CSP α is a p25-regulated protein, and we have previously shown that p25 expression is downregulated in AD forebrain (Engmann et al., 2011). In addition, CSP α mutations cause a hereditary neurodegenerative condition (Benitez et al., 2011). We therefore hypothesized that CSP α expression could be altered in AD. Here, we confirm

this hypothesis. We found that CSP α expression is reduced in hippocampus and STG in severe AD when normalized to expression of a neuronal or synaptic marker. This finding is consistent with another study, which was published after we started our project, showing that in Brodmann area 9 of severe AD CSP α expression is reduced by about 40% (Zhang et al., 2012). Furthermore, we also detected a downregulation of CSP α expression in hippocampus in mild AD when CSP α amounts were normalized to the synaptic marker synaptophysin. Traditionally, synaptophysin is used as a marker of synaptic degeneration in AD (Arendt, 2009). However, our finding that CSP α levels are reduced prior to noticeable changes in synaptophysin expression, and considering the importance of CSP α for synaptic function (Fernandez-Chacon et al., 2004), indicates that CSP α is likely to be a better marker of synaptic degeneration than synaptophysin.

We obtained double bands of CSP α in our immunoblot studies and for quantification and analysis of the toal CSP α amount both the bands were included. The presence of double bands in our CSP α blots have been reported by and explained by studies from other groups. The specificity study of our antibodies with CSP α knockout mouse have shown that both the bands are from CSP α isoform and not the beta or gamma isoform of CSP α (Fig.4.3). The double bands in our CSP α blot could be explained by two posttranslational event that CSP α goes through. Palmitoylation in CSP α has been described in great detail in previous reports and this posttranslational modification is important for intracellular functions of CSP α (Greaves et al., 2008). CSP undergoes extensive palmitoylation on 14 cysteine residues present within central cysteine rich domain(Umbach et al., 1994). The palmitoylated form is essential for sorting of CSP α , though the mechanism is not yet well understood (Greaves and Chamberlain, 2007, Greaves et al., 2008). To determine, which band to study, at the start of the project, I analyzed the level of difference in either palmitoylated or unpalmitoylated protein states between cases and control. However, the ratio of playmitoylated versus unpalmitoylated protein varies with the individual cases having a degree of standard deviation which made the difference between patient versus control insignificant. Hence, I analyzed the total CSP α level, irrespective of their palmitoylation status.

The second posttranslational event is oligomerization of CSP α which might be important for its role in synapses (Swayne et al., 2003). In my studies, I have only encountered double bands and the higher band was always less than 70 kD (a CSP α dimer molecular weight), so the oligomeric CSP α was either present in undetectable amount in my samples or was cleaved to the monomeric form during sample preparation.

CSPα, along with its interacting partners Hsc-70 and SGT, is involved in exocytotic mechanisms in pre-synaptic terminals that are mediated by its interactions with SNARE complexes (Evans et al., 2003). Downregulation of CSPα may therefore lead to reductions in the number of synaptic vesicles binding at presynaptic membranes, thereby affecting synaptic activity. Further, CSP α is also important for endocytosis of synaptic vesicles. CSP α interacts with dynamin to facilitate dynamin polymerization which is important for endocytotic vesicle fission (Rozas et al., 2012, Zhang et al., 2012). This is important for normal synaptic function since the number of synaptic vesicles readily available for exocytosis is reduced when there are defects in endocytotic fission (Wu et al., 2009). This suggests that defects observed in exocytotic mechanisms in CSP α knockout mice could be explained by deficits in CSP α -dependent endocytotic mechanisms. Hence, CSP α downregulation could lead to loss of function at different stages of synaptic vesicular recycling to contribute to synaptic loss. Additionally, reduced CSP α expression is expected to increase BK channel density at synapses, which reduces excitability at presynaptic terminals (Kyle et al., 2013). Loss of synaptic activity is thought to be lethal for synapses, therefore, the downregulation in $CSP\alpha$ expression we observe in AD hippocampus could be closely associated with synaptic degeneration and the resulting impaired memory formation in early AD.

CSP α modulates the calcium dependent K⁺ (BK) channel expression and current density (Kyle et al., 2013). CSP α knockout mice show aberrant activity due to increased BK channel expression at synapses. This contributes to synaptic degeneration and neuronal loss. Animal models of AD display epileptic seizures and network dysfunctions, (Palop and Mucke, 2010, Palop et al., 2007) and, based on our results, it is highly likely that the decrease in CSP α levels in cortical regions may lead to aberrant network functions of cortical circuits by dysregulation of BK channel expression at synapses.

The second major finding from our study is the identification of CSP α overexpression in AD cerebellum. The cerebellum is relatively protected from neurodegeneration in AD. For example, there is no synaptic and neuronal loss in this area, although there are some diffuse amyloid plaques present in the cerebellum (Larner, 1997). The molecular mechanisms that impart neuroprotection to the cerebellum in AD are not known. Our results suggest that CSP α may be one of the factors contributing to this neuroprotection. We observed an overexpression of CSP α in cerebellum in mild and severe AD. Importantly, we found that the level of overexpression in this region is comparable to the amount of CSP α expression detected in young, healthy cerebellum. Additional experimental support for the suggestion that CSP α overexpression could be neuroprotective comes from our analysis of CSP α expression in cerebellum from patients with FTLD. These patients have neuropathology in the cerebellum unlike AD patients (Al-Sarraj et al., 2011; King et

al., 2013). This report mentions the FTLD cases with C9orf72 hexanucleotide repeat. However, this suggests that FTLD effects cerebellum as opposed to AD. We found that CSP α expression is unchanged in degenerating FTLD cerebellum, thereby supporting our hypothesis. Additional support for our hypothesis comes from analysis of htau mutant mice, where we found that CSP α overexpression occurs only at times when no neuronal loss is observed. Taken together, the evidence we present here suggests that CSP α overexpression in AD cerebellum may be neuroprotective and additional functional studies are needed to investigate this hypothesis.

How could CSPa overexpression protect synapses and consequently neurons in AD cerebellum? In AD forebrain, amyloid-induced aberrations in synaptic activity are one of the causes of synaptic toxicity (Westmark, 2013). In particular, dysfunctional synaptic machinery could be an after-effect of impaired synaptic vesicle trafficking. Chang's group has shown that amyloid β oligomers impair synaptic vesicle recycling by hindering endocytosis as well as the formation of fusion-competent vesicles (Park et al., 2013). Considering the role of CSP α in endocytosis and vesicle recycling, an upregulation of CSPa in AD cerebellum could be a compensatory mechanism that prevents impairments in synaptic vesicle recycling that are induced by factors causing AD. This would result in protection of synapses and neurons from degeneration. Also, the effect of CSPa in modulating BK channel activity could also be important for protection from neurodegeneration. CSPa knockout mice have an increase in BK channel density which causes synaptic and neuronal loss (Kyle et al., 2013), therefore, an upregulation of CSPa protein at synapses in AD cerebellum may lead to maintenance of normal BK channel density, hence avoiding any damage to the synaptic and network structure of AD cerebellum.

4.4. Conclusion

Our studies have shown that CSP α is an early marker for synaptic degeneration in AD forebrain, and suggest that CSP α overexpression is neuroprotective in AD cerebellum. CSP α is a synapse-specific protein that has multiple functions at the presynapse. Thus, our results are in agreement with the idea that presynaptic degeneration is pivotal in AD, as suggested by studies using transgenic mouse models of AD (Zhang et al., 2009). Further functional studies with CSP α knockout and overexpression models will provide further insights into the mechanistic basis of our observations.

5.1. Revisiting the questions

AD is a devastating neurodegenerative condition and an increasing number of reports have shown that synaptotoxicity is one the first pathological changes apparent in AD, preceding neuronal loss and leading to the emergence of cognitive as well as memory impairments (Arendt, 2009). However, the molecular mechanisms leading to this synaptotoxicity are not yet fully known. The broad theme of this PhD study was to investigate novel molecular mechanisms leading to degeneration of synapses in AD. P25 is a Cdk5 activator that has been shown to be an important molecule in AD onset by several groups (Tandon et al., 2003, Engmann et al., 2011, Yoo and Lubec, 2001). Our lab has previously shown that p25 levels are downregulated in the post-mortem early-stage AD brain (Engmann et al., 2011). Furthermore, p25 is generated during memory formation and it is linked with synaptogenesis (Engmann et al., 2011). A mass spectrometric study of synaptosomes isolated from p25 transgenic mice identified proteins that are regulated by p25 and that may also be dysregulated in AD and therefore could contribute to synaptic degeneration in AD (Giese, 2014).

With the broad aim of identifying the novel molecular mechanisms of synaptic pathology in AD, we screened molecules from the aforementioned mass spectrometric study and began to focus on CYFIP2, since amounts of this protein were significantly altered in synaptosomes prepared from male p25 transgenic mice relative to wild-types (Engmann et al., 2011). CYFIP2, and the structurally related protein CYFIP1, bind to the mRNA binding protein FMRP that regulates local translation of dendritic/synaptic mRNA, including APP encoding mRNA (Westmark and Malter, 2007). This suggested

the hypothesis that dysregulation of local translation may lead to synaptotoxicity in AD. CYFIP1 being a member of the same family as CYFIP2 was also a molecule for interest for us. Within the framework of this broad hypothesis, we decided the following objectives for our project –

1) To investigate the relevance of CYFIP1/2 in Alzheimer's disease by performing a case-control study using post-mortem brain tissues to analyze the levels of CYFIP1/2 in different regions of the brain at different stages of Alzheimer's disease.

2) To investigate the relevance of CYFIP1/2 in cognitive decline associated with normal aging by analyzing the levels of CYFIP1/2 in postmortem brain from young and aged subjects.

3) To investigate the validity of the hypothesis that functional compensation between CYFIP1 and CYFIP2 may exist by biochemical analysis of brain tissue lysates from CYFIP2 heterozygote mice.

4) To understand the role of CYFIP2 in memory as well as dementia associated with Alzheimer's disease by behavioral testing of CYFIP2 heterozygous knockout mice.

In the same mass spectrometric study with p25 transgenic mice mentioned before, another molecule that showed a marked difference in female p25 transgenic mouse versus wild-type mice was CSP α . Since, both CYFIP and CSP α have no reported linkage to sex chromosomes and have never been reported to have an association with the sex of the animal, we concluded that this sex associated difference (with synaptosomes from male p25 mice showing the largest increase in CYFIP2 and synaptosomes from female p25 mice showing the largest increase in CSP α) might be a result of noise from the experiment. Mouse model studies have implicated CSP α in synaptic degeneration but it was unknown whether CSP α expression is altered in Alzheimer's disease. We not only found that CSP α expression is downregulated in post-mortem AD forebrain, we also identified an upregulation of CSP α in post-mortem cerebellum of AD patients – a relatively protected brain region in AD. Hence, we hypothesized that CSP α might be neuroprotective in AD. To study this second protein, we added the following objectives for this project –

1) To investigate the relevance of CSPα in Alzheimer's disease by performing a case-control study using post-mortem brain tissues to analyze the levels of CSPα in different regions of the brain at different stages of Alzheimer's disease

2) To investigate the relevance of CSPα in cognitive decline associated with normal aging by analyzing the levels of CSPα in postmortem brain from young and aged subjects

3) To find a suitable mice model of AD that replicates the CSPα results observed in postmortem human brain tissue for future studies

Hence, we have tried to look for answers to these questions in this study and in doing so, we discovered some novel molecular mechanisms that likely contribute to dysregulation of synapses in AD.

5.2. Answers for discussion

5.2.1. Dysregulation of p25 regulated molecules was observed in AD postmortem brain tissues

Our screening of CYFIP1/2 and CSP α molecules through western blot analysis of postmortem brain (case-control studies) has yielded several interesting results about these synaptic molecules in AD. In the hippocampus, there is a trend of downregulation of CYFIP2 in the early stages of AD and this downregulation becomes significant in the severe stages of the disease. CYFIP1 expression, on the other hand, does not change in the early stages of disease but it is significantly decreased in the severe stages. CSP α , which is a pre-synaptic molecule as opposed to post-synaptically reported CYFIP , also shows a significant downregulation (with respect to a synaptic marker –synaptophysin) in the hippocampus in the early stages of disease and stays reduced up to and including the severe stages of disease (with respect to a synaptic marker – synaptophysin and a neuronal marker- NSE). This finding shows that CSP α could be a more sensitive marker for synaptic degeneration in the early stages of AD than synaptophysin.

We also analysed the expression of these molecules in the STG, a brain region that is affected later in the progression of AD. CYFIP2 expression is downregulated in severe AD STG, whereas CYFIP1 amounts do not change in this brain area at any stage of disease. Similar to CYFIP2 expression, CSP α expression is downregulated in the STG at severe stages of AD.

The downregulation of the p25-regulated proteins CSP α and CYFIP2 in postmortem AD forebrain that was identified here suggests that these proteins could contribute to synaptic degeneration in the disease. If this assumption is correct, then this would suggest that synapses in AD forebrain undergo differential degeneration processes – which means that the mechanism that are impaired and lead to the amyloid induced synaptic toxicity on the pre and post synaptic side are different. Pre- and post-synaptic degeneration in AD is consistent with the observation that oligomeric amyloid peptide binds to both sides of the synapse (Dinamarca et al., 2012, Russell et al., 2012).

The cerebellum is a relatively protected region in AD, hence it was used as a control tissue in our case-control studies. We studied all three molecules in postmortem AD cerebellum. Surprisingly, CSP α expression was significantly upregulated in cerebellum in the mild and severe stages of the disease. This finding was confirmed with qualitative immunohistochemical analysis. No changes in the expression levels of CYFIP1 were detected in control, mild or severe AD cerebellum relative to control brain. As reported by some other authors in literature (Hoeffer et al., 2012), CYFIP2 expression level was undetectable in cerebellum and hence couldn't be quantified in this tissue.

 $CSP\alpha$ expression was also studied in the cerebellar region from FTLD patients where cerebellar pathology has been observed, as an additional control. $CSP\alpha$ levels were not changed in FTLD tissue relative to control brain.

Another important question was to look for the effect of ageing on the expression of these molecules. Since only cerebellar tissues were available from young control patients, we screened CYFIP1 and CSP α in cerebellar postmortem tissues from young (<30 years) and old (> 90 years) patients. There were no changes in CYFIP1 amounts with ageing in healthy cerebellum. However, CSP α levels in healthy cerebellum were found to decrease with ageing.

The differential expression of CSP α in AD versus control cerebellum, and in the cerebellum during normal aging suggests the novel hypothesis that CSP α may be neuroprotective for synapses.

An important question that can be raised here is about the impact of postmortem delay (PMD), age of patients, gender of patients and pH of the tissues, on our results. In this study, we have tried to acquire the samples with lowest PMD that were available to us and as far as possible; we used the samples with PMD of less than 24 hours. Since the data used in this project involved pooling the data from two different sets, and hence utilized the regression analysis model for statistical studies, it was not suitable to perform a co-relation study between different aforesaid parameters and the protein levels observed in post-mortem tissues. Hence, I adopted the strategy of comparing the significant difference between the age, PMD and Gender (nonparametric analysis) of patient samples grouped into different pathological state of disease– control, mild, severe AD. The analysis for pH couldn't be performed as some of the samples I used in my study were from a previous published study in lab where the pH data was not recorded or analysed. Statistical analysis discussed in Chapter 2 (section 2.9) shows that the impact of PMD, age and gender of the patient is statistically insignificant and these parameters have not affected our results.

Since the differential results we have obtained for CYFIP1 and CYFIP2 are from the same patient samples and same tissues region, and CYFIP2 levels were downregulated in forebrain but at the same time CYFIP1 was upregulated in forebrain, therefore it is highly unlikely that PMD is skewing our results in any particular direction. Also, CSP α from the same patient samples showed downregulation in cerebellar regions whereas it was upregulated in the forebrain. Furthermore, the results from analysis of CYFIP (1/2) and CSP α amounts show that wide-spread proteolytic degradation due to PMD have not influenced our results since in the same tissue regions from same patients we observed upregulation of one protein and downregulation of the other. One of the experiments that could have been ideally performed was to analyze the impact of PMD on CYFIP and CSP degradation using simulated post mortem mouse brain assay at different PMD intervals and checking the protein levels.

5.2.2. Different mouse models of AD confirmed the results observed obtained from postmortem brain

We next investigated if the expression changes observed in post-mortem AD brain could be replicated in mouse models of AD. We first studied CYFIP1, CYFIP2 and CSPa expression in the Tg2576 mouse model of AD that has abnormal APP processing and deposits A β in senile plaques with age (Hsiao et al., 1996). The CYFIP1/2 molecules showed an age-dependent decline in expression in the hippocampus and associated cortex of Tg2576 mice relative to background controls, with no changes detectable at 4 months of age, but significant reductions in CYFIP1/2 expression at 12 months of age, an age at which cognitive decline as well as amyloid plaque pathology has been reported in this mouse model. Thus, Tg2576 mice model the CYFIP2 downregulation observed in post-mortem AD brain, but they do not model the upregulation of CYFIP1 expression observed in post-mortem AD hippocampus. Furthermore, analysis of CSPa expression in Tg2576 cerebellum (both at 4 months and 10 months of age) did not show any changes in protein expression when compared to age-matched wild-type mice. Thus, it seems that abnormal APP processing on its own is insufficient to cause upregulation of CYFIP1 in the hippocampus or to upregulate CSPa expression in cerebellum, whereas it appears to be sufficient for modelling the CYFIP2 downregulation observed in AD brain. Since CYFIP2 downregulation is an early event in AD, 10 month-old Tg2576 mice could be a good model for examining the early stages of AD. It is conceivable that Tg2576 mice do not model AD accurately since they still express endogenous mouse APP. Thus, transgene expression will not only result in abnormal APP processing but also in an overexpression of C-terminal fragments. A very recent paper has shown that knock-in of the Swedish APP mutations results in a different phenotype from that observed in Tg2576 mice (Saito et al., 2014). However, these knock-in mutants do not develop memory impairment at 18 months of age, suggesting that the life span of mice is too short to fully model AD.

Since the CSP α upregulation observed in AD cerebellum was not modelled in Tg2576 mice, we studied another mouse model of AD, which does not develop amyloid pathology, but instead develops AD-like tau pathology- the htau mouse model. CSP α expression was analyzed at two time points in forebrain tissue from these mice – at 3/4 months of age when there is no neuronal loss but visible tau pathology, and at 24 months of age, a time point when there is cognitive deficits, neuronal loss and tau pathology (Andorfer et al., 2003, Polydoro et al., 2009). There was an upregulation of CSP α in the forebrain of young htau mice, but at older ages when neuronal loss occurs, this upregulation is absent. In the cerebellum of young htau mice this upregulation was also observed. Hence, htau mice model the CSP α upregulation observed in AD cerebellum and this upregulation again correlates with a stage of disease which precedes substantial neuronal loss. This again suggests that CSP α may play a role in protecting tissues from neuronal loss.

5.2.3. CYFIP2 functional study revealed its significance for synaptic functions and AD

To understand the mechanistic relevance of the p25 downregulated molecules in AD, amongst the three candidate molecules identified (CYFIP1, CYFIP2 and CSPa), we focused on CYFIP2 - the least studied of them yet. We performed functional studies with CYFIP2^{+/-} mutant mice that are heterozygous for a null mutation. Homozygous CYFIP2 knockout mice are lethal at embryonic stage. We showed that the heterozygotes express reduced CYFIP2 amounts in crude synaptosome fractions, without showing any changes in CYFIP1 expression. Fear conditioning studies have demonstrated that these mice are significantly impaired in retaining memory after cued fear conditioning. Hence, downregulation of CYFIP2 by about 50 % (as observed in the AD postmortem brain in mild and severe stages as well as in aged Tg2576 animal model) is likely to lead to memory loss. Further follow-up studies in this lab have shown that this behavioural readout correlates with altered synapse morphology (reduction in stable, mushroom dendritic spines and increase in 'immature' long thin spines) and protein expression (upregulation of APP protein expression in synaptosomes). Hence, these results suggest that reduced levels of CYFIP2 expression contribute to memory impairments in AD.

5.3. CYFIP2 and CSP α downregulation follows p25 downregulation in the forebrain of mild AD

In a previously published study from the Giese group, it was shown that the p25 is downregulated in AD at the mild stage of disease (Engmann et al., 2011). CYFIP2 and CSP α were shown to be candidate p25-regulated molecules from a mass spectrometric analysis of brain from p25 transgenic mice. In this PhD project it has been shown that CYFIP2 as well as CSP α are downregulated in forebrain regions in the early stages of AD, and this downregulation persists until the severe stages of disease. Hence, it can be inferred that downregulation of p25 in the forebrain in the mild stages of AD leads to the downregulation of CSP α in pre-synaptic sites and CYFIP2 in the post-synaptic side. The p25 dowregulation itself could be an amyloid-induced mechanism but this has yet to be investigated.

A question that could be raised here is why CYFIP2 but not CSP α downregulation is modelled in Tg2576 mice? Tg2576 mice model abnormal APP processing, which is only part of the AD pathophysiology seen in human disease. For example, these mice do not have substantial changes in tau processing, develop NFTs or show marked neuronal loss. In contrast to Tg2576 mice, htau mice, which recapitulate many tau aspects of human AD, model the CSP α downregulation observed in AD forebrain. Hence, it is likely that abnormal APP processing is not sufficient for CSP α downregulation and that modulation of CSP α amounts may involve some mechanism downstream of APP processing that is more relevant to the development of tau pathology.

5.4. CYFIP1 upregulation may be a second wave of neurodegeneration

CYFIP1 expression is upregulated in the severe stages of AD and this upregulation was found only in the post-mortem hippocampus. Since CYFIP1 and CYFIP2 are very similar proteins, it is likely that these proteins can compensate for each others function, although CYFIP2 and not CYFIP1 can bind to FXR1 and FXR2 (Schenck et al., 2001, Napoli et al., 2008). Furthermore, CYFIP1 downregulation and overexpression have similar, not opposite, effects on dendritic branching (Pathania et al., 2014). We therefore tested whether a reduction of CYFIP2 expression can induce an upregulation of CYFIP1 expression, using CYFIP2^{+/-} mice. In hippocampal synaptosomes of the mutant mice there was no upregulation of CYFIP1, demonstrating that reduced CYFIP2 does not cause CYFIP1 upregulation. A collaborative study conducted in parallel to this project has shown that overexpression of CYFIP1 appears to be toxic in vitro. Since the most neuronal loss occurs in the hippocampus in end-stage AD, we can infer that CYFIP1 upregulation may be a factor contributing to neurodegeneration and it might represent a second wave of neurotoxic processes that emerge in the severe stages of AD. This conclusion is strengthened by the results obtained from analysis of brain tissues from aged Tg2576 mice. As discussed before, aged Tg2586 mice display CYFIP2 downregulation similar to that observed in the mild stages of AD. Furthermore, there is no CYFIP1 upregulation in this mouse model and no neuronal loss. It is conceivable that upregulation of CYFIP1 expression is needed to cause neuronal cytotoxicity and that this is lacking in Tg2576 mice. However, to what extent CYFIP1 upregulation is p25-dependent and what factors are downstream of CYFIP1 upregulation is a question to be addressed in future studies.

5.5. A p25-CYFIP2-CSPα feed-forward model of AD synaptotoxicity

How can we mechanistically explain all the results from this PhD study? The results from our studies have led us to propose a feed-forward model similar to the one proposed by Westmark (Westmark, 2013) (Fig.1.3) but including novel insights from this study. According to this p25-CYFIP2-CSP α model - in the milder stages of AD, there is a downregulation of p25 molecules in the forebrain. The amyloid oligomers

could be leading to decreased calpain-mediated p25 formation as suggested by the reports of amyloid-induced reduction of calcium signaling due to increased internalization and desensitization of NMDA receptors (Palop and Mucke, 2010, Paula-Lima et al., 2013, Giese, 2014). However, the exact upstream factors of this p25 downregulation are not yet identified but may have a parallel affect on other pathways as well, leading to AD pathology.

P25 is a cleavage product of p35 which is membrane bound and is not present in the nucleus. P25 on the other hand is not membrane bound and has been reported in both the nucleus and cytoplasm (O'Hare et al., 2005). Thus, p25 could be acting as a signaling molecule from the synapse to the nucleus (O'Hare et al., 2005).

P25 downregulation may lead to a decrease in the concentration of p25 in the nucleus. It is possible that p25 is essential for the transcriptional expression of many genes and among them $CSP\alpha$ on the pre-synaptic side and CYFIP2 on the postsynaptic side. In the future, it will be important to study whether CYFIP2 and CSP α expression are reduced in AD brain at the transcriptional level to support this model.

Acetylation of lysine residues in histone protein , relaxes the chromatin structure, exposing the genes to the transcription factors(Brownell and Allis, 1996) *(Brownell, Allis, Curr Opinio Gen Development, 1996)* . Histone acetylation is regulated by opposing activities of Histone Deacetylase (HDAC) and Histone Acetyl Tranferase enzyme (Berger et al., 2009) . A segment in N-terminal region of HDAC1 within its catalytic site for histone deacetylation, binds directly with p25 and this interaction impairs HDAC1 activity (Kim et al., 2008). P25 down regulation will lead to increased HDAC activity. Reduced HDAC may lead to reduced transcription of genes as less of those genes will be accessible to the transcription factors. CYFIP and CSP α could be

one of those genes which might be regulated by this mechanism, causing the reduction in their levels, though this hasn't been studied by any group yet.

Ubiquitin-Proteasomal machinery could be another pathway that might be effected by decreased p25-CDK5 activity. P25-CDK5 in nucleus might be involved in regulation of genes that inhibit the proteasomal activity. Also, It has been shown that p25/CDK5 activity on its own is sufficient for the stability of cyclin B1 proteins in cortical neurons(Maestre et al., 2008). A decrease in P25 levels could lead to increase in proteasomal degradation of synaptic proteins (which may include CYFIP and CSP α proteins) either by reduced availability of P25 for target protein stabilization or by reduced transcription of proteasomal inhibitor genes . However, many studies have shown that proteasomal mechanism is inhibited in AD, leading to increased amyloid beta(Kumar et al., 2007, Kaneko et al., 2010, Gong et al., 2010). So, the impact of p25 mediated proteasomal degradation of CYFIP and CSP α in AD is an open question.

The downregulation of CSP α on the presynaptic side will lead to impaired synaptic vesicular trafficking as well as reduced clearance of amyloid species from the pre-synaptic side, thereby causing synaptic impairments. On the post synaptic side, the downregulation of CYFIP2 can have two types of effect. First, it might impair the cytoskeletal machinery by affecting the working of WAVE complexes, since CYFIP2 is an essential component of this complex (Derivery et al., 2009). This is evident from the results obtained in a recent B.Sc project on dendritic spine morphology in the hippocampal CA1 region in CYFIP2^{+/-} mice, which showed a reduction of stubby/mushroom spines, the type needed for long-term memory retention. The reduction in mushroom/ stubby spines observed in this work suggests there may be a defect in cytoskeletal structure. Second, the CYFIP2 downregulation might lead to a

toxic, unrepressed translation of dendritically localized mRNA since CYFIP molecules are part of a FMRP based local translation repression complex (Schenck et al., 2001, Napoli et al., 2008). These locally regulated mRNA molecules consist of cytoskeletal proteins like MAP1B, which will again affect dendritic or synaptic structure (Brown et al., 2001, Nolze et al., 2013). Also, APP mRNA is regulated by this translation repression complex (Westmark and Malter, 2007). Downregulation of CYFIP2 will lead to overexpression of APP proteins at synapses. Towards the end of this PhD study, this overexpression was demonstrated by a recent B.Sc project in our lab following analysis of crude hippocampal synaptosomes isolated from the CYFIP2^{+/-} mice. Overexpression of APP may lead to increased release of toxic amyloid species at the synapse. Toxic amyloid oligomers may further interact on both presynaptic and post synaptic sides, leading to synaptic loss as well as aggravating the p25-dependent pathway. The proposed model is explained in **Figure 5.1**.



Figure 5.1. p25-CYFIP2-CSPα feed-forward model of AD synaptotoxicity. (*A*) In normal individuals, p25 may act as a signal from the synapse to the nucleus leading to transcriptional expression of presynaptic genes (e.g. CSPα) or postsynaptic genes (e.g. CYFIP2). CSPα is involved in synaptic vesicule trafficking and clearance of toxic species. CYFIP2 is a component of local translation repression complex which regulates expression of many mRNAs at the synapse in an activity-dependent manner. These mRNAs encode APP as well as many cytoskeltal proteins like MAP1B. (B) In patients with Alzheimer's disease (mild stage), there is a downregulation of p25 molecules, possibly due to the effect of amyloid oligomers on NMDA receptor function. This downregulation leads to reductions in CSPα and CYFIP2 mRNA expression. Downregulation of CSPα is synaptoxic. At the same time downregulation of CYFIP2 leads to removal of local translation repression and toxic overexpression of many

mRNAs. Overexpression of MAP1B mRNA would affect the cytoskeletal mechanisms influencing spine structure. At the other end, overexpression of APP would lead to more amyloidogenic processing releasing amyloid β monomers and oligomers into the synapse. This toxic release of amyloid species would further impair pre- and postsynaptic mechanisms leading to synaptotoxicity. Also, the amyloid species may complete this feed-forward loop by causing further downregulation of p25 molecules.

5.6. Future studies

To test the above model, as well as to develop better mechanistic insights about how CYFIP1/2 and CSP α contribute to synaptic impairments, a number of studies can be performed in the future. Specifically, it is of interest to address the following questions:

1) *Is CYFIP2 important for spatial memory*? Our studies have shown that CYFIP2^{+/-} mice are not impaired in visible platform tests, which makes them suitable for performing Morris water maze tests – the gold standard for testing spatial memory. Impaired spatial memory formation in CYFIP2^{+/-} mice would point to hippocampal impairments and would provide a functional link with the synapse morphology phenotype which was detected in area CA1.

2) What are the molecules downstream of CYFIP2 at synapses? More biochemical studies using CYFIP2^{+/-} synaptosomes will have to be performed to understand the downstream impact of CYFIP2 expression at synapses. A mass spectrometric study could be performed to identify alterations in synaptic protein expression caused by CYFIP2 downregulation.

3) *What is the synaptic phenotype of CYFIP2^{+/-} mice and is there an effect of age*? This could be ascertained by performing electrophysiological studies at different age points to assess whether synaptic plasticity, such as long-term potentiation, is affected by reduced CYFIP2 expression.

4) What kind of changes occurs in the synaptic biochemistry, dendritic morphology, synaptic electrophysiology and behaviour of models if CYFIP2 is knocked-down conditionally at different ages rather than globally? During my PhD project, I have developed CYFIP2 shRNA packaged in an adeno-associated viral delivery system. This could be used to perform conditional knock-down of CYFIP2 expression, followed by a multi-level analysis of the phenotype.

5) *Could overexpression of CYFIP2 rescue synaptic and behavioural impairments*? This could be studied by virus-mediated overexpression of CYFIP2 in the CYFIP2^{+/-} mouse model and determining if the phenotypes have been rescued.

6) *Is local protein translation impaired in AD mouse models*? This could be tested by incorporating radioactive lysine and monitoring the level and distribution of different proteins at synapse in mouse models of AD.

7) Is CSPa overexpression neuroprotective as suggested from observations in cerebellum of AD patients? I have cloned a CSPa overexpressing plasmid (a gift from Prof. Sudhof's lab), which could be packaged in a lentiviral delivery system to be injected in the hippocampus of mouse models of AD. This approach could analyze if CSPa overexpression rescues synaptic impairments or deficits in memory formation.

5.7. Conclusion

Synaptotoxicity in AD is an important event that precedes neurodegeneration, however the factors leading to it are not well known. This PhD study was aimed at uncovering novel candidate molecular pathways that could be involved in synaptotoxicity (or synaptic protection) in AD. From this study, CYFIP2 and CSP α have emerged as two novel p25-regulated synaptic molecules at the opposite sides of synaptic clefts, which might play an important role in synaptotoxicity from the onset of AD. Furthermore, a new role for CYFIP2 in memory retention has been established. CYFIP1 has emerged as one of the late markers of AD, possibly contributing to synaptotoxicity in severe stages. At the same time, CSP α upregulation has emerged as a possible neuroprotective factor in AD. Further detailed functional analysis is proposed to be carried out in future to build on this study as well as to establish the validity of the **p25-CYFIP2-CSPa feed-forward model** of AD proposed in this project. If the proposed model were correct, it would lead to novel diagnostic and therapeutic targets for addressing the challenge of AD in future.

Supplementary Data

Table S1. The details of mice used in this study. Cb- Cerebellum, Hc-Hippocampus, Fx- Frontal cortex.

A. Young hTau mice

S.No	Genotype	Age	Sex	Tissue
1	hTau	3-4 Months	F	Cb,Hc,Fx
2	hTau	3-4 Months	М	Cb,Hc,Fx
3	hTau	3-4 Months	М	Cb,Hc,Fx
4	hTau	3-4 Months	М	Cb,Hc,Fx
5	hTau	3-4 Months	М	Cb,Hc,Fx
6	hTau	3-4 Months	М	Cb,Hc,Fx
7	Wild	3-4 Months	F	Cb,Hc,Fx
8	Wild	3-4 Months	М	Cb,Hc,Fx
9	Wild	3-4 Months	М	Cb,Hc,Fx
10	Wild	3-4 Months	М	Cb,Hc,Fx
11	Wild	3-4 Months	М	Cb,Hc,Fx
12	Wild	3-4 Months	F	Cb,Hc,Fx

B. Aged hTau mice

S.No	Genotype	Age	Sex	Tissue
1	Wild	24 Months	F	Hc,Fx
2	Wild	24 Months	F	Hc,Fx
3	Wild	24 Months	М	Hc,Fx
4	Wild	24 Months	М	Hc,Fx
5	hTau	24 Months	М	Hc,Fx
6	hTau	24 Months	М	Hc,Fx
7	hTau	24 Months	F	Hc,Fx
8	hTau	24 Months	F	Hc,Fx
9	hTau	24 Months	М	Hc,Fx
10	hTau	24 Months	F	Hc,Fx
11	hTau	24 Months	F	Hc,Fx

C. Tg276 mice

S.No	Genotype	Age	Sex	Tissue
1	Tg2576	10-12 Months	М	Cb,Fx,Hc
2	Tg2576	10-12 Months	М	Cb,Fx,Hc
3	Tg2576	10-12 Months	F	Cb,Fx,Hc
4	Wild	10-12 Months	М	Cb,Fx,Hc
5	Wild	10-12 Months	М	Cb,Fx,Hc
6	Wild	10-12 Months	М	Cb,Fx,Hc
7	Wild	10-12 Months	F	Cb,Fx,Hc
8	Tg2576	4 Months	F	Cb,Fx,Hc
9	Tg2576	4 Months	М	Cb,Fx,Hc
10	Tg2576	4 Months	F	Cb,Fx,Hc
11	Tg2576	4 Months	М	Cb,Fx,Hc
12	Wild	4 Months	М	Cb,Fx,Hc
13	Wild	4 Months	М	Cb,Fx,Hc
14	Wild	4 Months	F	Cb,Fx,Hc
15	Wild	4 Months	F	Cb,Fx,Hc



Figure S1. Decreased CSP α immunostaining in Alzheimer's disease hippocampus and STG. Fixed hippocampal sections from a patient with severe Alzheimer's disease (A) and a control subject(C) were probed with anti-CSP α antibodies for analysis of CSP α expression. Sections from the hippocampus with the granular cell layer show decreased immunoreactivity with a synaptic staining pattern in AD as compared to agematched control case. A similar analysis was carried out with STG from a patient with severe Alzheimer's Disease (B) and a control subject (D). In the STG there is decreased immunoreactivity in AD as compared to age-matched controls. CSP α expression in both the regions from the AD patient appeared lower than in the control subject. Haematoxylin counterstain. Original magnification: x400. Scale bars represent 20 μ m.



Figure S2. CSPa levels are not changed in Tg2576 mouse forebrain. (A) CSPa levels in 4 month old Tg2576 mouse forebrain, (B) CSPa levels in 12 month old Tg2576 mouse forebrain. The statistics from forebrain of Tg2576, 4 month (n=4) showed no change compared to wild type (n=4) in CSP levels when normalized with NSE (t=1.935, p =0.101). There was also no change in the CSP levels at 12 month (wild,n=4;Tg2576,n=3) stage in Tg2576 forebrain compared to control (t= - 0.449, p= 0.672).
References

- ABEKHOUKH, S. & BARDONI, B. 2014. CYFIP family proteins between autism and intellectual disability: links with Fragile X syndrome. *Front Cell Neurosci*, 8, 81.
- ALONSO-NANCLARES, L., MERINO-SERRAIS, P., GONZALEZ, S. & DEFELIPE, J. 2013. Synaptic changes in the dentate gyrus of APP/PS1 transgenic mice revealed by electron microscopy. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, 72, 386-95.
- ALZHEIMER, A., STELZMANN, R. A., SCHNITZLEIN, H. N. & MURTAGH, F. R. 1995. An English translation of Alzheimer's 1907 paper, "Uber eine eigenartige Erkankung der Hirnrinde". *Clin Anat*, 8, 429-31.
- ANDORFER, C., ACKER, C. M., KRESS, Y., HOF, P. R., DUFF, K. & DAVIES, P. 2005. Cell-cycle reentry and cell death in transgenic mice expressing nonmutant human tau isoforms. J *Neurosci*, 25, 5446-54.
- ANDORFER, C., KRESS, Y., ESPINOZA, M., DE SILVA, R., TUCKER, K. L., BARDE, Y. A., DUFF, K. & DAVIES, P. 2003. Hyperphosphorylation and aggregation of tau in mice expressing normal human tau isoforms. *J Neurochem*, 86, 582-90.
- ANDREADIS, A., BROWN, W. M. & KOSIK, K. S. 1992. Structure and novel exons of the human tau gene. *Biochemistry*, 31, 10626-33.
- ANGELO, M., PLATTNER, F., IRVINE, E. E. & GIESE, K. P. 2003. Improved reversal learning and altered fear conditioning in transgenic mice with regionally restricted p25 expression. *Eur J Neurosci*, 18, 423-31.
- ANITEI, M., STANGE, C., PARSHINA, I., BAUST, T., SCHENCK, A., RAPOSO, G., KIRCHHAUSEN, T. & HOFLACK, B. 2010. Protein complexes containing CYFIP/Sra/PIR121 coordinate Arf1 and Rac1 signalling during clathrin-AP-1-coated carrier biogenesis at the TGN. *Nat Cell Biol*, 12, 330-40.
- ARENDT, T. 2009. Synaptic degeneration in Alzheimer's disease. *Acta Neuropathol,* 118, 167-79.
- BARTUS, R. T. 1979. Physostigmine and recent memory: effects in young and aged nonhuman primates. *Science*, 206, 1087-9.
- BELL, K. A., O'RIORDAN, K. J., SWEATT, J. D. & DINELEY, K. T. 2004. MAPK recruitment by betaamyloid in organotypic hippocampal slice cultures depends on physical state and exposure time. J Neurochem, 91, 349-61.
- BELL, K. F., DUCATENZEILER, A., RIBEIRO-DA-SILVA, A., DUFF, K., BENNETT, D. A. & CUELLO, A.
 C. 2006. The amyloid pathology progresses in a neurotransmitter-specific manner. *Neurobiol Aging*, 27, 1644-57.
- BENITEZ, B. A., ALVARADO, D., CAI, Y., MAYO, K., CHAKRAVERTY, S., NORTON, J., MORRIS, J. C., SANDS, M. S., GOATE, A. & CRUCHAGA, C. 2011. Exome-sequencing confirms DNAJC5 mutations as cause of adult neuronal ceroid-lipofuscinosis. *PLoS One*, 6, e26741.
- BENNETT, B. D., BABU-KHAN, S., LOELOFF, R., LOUIS, J. C., CURRAN, E., CITRON, M. & VASSAR, R. 2000. Expression analysis of BACE2 in brain and peripheral tissues. *J Biol Chem*, 275, 20647-51.
- BENZING, W. C., WUJEK, J. R., WARD, E. K., SHAFFER, D., ASHE, K. H., YOUNKIN, S. G. & BRUNDEN, K. R. 1999. Evidence for glial-mediated inflammation in aged APP(SW) transgenic mice. *Neurobiol Aging*, 20, 581-9.
- BERARDI, N., PIZZORUSSO, T. & MAFFEI, L. 2000. Critical periods during sensory development. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, 10, 138-45.
- BERCHTOLD, N. C., COLEMAN, P. D., CRIBBS, D. H., ROGERS, J., GILLEN, D. L. & COTMAN, C. W. 2013. Synaptic genes are extensively downregulated across multiple brain regions in normal human aging and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging*, 34, 1653-61.

- BERGER, S. L., KOUZARIDES, T., SHIEKHATTAR, R. & SHILATIFARD, A. 2009. An operational definition of epigenetics. *Genes Dev*, 23, 781-3.
- BEYREUTHER, K., POLLWEIN, P., MULTHAUP, G., MONNING, U., KONIG, G., DYRKS, T., SCHUBERT, W. & MASTERS, C. L. 1993. Regulation and expression of the Alzheimer's beta/A4 amyloid protein precursor in health, disease, and Down's syndrome. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 695, 91-102.
- BEZPROZVANNY, I. & MATTSON, M. P. 2008. Neuronal calcium mishandling and the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Trends Neurosci*, 31, 454-63.
- BHAT, R. V., BUDD HAEBERLEIN, S. L. & AVILA, J. 2004. Glycogen synthase kinase 3: a drug target for CNS therapies. *J Neurochem*, 89, 1313-7.
- BIEDERER, T., CAO, X., SUDHOF, T. C. & LIU, X. 2002. Regulation of APP-dependent transcription complexes by Mint/X11s: differential functions of Mint isoforms. J Neurosci, 22, 7340-51.
- BLANCHARD, B. J., THOMAS, V. L. & INGRAM, V. M. 2002. Mechanism of membrane depolarization caused by the Alzheimer Abeta1-42 peptide. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 293, 1197-203.
- BOGDAN, S., GREWE, O., STRUNK, M., MERTENS, A. & KLAMBT, C. 2004. Sra-1 interacts with Kette and Wasp and is required for neuronal and bristle development in Drosophila. *Development*, 131, 3981-9.
- BONINI, N. M. & FORTINI, M. E. 2003. Human neurodegenerative disease modeling using Drosophila. *Annu Rev Neurosci*, 26, 627-56.
- BORG, J. P., OOI, J., LEVY, E. & MARGOLIS, B. 1996. The phosphotyrosine interaction domains of X11 and FE65 bind to distinct sites on the YENPTY motif of amyloid precursor protein. *Mol Cell Biol*, 16, 6229-41.
- BOZDAGI, O., SAKURAI, T., DORR, N., PILORGE, M., TAKAHASHI, N. & BUXBAUM, J. D. 2012. Haploinsufficiency of Cyfip1 produces fragile X-like phenotypes in mice. *PLoS One*, 7, e42422.
- BRAAK, H. & BRAAK, E. 1991a. Alzheimer's disease affects limbic nuclei of the thalamus. *Acta Neuropathol*, 81, 261-8.
- BRAAK, H. & BRAAK, E. 1991b. Neuropathological stageing of Alzheimer-related changes. *Acta Neuropathol*, 82, 239-59.
- BRAUN, J. E. & SCHELLER, R. H. 1995. Cysteine string protein, a DnaJ family member, is present on diverse secretory vesicles. *Neuropharmacology*, 34, 1361-9.
- BRONK, P., NIE, Z., KLOSE, M. K., DAWSON-SCULLY, K., ZHANG, J., ROBERTSON, R. M., ATWOOD, H. L. & ZINSMAIER, K. E. 2005. The multiple functions of cysteine-string protein analyzed at Drosophila nerve terminals. *J Neurosci*, 25, 2204-14.
- BROWN, V., JIN, P., CEMAN, S., DARNELL, J. C., O'DONNELL, W. T., TENENBAUM, S. A., JIN, X., FENG, Y., WILKINSON, K. D., KEENE, J. D., DARNELL, R. B. & WARREN, S. T. 2001. Microarray identification of FMRP-associated brain mRNAs and altered mRNA translational profiles in fragile X syndrome. *Cell*, 107, 477-87.
- BROWNE, C. E., DENNIS, N. R., MAHER, E., LONG, F. L., NICHOLSON, J. C., SILLIBOURNE, J. & BARBER, J. C. 1997. Inherited interstitial duplications of proximal 15q: genotypephenotype correlations. *Am J Hum Genet*, 61, 1342-52.
- BROWNELL, J. E. & ALLIS, C. D. 1996. Special HATs for special occasions: linking histone acetylation to chromatin assembly and gene activation. *Curr Opin Genet Dev*, 6, 176-84.
- BUCHNER, E., BADER, R., BUCHNER, S., COX, J., EMSON, P. C., FLORY, E., HEIZMANN, C. W., HEMM, S., HOFBAUER, A. & OERTEL, W. H. 1988. Cell-specific immuno-probes for the brain of normal and mutant Drosophila melanogaster. I. Wildtype visual system. *Cell Tissue Res*, 253, 357-70.
- BUEE, L., BUSSIERE, T., BUEE-SCHERRER, V., DELACOURTE, A. & HOF, P. R. 2000. Tau protein isoforms, phosphorylation and role in neurodegenerative disorders. *Brain Res Brain Res Rev*, 33, 95-130.

- BUTTERFIELD, D. A., REED, T. T., PERLUIGI, M., DE MARCO, C., COCCIA, R., KELLER, J. N., MARKESBERY, W. R. & SULTANA, R. 2007. Elevated levels of 3-nitrotyrosine in brain from subjects with amnestic mild cognitive impairment: implications for the role of nitration in the progression of Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Res*, 1148, 243-8.
- CACCAMO, A., MALDONADO, M. A., MAJUMDER, S., MEDINA, D. X., HOLBEIN, W., MAGRI, A. & ODDO, S. 2011. Naturally secreted amyloid-beta increases mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) activity via a PRAS40-mediated mechanism. *J Biol Chem*, 286, 8924-32.
- CAJIGAS, I. J., TUSHEV, G., WILL, T. J., TOM DIECK, S., FUERST, N. & SCHUMAN, E. M. 2012. The local transcriptome in the synaptic neuropil revealed by deep sequencing and high-resolution imaging. *Neuron*, 74, 453-66.
- CANAS, P. M., SIMOES, A. P., RODRIGUES, R. J. & CUNHA, R. A. 2014. Predominant loss of glutamatergic terminal markers in a beta-amyloid peptide model of Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropharmacology*, 76 Pt A, 51-6.
- CAO, Q., HUANG, Y. S., KAN, M. C. & RICHTER, J. D. 2005. Amyloid precursor proteins anchor CPEB to membranes and promote polyadenylation-induced translation. *Mol Cell Biol*, 25, 10930-9.
- CASSIDY, S. B., DYKENS, E. & WILLIAMS, C. A. 2000. Prader-Willi and Angelman syndromes: sister imprinted disorders. *Am J Med Genet*, 97, 136-46.
- CASTEGNA, A., THONGBOONKERD, V., KLEIN, J. B., LYNN, B., MARKESBERY, W. R. & BUTTERFIELD, D. A. 2003. Proteomic identification of nitrated proteins in Alzheimer's disease brain. *J Neurochem*, 85, 1394-401.
- CHAI, J. H., LOCKE, D. P., GREALLY, J. M., KNOLL, J. H., OHTA, T., DUNAI, J., YAVOR, A., EICHLER, E. E. & NICHOLLS, R. D. 2003. Identification of four highly conserved genes between breakpoint hotspots BP1 and BP2 of the Prader-Willi/Angelman syndromes deletion region that have undergone evolutionary transposition mediated by flanking duplicons. *Am J Hum Genet*, 73, 898-925.
- CHAMBERLAIN, L. H., HENRY, J. & BURGOYNE, R. D. 1996. Cysteine string proteins are associated with chromaffin granules. *J Biol Chem*, 271, 19514-7.
- CHANDRA, S., GALLARDO, G., FERNANDEZ-CHACON, R., SCHLUTER, O. M. & SUDHOF, T. C. 2005. Alpha-synuclein cooperates with CSPalpha in preventing neurodegeneration. *Cell*, 123, 383-96.
- CHANG, R. Y., NOUWENS, A. S., DODD, P. R. & ETHERIDGE, N. 2013. The synaptic proteome in Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement*, 9, 499-511.
- CHAPMAN, P. F., WHITE, G. L., JONES, M. W., COOPER-BLACKETER, D., MARSHALL, V. J., IRIZARRY, M., YOUNKIN, L., GOOD, M. A., BLISS, T. V., HYMAN, B. T., YOUNKIN, S. G. & HSIAO, K. K. 1999. Impaired synaptic plasticity and learning in aged amyloid precursor protein transgenic mice. *Nat Neurosci*, 2, 271-6.
- CHARTIER-HARLIN, M. C., PARFITT, M., LEGRAIN, S., PEREZ-TUR, J., BROUSSEAU, T., EVANS, A., BERR, C., VIDAL, O., ROQUES, P., GOURLET, V. & ET AL. 1994. Apolipoprotein E, epsilon 4 allele as a major risk factor for sporadic early and late-onset forms of Alzheimer's disease: analysis of the 19q13.2 chromosomal region. *Hum Mol Genet*, 3, 569-74.
- CHEN, B., BRINKMANN, K., CHEN, Z., PAK, C. W., LIAO, Y., SHI, S., HENRY, L., GRISHIN, N. V., BOGDAN, S. & ROSEN, M. K. 2014. The WAVE regulatory complex links diverse receptors to the actin cytoskeleton. *Cell*, 156, 195-207.
- CHENG, S. V., NADEAU, J. H., TANZI, R. E., WATKINS, P. C., JAGADESH, J., TAYLOR, B. A., HAINES, J. L., SACCHI, N. & GUSELLA, J. F. 1988. Comparative mapping of DNA markers from the familial Alzheimer disease and Down syndrome regions of human chromosome 21 to mouse chromosomes 16 and 17. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 85, 6032-6.
- CHIN, J., PALOP, J. J., PUOLIVALI, J., MASSARO, C., BIEN-LY, N., GERSTEIN, H., SCEARCE-LEVIE, K., MASLIAH, E. & MUCKE, L. 2005. Fyn kinase induces synaptic and cognitive

impairments in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurosci,* 25, 9694-703.

- CHRISTENSEN, D. Z., KRAUS, S. L., FLOHR, A., COTEL, M. C., WIRTHS, O. & BAYER, T. A. 2008. Transient intraneuronal A beta rather than extracellular plaque pathology correlates with neuron loss in the frontal cortex of APP/PS1KI mice. *Acta Neuropathol*, 116, 647-55.
- CISSE, M., HALABISKY, B., HARRIS, J., DEVIDZE, N., DUBAL, D. B., SUN, B., ORR, A., LOTZ, G., KIM, D. H., HAMTO, P., HO, K., YU, G. Q. & MUCKE, L. 2011. Reversing EphB2 depletion rescues cognitive functions in Alzheimer model. *Nature*, 469, 47-52.
- CLAASEN, A. M., GUEVREMONT, D., MASON-PARKER, S. E., BOURNE, K., TATE, W. P., ABRAHAM, W. C. & WILLIAMS, J. M. 2009. Secreted amyloid precursor protein-alpha upregulates synaptic protein synthesis by a protein kinase G-dependent mechanism. *Neurosci Lett*, 460, 92-6.
- CORDER, E. H., SAUNDERS, A. M., STRITTMATTER, W. J., SCHMECHEL, D. E., GASKELL, P. C., SMALL, G. W., ROSES, A. D., HAINES, J. L. & PERICAK-VANCE, M. A. 1993. Gene dose of apolipoprotein E type 4 allele and the risk of Alzheimer's disease in late onset families. *Science*, 261, 921-3.
- CORY, G. O. & RIDLEY, A. J. 2002. Cell motility: braking WAVEs. Nature, 418, 732-3.
- CRUTS, M., GIJSELINCK, I., VAN LANGENHOVE, T., VAN DER ZEE, J. & VAN BROECKHOVEN, C. 2013. Current insights into the C9orf72 repeat expansion diseases of the FTLD/ALS spectrum. *Trends Neurosci*, 36, 450-9.
- CYNIS, H., SCHEEL, E., SAIDO, T. C., SCHILLING, S. & DEMUTH, H. U. 2008. Amyloidogenic processing of amyloid precursor protein: evidence of a pivotal role of glutaminyl cyclase in generation of pyroglutamate-modified amyloid-beta. *Biochemistry*, 47, 7405-13.
- D'AMELIO, M., CAVALLUCCI, V., MIDDEI, S., MARCHETTI, C., PACIONI, S., FERRI, A., DIAMANTINI, A., DE ZIO, D., CARRARA, P., BATTISTINI, L., MORENO, S., BACCI, A., AMMASSARI-TEULE, M., MARIE, H. & CECCONI, F. 2011. Caspase-3 triggers early synaptic dysfunction in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Neurosci*, 14, 69-76.
- D'HOOGE, R. & DE DEYN, P. P. 2001. Applications of the Morris water maze in the study of learning and memory. *Brain Res Brain Res Rev*, 36, 60-90.
- DARNELL, J. C., VAN DRIESCHE, S. J., ZHANG, C., HUNG, K. Y., MELE, A., FRASER, C. E., STONE, E. F., CHEN, C., FAK, J. J., CHI, S. W., LICATALOSI, D. D., RICHTER, J. D. & DARNELL, R. B. 2011. FMRP stalls ribosomal translocation on mRNAs linked to synaptic function and autism. *Cell*, 146, 247-61.
- DAVIES, P. & MALONEY, A. J. 1976. Selective loss of central cholinergic neurons in Alzheimer's disease. *Lancet*, *2*, 1403.
- DE FELICE, F. G., VELASCO, P. T., LAMBERT, M. P., VIOLA, K., FERNANDEZ, S. J., FERREIRA, S. T. & KLEIN, W. L. 2007. Abeta oligomers induce neuronal oxidative stress through an N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-dependent mechanism that is blocked by the Alzheimer drug memantine. *J Biol Chem*, 282, 11590-601.
- DE RUBEIS, S. & BAGNI, C. 2011. Regulation of molecular pathways in the Fragile X Syndrome: insights into Autism Spectrum Disorders. *J Neurodev Disord*, 3, 257-69.
- DE RUBEIS, S., PASCIUTO, E., LI, K. W., FERNANDEZ, E., DI MARINO, D., BUZZI, A., OSTROFF, L. E., KLANN, E., ZWARTKRUIS, F. J., KOMIYAMA, N. H., GRANT, S. G., POUJOL, C., CHOQUET, D., ACHSEL, T., POSTHUMA, D., SMIT, A. B. & BAGNI, C. 2013. CYFIP1 coordinates mRNA translation and cytoskeleton remodeling to ensure proper dendritic spine formation. *Neuron*, 79, 1169-82.
- DEKOSKY, S. T. & SCHEFF, S. W. 1990. Synapse loss in frontal cortex biopsies in Alzheimer's disease: correlation with cognitive severity. *Ann Neurol*, 27, 457-64.

- DEKOSKY, S. T., SCHEFF, S. W. & STYREN, S. D. 1996. Structural correlates of cognition in dementia: quantification and assessment of synapse change. *Neurodegeneration*, 5, 417-21.
- DERIVERY, E., LOMBARD, B., LOEW, D. & GAUTREAU, A. 2009. The Wave complex is intrinsically inactive. *Cell Motil Cytoskeleton*, 66, 777-90.
- DINAMARCA, M. C., RIOS, J. A. & INESTROSA, N. C. 2012. Postsynaptic Receptors for Amyloidbeta Oligomers as Mediators of Neuronal Damage in Alzheimer's Disease. *Front Physiol*, 3, 464.
- DUFF, K., KNIGHT, H., REFOLO, L. M., SANDERS, S., YU, X., PICCIANO, M., MALESTER, B., HUTTON, M., ADAMSON, J., GOEDERT, M., BURKI, K. & DAVIES, P. 2000. Characterization of pathology in transgenic mice over-expressing human genomic and cDNA tau transgenes. *Neurobiol Dis*, 7, 87-98.
- DUILIO, A., FARAONIO, R., MINOPOLI, G., ZAMBRANO, N. & RUSSO, T. 1998. Fe65L2: a new member of the Fe65 protein family interacting with the intracellular domain of the Alzheimer's beta-amyloid precursor protein. *Biochem J*, 330 (Pt 1), 513-9.
- EDBAUER, D., WINKLER, E., REGULA, J. T., PESOLD, B., STEINER, H. & HAASS, C. 2003. Reconstitution of gamma-secretase activity. *Nat Cell Biol*, *5*, 486-8.
- ENGMANN, O., HORTOBAGYI, T., THOMPSON, A. J., GUADAGNO, J., TROAKES, C., SORIANO, S., AL-SARRAJ, S., KIM, Y. & GIESE, K. P. 2011. Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 activator p25 is generated during memory formation and is reduced at an early stage in Alzheimer's disease. *Biol Psychiatry*, 70, 159-68.
- EVANS, G. J. & MORGAN, A. 2005. Phosphorylation of cysteine string protein in the brain: developmental, regional and synaptic specificity. *Eur J Neurosci*, 21, 2671-80.
- EVANS, G. J., MORGAN, A. & BURGOYNE, R. D. 2003. Tying everything together: the multiple roles of cysteine string protein (CSP) in regulated exocytosis. *Traffic*, 4, 653-9.
- EYBALIN, M., RENARD, N., AURE, F. & SAFIEDDINE, S. 2002. Cysteine-string protein in inner hair cells of the organ of Corti: synaptic expression and upregulation at the onset of hearing. *Eur J Neurosci*, 15, 1409-20.
- FARLOW, M. R., MILLER, M. L. & PEJOVIC, V. 2008. Treatment options in Alzheimer's disease: maximizing benefit, managing expectations. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord*, 25, 408-22.
- FARRIS, W., MANSOURIAN, S., CHANG, Y., LINDSLEY, L., ECKMAN, E. A., FROSCH, M. P., ECKMAN, C. B., TANZI, R. E., SELKOE, D. J. & GUENETTE, S. 2003. Insulin-degrading enzyme regulates the levels of insulin, amyloid beta-protein, and the beta-amyloid precursor protein intracellular domain in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 100, 4162-7.
- FERNANDEZ-CHACON, R., WOLFEL, M., NISHIMUNE, H., TABARES, L., SCHMITZ, F., CASTELLANO-MUNOZ, M., ROSENMUND, C., MONTESINOS, M. L., SANES, J. R., SCHNEGGENBURGER, R. & SUDHOF, T. C. 2004. The synaptic vesicle protein CSP alpha prevents presynaptic degeneration. *Neuron*, 42, 237-51.
- FIORE, F., ZAMBRANO, N., MINOPOLI, G., DONINI, V., DUILIO, A. & RUSSO, T. 1995. The regions of the Fe65 protein homologous to the phosphotyrosine interaction/phosphotyrosine binding domain of Shc bind the intracellular domain of the Alzheimer's amyloid precursor protein. *J Biol Chem*, 270, 30853-6.
- FISCHER, A., SANANBENESI, F., PANG, P. T., LU, B. & TSAI, L. H. 2005. Opposing roles of transient and prolonged expression of p25 in synaptic plasticity and hippocampus-dependent memory. *Neuron*, 48, 825-38.
- FODERO, L. R., SAEZ-VALERO, J., MCLEAN, C. A., MARTINS, R. N., BEYREUTHER, K., MASTERS, C. L., ROBERTSON, T. A. & SMALL, D. H. 2002. Altered glycosylation of acetylcholinesterase in APP (SW) Tg2576 transgenic mice occurs prior to amyloid plaque deposition. J Neurochem, 81, 441-8.
- FRAUTSCHY, S. A., YANG, F., IRRIZARRY, M., HYMAN, B., SAIDO, T. C., HSIAO, K. & COLE, G. M. 1998. Microglial response to amyloid plaques in APPsw transgenic mice. *Am J Pathol*, 152, 307-17.

- GANDY, S. 2005. The role of cerebral amyloid beta accumulation in common forms of Alzheimer disease. *J Clin Invest*, 115, 1121-9.
- GANDY, S., SIMON, A. J., STEELE, J. W., LUBLIN, A. L., LAH, J. J., WALKER, L. C., LEVEY, A. I., KRAFFT, G. A., LEVY, E., CHECLER, F., GLABE, C., BILKER, W. B., ABEL, T., SCHMEIDLER, J. & EHRLICH, M. E. 2010. Days to criterion as an indicator of toxicity associated with human Alzheimer amyloid-beta oligomers. *Ann Neurol*, 68, 220-30.
- GANDY, S. E., CAPORASO, G. L., BUXBAUM, J. D., DE CRUZ SILVA, O., IVERFELDT, K., NORDSTEDT, C., SUZUKI, T., CZERNIK, A. J., NAIRN, A. C. & GREENGARD, P. 1993. Protein phosphorylation regulates relative utilization of processing pathways for Alzheimer beta/A4 amyloid precursor protein. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 695, 117-21.
- GAU, J. T., STEINHILB, M. L., KAO, T. C., D'AMATO, C. J., GAUT, J. R., FREY, K. A. & TURNER, R. S. 2002. Stable beta-secretase activity and presynaptic cholinergic markers during progressive central nervous system amyloidogenesis in Tg2576 mice. *Am J Pathol*, 160, 731-8.
- GAUTIER, J. J., LOMAKINA, M. E., BOUSLAMA-OUEGHLANI, L., DERIVERY, E., BEILINSON, H., FAIGLE, W., LOEW, D., LOUVARD, D., ECHARD, A., ALEXANDROVA, A. Y., BAUM, B. & GAUTREAU, A. 2011. Clathrin is required for Scar/Wave-mediated lamellipodium formation. J Cell Sci, 124, 3414-27.
- GHANI, M., PINTO, D., LEE, J. H., GRINBERG, Y., SATO, C., MORENO, D., SCHERER, S. W., MAYEUX, R., ST GEORGE-HYSLOP, P. & ROGAEVA, E. 2012. Genome-wide survey of large rare copy number variants in Alzheimer's disease among Caribbean hispanics. *G3* (*Bethesda*), 2, 71-8.
- GHOSAL, K., VOGT, D. L., LIANG, M., SHEN, Y., LAMB, B. T. & PIMPLIKAR, S. W. 2009. Alzheimer's disease-like pathological features in transgenic mice expressing the APP intracellular domain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106, 18367-72.
- GIESE, K. P. 2014. Generation of the Cdk5 activator p25 is a memory mechanism that is affected in early Alzheimer's disease. *Front Mol Neurosci*, **7**, 36.
- GLABE, C. C. 2005. Amyloid accumulation and pathogensis of Alzheimer's disease: significance of monomeric, oligomeric and fibrillar Abeta. *Subcell Biochem*, 38, 167-77.
- GLABE, C. G. 2008. Structural classification of toxic amyloid oligomers. J Biol Chem, 283, 29639-43.
- GOEDERT, M., SPILLANTINI, M. G., JAKES, R., RUTHERFORD, D. & CROWTHER, R. A. 1989a. Multiple isoforms of human microtubule-associated protein tau: sequences and localization in neurofibrillary tangles of Alzheimer's disease. *Neuron*, 3, 519-26.
- GOEDERT, M., SPILLANTINI, M. G., POTIER, M. C., ULRICH, J. & CROWTHER, R. A. 1989b. Cloning and sequencing of the cDNA encoding an isoform of microtubule-associated protein tau containing four tandem repeats: differential expression of tau protein mRNAs in human brain. *EMBO J*, 8, 393-9.
- GOLDE, T. E., ECKMAN, C. B. & YOUNKIN, S. G. 2000. Biochemical detection of Abeta isoforms: implications for pathogenesis, diagnosis, and treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1502, 172-87.
- GOLDGABER, D., LERMAN, M. I., MCBRIDE, O. W., SAFFIOTTI, U. & GAJDUSEK, D. C. 1987. Characterization and chromosomal localization of a cDNA encoding brain amyloid of Alzheimer's disease. *Science*, 235, 877-80.
- GONG, B., CHEN, F., PAN, Y., ARRIETA-CRUZ, I., YOSHIDA, Y., HAROUTUNIAN, V. & PASINETTI,
 G. M. 2010. SCFFbx2-E3-ligase-mediated degradation of BACE1 attenuates Alzheimer's disease amyloidosis and improves synaptic function. *Aging Cell*, 9, 1018-31.
- GOODGER, Z. V., RAJENDRAN, L., TRUTZEL, A., KOHLI, B. M., NITSCH, R. M. & KONIETZKO, U. 2009. Nuclear signaling by the APP intracellular domain occurs predominantly through the amyloidogenic processing pathway. *J Cell Sci*, 122, 3703-14.
- GRALLE, M., BOTELHO, M. G. & WOUTERS, F. S. 2009. Neuroprotective secreted amyloid precursor protein acts by disrupting amyloid precursor protein dimers. *J Biol Chem*, 284, 15016-25.

- GREAVES, J. & CHAMBERLAIN, L. H. 2007. Palmitoylation-dependent protein sorting. *J Cell Biol*, 176, 249-54.
- GREAVES, J., SALAUN, C., FUKATA, Y., FUKATA, M. & CHAMBERLAIN, L. H. 2008. Palmitoylation and membrane interactions of the neuroprotective chaperone cysteine-string protein. *J Biol Chem*, 283, 25014-26.
- GU, Y., MISONOU, H., SATO, T., DOHMAE, N., TAKIO, K. & IHARA, Y. 2001. Distinct intramembrane cleavage of the beta-amyloid precursor protein family resembling gamma-secretase-like cleavage of Notch. *J Biol Chem*, 276, 35235-8.
- GUNDERSEN, C. B. & UMBACH, J. A. 1992. Suppression cloning of the cDNA for a candidate subunit of a presynaptic calcium channel. *Neuron*, 9, 527-37.
- HALIM, A., BRINKMALM, G., RUETSCHI, U., WESTMAN-BRINKMALM, A., PORTELIUS, E., ZETTERBERG, H., BLENNOW, K., LARSON, G. & NILSSON, J. 2011. Site-specific characterization of threonine, serine, and tyrosine glycosylations of amyloid precursor protein/amyloid beta-peptides in human cerebrospinal fluid. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108, 11848-53.
- HAMDANE, M., SAMBO, A. V., DELOBEL, P., BEGARD, S., VIOLLEAU, A., DELACOURTE, A., BERTRAND, P., BENAVIDES, J. & BUEE, L. 2003. Mitotic-like tau phosphorylation by p25-Cdk5 kinase complex. *J Biol Chem*, 278, 34026-34.
- HAMID, R., KILGER, E., WILLEM, M., VASSALLO, N., KOSTKA, M., BORNHOVD, C., REICHERT, A. S., KRETZSCHMAR, H. A., HAASS, C. & HERMS, J. 2007. Amyloid precursor protein intracellular domain modulates cellular calcium homeostasis and ATP content. J Neurochem, 102, 1264-75.
- HARDY, J. & SELKOE, D. J. 2002. The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: progress and problems on the road to therapeutics. *Science*, 297, 353-6.
- HARDY, J. A. & HIGGINS, G. A. 1992. Alzheimer's disease: the amyloid cascade hypothesis. *Science*, 256, 184-5.
- HARTLEY, D. M., WALSH, D. M., YE, C. P., DIEHL, T., VASQUEZ, S., VASSILEV, P. M., TEPLOW, D.
 B. & SELKOE, D. J. 1999. Protofibrillar intermediates of amyloid beta-protein induce acute electrophysiological changes and progressive neurotoxicity in cortical neurons. J Neurosci, 19, 8876-84.
- HOE, H. S., LEE, H. K. & PAK, D. T. 2012. The upside of APP at synapses. *CNS Neurosci Ther*, 18, 47-56.
- HOEFFER, C. A., SANCHEZ, E., HAGERMAN, R. J., MU, Y., NGUYEN, D. V., WONG, H., WHELAN, A. M., ZUKIN, R. S., KLANN, E. & TASSONE, F. 2012. Altered mTOR signaling and enhanced CYFIP2 expression levels in subjects with fragile X syndrome. *Genes Brain Behav*, 11, 332-41.
- HOLTZMAN, D. M., MORRIS, J. C. & GOATE, A. M. 2011. Alzheimer's disease: the challenge of the second century. *Sci Transl Med*, 3, 77sr1.
- HSIAO, K., CHAPMAN, P., NILSEN, S., ECKMAN, C., HARIGAYA, Y., YOUNKIN, S., YANG, F. & COLE, G. 1996. Correlative memory deficits, Abeta elevation, and amyloid plaques in transgenic mice. *Science*, 274, 99-102.
- HSIEH, H., BOEHM, J., SATO, C., IWATSUBO, T., TOMITA, T., SISODIA, S. & MALINOW, R. 2006. AMPAR removal underlies Abeta-induced synaptic depression and dendritic spine loss. *Neuron*, 52, 831-43.
- HUTTON, M., LENDON, C. L., RIZZU, P., BAKER, M., FROELICH, S., HOULDEN, H., PICKERING-BROWN, S., CHAKRAVERTY, S., ISAACS, A., GROVER, A., HACKETT, J., ADAMSON, J., LINCOLN, S., DICKSON, D., DAVIES, P., PETERSEN, R. C., STEVENS, M., DE GRAAFF, E., WAUTERS, E., VAN BAREN, J., HILLEBRAND, M., JOOSSE, M., KWON, J. M., NOWOTNY, P., CHE, L. K., NORTON, J., MORRIS, J. C., REED, L. A., TROJANOWSKI, J., BASUN, H., LANNFELT, L., NEYSTAT, M., FAHN, S., DARK, F., TANNENBERG, T., DODD, P. R., HAYWARD, N., KWOK, J. B., SCHOFIELD, P. R., ANDREADIS, A., SNOWDEN, J., CRAUFURD, D., NEARY, D., OWEN, F., OOSTRA, B. A., HARDY, J., GOATE, A., VAN

SWIETEN, J., MANN, D., LYNCH, T. & HEUTINK, P. 1998. Association of missense and 5'-splice-site mutations in tau with the inherited dementia FTDP-17. *Nature*, 393, 702-5.

- HUYSSEUNE, S., KIENLEN-CAMPARD, P. & OCTAVE, J. N. 2007. Fe65 does not stabilize AICD during activation of transcription in a luciferase assay. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 361, 317-22.
- HYMAN, B. T., WEST, H. L., REBECK, G. W., BULDYREV, S. V., MANTEGNA, R. N., UKLEJA, M., HAVLIN, S. & STANLEY, H. E. 1995. Quantitative analysis of senile plaques in Alzheimer disease: observation of log-normal size distribution and molecular epidemiology of differences associated with apolipoprotein E genotype and trisomy 21 (Down syndrome). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 92, 3586-90.
- INGELSSON, M., FUKUMOTO, H., NEWELL, K. L., GROWDON, J. H., HEDLEY-WHYTE, E. T., FROSCH, M. P., ALBERT, M. S., HYMAN, B. T. & IRIZARRY, M. C. 2004. Early Abeta accumulation and progressive synaptic loss, gliosis, and tangle formation in AD brain. *Neurology*, 62, 925-31.
- IRIZARRY, M. C., MCNAMARA, M., FEDORCHAK, K., HSIAO, K. & HYMAN, B. T. 1997. APPSw transgenic mice develop age-related A beta deposits and neuropil abnormalities, but no neuronal loss in CA1. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 56, 965-73.
- ITTNER, L. M., KE, Y. D., DELERUE, F., BI, M., GLADBACH, A., VAN EERSEL, J., WOLFING, H., CHIENG, B. C., CHRISTIE, M. J., NAPIER, I. A., ECKERT, A., STAUFENBIEL, M., HARDEMAN, E. & GOTZ, J. 2010. Dendritic function of tau mediates amyloid-beta toxicity in Alzheimer's disease mouse models. *Cell*, 142, 387-97.
- JACKSON, R. S., 2ND, CHO, Y. J., STEIN, S. & LIANG, P. 2007. CYFIP2, a direct p53 target, is leptomycin-B sensitive. *Cell Cycle*, 6, 95-103.
- JAWHAR, S., WIRTHS, O. & BAYER, T. A. 2011. Pyroglutamate amyloid-beta (Abeta): a hatchet man in Alzheimer disease. *J Biol Chem*, 286, 38825-32.
- KALBACK, W., WATSON, M. D., KOKJOHN, T. A., KUO, Y. M., WEISS, N., LUEHRS, D. C., LOPEZ, J., BRUNE, D., SISODIA, S. S., STAUFENBIEL, M., EMMERLING, M. & ROHER, A. E. 2002. APP transgenic mice Tg2576 accumulate Abeta peptides that are distinct from the chemically modified and insoluble peptides deposited in Alzheimer's disease senile plaques. *Biochemistry*, 41, 922-8.
- KANEKO, M., KOIKE, H., SAITO, R., KITAMURA, Y., OKUMA, Y. & NOMURA, Y. 2010. Loss of HRD1-mediated protein degradation causes amyloid precursor protein accumulation and amyloid-beta generation. *J Neurosci*, 30, 3924-32.
- KAWANO, Y., YOSHIMURA, T., TSUBOI, D., KAWABATA, S., KANEKO-KAWANO, T., SHIRATAKI, H., TAKENAWA, T. & KAIBUCHI, K. 2005. CRMP-2 is involved in kinesin-1-dependent transport of the Sra-1/WAVE1 complex and axon formation. *Mol Cell Biol*, 25, 9920-35.
- KAWARABAYASHI, T., YOUNKIN, L. H., SAIDO, T. C., SHOJI, M., ASHE, K. H. & YOUNKIN, S. G. 2001. Age-dependent changes in brain, CSF, and plasma amyloid (beta) protein in the Tg2576 transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci, 21, 372-81.
- KAYED, R., HEAD, E., THOMPSON, J. L., MCINTIRE, T. M., MILTON, S. C., COTMAN, C. W. & GLABE, C. G. 2003. Common structure of soluble amyloid oligomers implies common mechanism of pathogenesis. *Science*, 300, 486-9.
- KELLEHER, I., GARWOOD, C., HANGER, D. P., ANDERTON, B. H. & NOBLE, W. 2007. Kinase activities increase during the development of tauopathy in htau mice. *J Neurochem*, 103, 2256-67.
- KIDD, M. 1963. Paired helical filaments in electron microscopy of Alzheimer's disease. *Nature*, 197, 192-3.
- KIM, D., FRANK, C. L., DOBBIN, M. M., TSUNEMOTO, R. K., TU, W., PENG, P. L., GUAN, J. S., LEE,
 B. H., MOY, L. Y., GIUSTI, P., BROODIE, N., MAZITSCHEK, R., DELALLE, I., HAGGARTY, S.
 J., NEVE, R. L., LU, Y. & TSAI, L. H. 2008. Deregulation of HDAC1 by p25/Cdk5 in neurotoxicity. *Neuron*, 60, 803-17.

- KIM, J., BASAK, J. M. & HOLTZMAN, D. M. 2009. The role of apolipoprotein E in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuron*, 63, 287-303.
- KIM, J. & SCHEKMAN, R. 2004. The ins and outs of presenilin 1 membrane topology. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101, 905-6.
- KING, A., AL-SARRAJ, S. & SHAW, C. 2009. Frontotemporal lobar degeneration with ubiquitinated tau-negative inclusions and additional alpha-synuclein pathology but also unusual cerebellar ubiquitinated p62-positive, TDP-43-negative inclusions. *Neuropathology*, 29, 466-71.
- KIROV, G., GROZEVA, D., NORTON, N., IVANOV, D., MANTRIPRAGADA, K. K., HOLMANS, P., INTERNATIONAL SCHIZOPHRENIA, C., WELLCOME TRUST CASE CONTROL, C., CRADDOCK, N., OWEN, M. J. & O'DONOVAN, M. C. 2009. Support for the involvement of large copy number variants in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia. *Hum Mol Genet*, 18, 1497-503.
- KLEIN, W. L. 2002. ADDLs & protofibrils--the missing links? Neurobiol Aging, 23, 231-5.
- KLEIN, W. L., STINE, W. B., JR. & TEPLOW, D. B. 2004. Small assemblies of unmodified amyloid beta-protein are the proximate neurotoxin in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging*, 25, 569-80.
- KOFFIE, R. M., HASHIMOTO, T., TAI, H. C., KAY, K. R., SERRANO-POZO, A., JOYNER, D., HOU, S., KOPEIKINA, K. J., FROSCH, M. P., LEE, V. M., HOLTZMAN, D. M., HYMAN, B. T. & SPIRES-JONES, T. L. 2012. Apolipoprotein E4 effects in Alzheimer's disease are mediated by synaptotoxic oligomeric amyloid-beta. *Brain*, 135, 2155-68.
- KOFFIE, R. M., HYMAN, B. T. & SPIRES-JONES, T. L. 2011. Alzheimer's disease: synapses gone cold. *Mol Neurodegener*, 6, 63.
- KOPAN, R. 2002. Notch: a membrane-bound transcription factor. J Cell Sci, 115, 1095-7.
- KOSIK, K. S., JOACHIM, C. L. & SELKOE, D. J. 1986. Microtubule-associated protein tau (tau) is a major antigenic component of paired helical filaments in Alzheimer disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 83, 4044-8.
- KOSIK, K. S., ORECCHIO, L. D., BAKALIS, S. & NEVE, R. L. 1989. Developmentally regulated expression of specific tau sequences. *Neuron*, 2, 1389-97.
- KUMAR, P., AMBASTA, R. K., VEERESHWARAYYA, V., ROSEN, K. M., KOSIK, K. S., BAND, H., MESTRIL, R., PATTERSON, C. & QUERFURTH, H. W. 2007. CHIP and HSPs interact with beta-APP in a proteasome-dependent manner and influence Abeta metabolism. *Hum Mol Genet*, 16, 848-64.
- KUMAR, S., REZAEI-GHALEH, N., TERWEL, D., THAL, D. R., RICHARD, M., HOCH, M., MC DONALD, J. M., WULLNER, U., GLEBOV, K., HENEKA, M. T., WALSH, D. M., ZWECKSTETTER, M. & WALTER, J. 2011. Extracellular phosphorylation of the amyloid beta-peptide promotes formation of toxic aggregates during the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. *EMBO J*, 30, 2255-65.
- KUMAR, S., WIRTHS, O., THEIL, S., GERTH, J., BAYER, T. A. & WALTER, J. 2013a. Early intraneuronal accumulation and increased aggregation of phosphorylated Abeta in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Acta Neuropathol*, 125, 699-709.
- KUMAR, V., KIM, K., JOSEPH, C., KOURRICH, S., YOO, S. H., HUANG, H. C., VITATERNA, M. H., DE VILLENA, F. P., CHURCHILL, G., BONCI, A. & TAKAHASHI, J. S. 2013b. C57BL/6N mutation in cytoplasmic FMRP interacting protein 2 regulates cocaine response. *Science*, 342, 1508-12.
- KUMMER, M. P. & HENEKA, M. T. 2014. Truncated and modified amyloid-beta species. *Alzheimers Res Ther*, 6, 28.
- KUMMER, M. P., HERMES, M., DELEKARTE, A., HAMMERSCHMIDT, T., KUMAR, S., TERWEL, D., WALTER, J., PAPE, H. C., KONIG, S., ROEBER, S., JESSEN, F., KLOCKGETHER, T., KORTE, M. & HENEKA, M. T. 2011. Nitration of tyrosine 10 critically enhances amyloid beta aggregation and plaque formation. *Neuron*, 71, 833-44.
- KYLE, B. D., AHRENDT, E., BRAUN, A. P. & BRAUN, J. E. 2013. The large conductance, calciumactivated K+ (BK) channel is regulated by cysteine string protein. *Sci Rep*, 3, 2447.

- LAMB, B. T., CALL, L. M., SLUNT, H. H., BARDEL, K. A., LAWLER, A. M., ECKMAN, C. B., YOUNKIN, S. G., HOLTZ, G., WAGNER, S. L., PRICE, D. L., SISODIA, S. S. & GEARHART, J. D. 1997. Altered metabolism of familial Alzheimer's disease-linked amyloid precursor protein variants in yeast artificial chromosome transgenic mice. *Hum Mol Genet*, 6, 1535-41.
- LARNER, A. J. 1997. The cerebellum in Alzheimer's disease. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord*, 8, 203-9.
- LAUREN, J., GIMBEL, D. A., NYGAARD, H. B., GILBERT, J. W. & STRITTMATTER, S. M. 2009. Cellular prion protein mediates impairment of synaptic plasticity by amyloid-beta oligomers. *Nature*, 457, 1128-32.
- LE, W., XIE, W. J., NYORMOI, O., HO, B. K., SMITH, R. G. & APPEL, S. H. 1995. beta-Amyloid1-40 increases expression of beta-amyloid precursor protein in neuronal hybrid cells. *J Neurochem*, 65, 2373-6.
- LEBLOND, C. S., HEINRICH, J., DELORME, R., PROEPPER, C., BETANCUR, C., HUGUET, G., KONYUKH, M., CHASTE, P., EY, E., RASTAM, M., ANCKARSATER, H., NYGREN, G., GILLBERG, I. C., MELKE, J., TORO, R., REGNAULT, B., FAUCHEREAU, F., MERCATI, O., LEMIERE, N., SKUSE, D., POOT, M., HOLT, R., MONACO, A. P., JARVELA, I., KANTOJARVI, K., VANHALA, R., CURRAN, S., COLLIER, D. A., BOLTON, P., CHIOCCHETTI, A., KLAUCK, S. M., POUSTKA, F., FREITAG, C. M., WALTES, R., KOPP, M., DUKETIS, E., BACCHELLI, E., MINOPOLI, F., RUTA, L., BATTAGLIA, A., MAZZONE, L., MAESTRINI, E., SEQUEIRA, A. F., OLIVEIRA, B., VICENTE, A., OLIVEIRA, G., PINTO, D., SCHERER, S. W., ZELENIKA, D., DELEPINE, M., LATHROP, M., BONNEAU, D., GUINCHAT, V., DEVILLARD, F., ASSOULINE, B., MOUREN, M. C., LEBOYER, M., GILLBERG, C., BOECKERS, T. M. & BOURGERON, T. 2012. Genetic and functional analyses of SHANK2 mutations suggest a multiple hit model of autism spectrum disorders. *PLoS Genet*, 8, e1002521.
- LEE, E. K., KIM, H. H., KUWANO, Y., ABDELMOHSEN, K., SRIKANTAN, S., SUBARAN, S. S., GLEICHMANN, M., MUGHAL, M. R., MARTINDALE, J. L., YANG, X., WORLEY, P. F., MATTSON, M. P. & GOROSPE, M. 2010. hnRNP C promotes APP translation by competing with FMRP for APP mRNA recruitment to P bodies. *Nat Struct Mol Biol*, 17, 732-9.
- LEVY-LAHAD, E., WASCO, W., POORKAJ, P., ROMANO, D. M., OSHIMA, J., PETTINGELL, W. H., YU, C. E., JONDRO, P. D., SCHMIDT, S. D., WANG, K. & ET AL. 1995a. Candidate gene for the chromosome 1 familial Alzheimer's disease locus. *Science*, 269, 973-7.
- LEVY-LAHAD, E., WIJSMAN, E. M., NEMENS, E., ANDERSON, L., GODDARD, K. A., WEBER, J. L., BIRD, T. D. & SCHELLENBERG, G. D. 1995b. A familial Alzheimer's disease locus on chromosome 1. *Science*, 269, 970-3.
- LIU, K., SOLANO, I., MANN, D., LEMERE, C., MERCKEN, M., TROJANOWSKI, J. Q. & LEE, V. M. 2006. Characterization of Abeta11-40/42 peptide deposition in Alzheimer's disease and young Down's syndrome brains: implication of N-terminally truncated Abeta species in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathol, 112, 163-74.
- LOFFLER, J. & HUBER, G. 1992. Beta-amyloid precursor protein isoforms in various rat brain regions and during brain development. *J Neurochem*, 59, 1316-24.
- LU, D. C., RABIZADEH, S., CHANDRA, S., SHAYYA, R. F., ELLERBY, L. M., YE, X., SALVESEN, G. S., KOO, E. H. & BREDESEN, D. E. 2000. A second cytotoxic proteolytic peptide derived from amyloid beta-protein precursor. *Nat Med*, 6, 397-404.
- LU, R., WANG, H., LIANG, Z., KU, L., O'DONNELL W, T., LI, W., WARREN, S. T. & FENG, Y. 2004. The fragile X protein controls microtubule-associated protein 1B translation and microtubule stability in brain neuron development. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101, 15201-6.
- MADRIGAL, I., RODRIGUEZ-REVENGA, L., XUNCLA, M. & MILA, M. 2012. 15q11.2 microdeletion and FMR1 premutation in a family with intellectual disabilities and autism. *Gene*, 508, 92-5.

- MAESTRE, C., DELGADO-ESTEBAN, M., GOMEZ-SANCHEZ, J. C., BOLANOS, J. P. & ALMEIDA, A. 2008. Cdk5 phosphorylates Cdh1 and modulates cyclin B1 stability in excitotoxicity. *EMBO J*, 27, 2736-45.
- MALTHANKAR-PHATAK, G. H., LIN, Y. G., GIOVANNONE, N. & SIMAN, R. 2012. Amyloid deposition and advanced age fails to induce Alzheimer's type progression in a double knock-in mouse model. *Aging Dis*, **3**, 141-55.
- MANCZAK, M. & REDDY, P. H. 2013. Abnormal interaction of oligomeric amyloid-beta with phosphorylated tau: implications to synaptic dysfunction and neuronal damage. *J Alzheimers Dis*, 36, 285-95.
- MAREN, S. 2001. Neurobiology of Pavlovian fear conditioning. *Annu Rev Neurosci*, 24, 897-931.
- MAREN, S. 2008. Pavlovian fear conditioning as a behavioral assay for hippocampus and amygdala function: cautions and caveats. *Eur J Neurosci,* 28, 1661-6.
- MARSDEN, I. T., MINAMIDE, L. S. & BAMBURG, J. R. 2011. Amyloid-beta-induced amyloid-beta secretion: a possible feed-forward mechanism in Alzheimer's Disease. *J Alzheimers Dis*, 24, 681-91.
- MASLIAH, E., MALLORY, M., HANSEN, L., DETERESA, R., ALFORD, M. & TERRY, R. 1994. Synaptic and neuritic alterations during the progression of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurosci Lett*, 174, 67-72.
- MATTSON, M. P. 1997. Cellular actions of beta-amyloid precursor protein and its soluble and fibrillogenic derivatives. *Physiol Rev*, 77, 1081-132.
- MCALEESE, S. M., DUNBAR, B., FOTHERGILL, J. E., HINKS, L. J. & DAY, I. N. 1988. Complete amino acid sequence of the neurone-specific gamma isozyme of enolase (NSE) from human brain and comparison with the non-neuronal alpha form (NNE). *Eur J Biochem*, 178, 413-7.
- MILTON, N. G. 2001. Phosphorylation of amyloid-beta at the serine 26 residue by human cdc2 kinase. *Neuroreport*, 12, 3839-44.
- MINERS, J. S., JONES, R. & LOVE, S. 2014. Differential changes in abeta42 and abeta40 with age. *J Alzheimers Dis*, 40, 727-35.
- MINES, M. A., BEUREL, E. & JOPE, R. S. 2011. Regulation of cell survival mechanisms in Alzheimer's disease by glycogen synthase kinase-3. *Int J Alzheimers Dis*, 2011, 861072.
- MITEW, S., KIRKCALDIE, M. T., DICKSON, T. C. & VICKERS, J. C. 2013. Altered synapses and gliotransmission in Alzheimer's disease and AD model mice. *Neurobiol Aging*, 34, 2341-51.
- MONGROO, P. S., NOUBISSI, F. K., CUATRECASAS, M., KALABIS, J., KING, C. E., JOHNSTONE, C. N., BOWSER, M. J., CASTELLS, A., SPIEGELMAN, V. S. & RUSTGI, A. K. 2011. IMP-1 displays cross-talk with K-Ras and modulates colon cancer cell survival through the novel proapoptotic protein CYFIP2. *Cancer Res*, 71, 2172-82.
- MORI, H., TAKIO, K., OGAWARA, M. & SELKOE, D. J. 1992. Mass spectrometry of purified amyloid beta protein in Alzheimer's disease. *J Biol Chem*, 267, 17082-6.
- MOTA, S. I., FERREIRA, I. L. & REGO, A. C. 2014. Dysfunctional synapse in Alzheimer's disease -A focus on NMDA receptors. *Neuropharmacology*, 76 Pt A, 16-26.
- MOYA, K. L., BENOWITZ, L. I., SCHNEIDER, G. E. & ALLINQUANT, B. 1994. The amyloid precursor protein is developmentally regulated and correlated with synaptogenesis. *Dev Biol*, 161, 597-603.
- MUCHOWSKI, P. J. & WACKER, J. L. 2005. Modulation of neurodegeneration by molecular chaperones. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 6, 11-22.
- MUCKE, L. & SELKOE, D. J. 2012. Neurotoxicity of amyloid beta-protein: synaptic and network dysfunction. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med*, 2, a006338.
- MURRELL, J., FARLOW, M., GHETTI, B. & BENSON, M. D. 1991. A mutation in the amyloid precursor protein associated with hereditary Alzheimer's disease. *Science*, 254, 97-9.
- NAKANISHI, N., RYAN, S. D., ZHANG, X., KHAN, A., HOLLAND, T., CHO, E. G., HUANG, X., LIAO, F. F., XU, H., LIPTON, S. A. & TU, S. 2013. Synaptic protein alpha1-takusan mitigates

amyloid-beta-induced synaptic loss via interaction with tau and postsynaptic density-95 at postsynaptic sites. *J Neurosci,* 33, 14170-83.

- NALBANTOGLU, J., TIRADO-SANTIAGO, G., LAHSAINI, A., POIRIER, J., GONCALVES, O., VERGE, G., MOMOLI, F., WELNER, S. A., MASSICOTTE, G., JULIEN, J. P. & SHAPIRO, M. L. 1997. Impaired learning and LTP in mice expressing the carboxy terminus of the Alzheimer amyloid precursor protein. *Nature*, 387, 500-5.
- NAPOLI, I., MERCALDO, V., BOYL, P. P., ELEUTERI, B., ZALFA, F., DE RUBEIS, S., DI MARINO, D., MOHR, E., MASSIMI, M., FALCONI, M., WITKE, W., COSTA-MATTIOLI, M., SONENBERG,
 N., ACHSEL, T. & BAGNI, C. 2008. The fragile X syndrome protein represses activitydependent translation through CYFIP1, a new 4E-BP. *Cell*, 134, 1042-54.
- NASLUND, J., SCHIERHORN, A., HELLMAN, U., LANNFELT, L., ROSES, A. D., TJERNBERG, L. O., SILBERRING, J., GANDY, S. E., WINBLAD, B., GREENGARD, P. & ET AL. 1994. Relative abundance of Alzheimer A beta amyloid peptide variants in Alzheimer disease and normal aging. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 91, 8378-82.
- NEVE, R. L., HARRIS, P., KOSIK, K. S., KURNIT, D. M. & DONLON, T. A. 1986. Identification of cDNA clones for the human microtubule-associated protein tau and chromosomal localization of the genes for tau and microtubule-associated protein 2. *Brain Res*, 387, 271-80.
- NIE, Z., RANJAN, R., WENNIGER, J. J., HONG, S. N., BRONK, P. & ZINSMAIER, K. E. 1999. Overexpression of cysteine-string proteins in Drosophila reveals interactions with syntaxin. *J Neurosci*, 19, 10270-9.
- NIKOLAEV, A., MCLAUGHLIN, T., O'LEARY, D. D. & TESSIER-LAVIGNE, M. 2009. APP binds DR6 to trigger axon pruning and neuron death via distinct caspases. *Nature*, 457, 981-9.
- NOLZE, A., SCHNEIDER, J., KEIL, R., LEDERER, M., HUTTELMAIER, S., KESSELS, M. M., QUALMANN, B. & HATZFELD, M. 2013. FMRP regulates actin filament organization via the armadillo protein p0071. *RNA*, 19, 1483-96.
- NOMURA, N., NAGASE, T., MIYAJIMA, N., SAZUKA, T., TANAKA, A., SATO, S., SEKI, N., KAWARABAYASI, Y., ISHIKAWA, K. & TABATA, S. 1994. Prediction of the coding sequences of unidentified human genes. II. The coding sequences of 40 new genes (KIAA0041-KIAA0080) deduced by analysis of cDNA clones from human cell line KG-1. DNA Res, 1, 223-9.
- NOWICKI, S. T., TASSONE, F., ONO, M. Y., FERRANTI, J., CROQUETTE, M. F., GOODLIN-JONES, B. & HAGERMAN, R. J. 2007. The Prader-Willi phenotype of fragile X syndrome. *J Dev Behav Pediatr*, 28, 133-8.
- O'HARE, M. J., KUSHWAHA, N., ZHANG, Y., ALEYASIN, H., CALLAGHAN, S. M., SLACK, R. S., ALBERT, P. R., VINCENT, I. & PARK, D. S. 2005. Differential roles of nuclear and cytoplasmic cyclin-dependent kinase 5 in apoptotic and excitotoxic neuronal death. *J Neurosci*, 25, 8954-66.
- OGNIBENE, E., MIDDEI, S., DANIELE, S., ADRIANI, W., GHIRARDI, O., CAPRIOLI, A. & LAVIOLA, G. 2005. Aspects of spatial memory and behavioral disinhibition in Tg2576 transgenic mice as a model of Alzheimer's disease. *Behav Brain Res*, 156, 225-32.
- OH, Y. S. & TURNER, R. J. 2005. Topology of the C-terminal fragment of human presenilin 1. *Biochemistry*, 44, 11821-8.
- OHYAMA, T., VERSTREKEN, P., LY, C. V., ROSENMUND, T., RAJAN, A., TIEN, A. C., HAUETER, C., SCHULZE, K. L. & BELLEN, H. J. 2007. Huntingtin-interacting protein 14, a palmitoyl transferase required for exocytosis and targeting of CSP to synaptic vesicles. *J Cell Biol*, 179, 1481-96.
- OKOCHI, M., STEINER, H., FUKUMORI, A., TANII, H., TOMITA, T., TANAKA, T., IWATSUBO, T., KUDO, T., TAKEDA, M. & HAASS, C. 2002. Presenilins mediate a dual intramembranous gamma-secretase cleavage of Notch-1. *EMBO J*, 21, 5408-16.
- OVERK, C. R. & MASLIAH, E. 2014. Pathogenesis of synaptic degeneration in Alzheimer's disease and Lewy body disease. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 88, 508-16.

- PALOP, J. J., CHIN, J., ROBERSON, E. D., WANG, J., THWIN, M. T., BIEN-LY, N., YOO, J., HO, K. O., YU, G. Q., KREITZER, A., FINKBEINER, S., NOEBELS, J. L. & MUCKE, L. 2007. Aberrant excitatory neuronal activity and compensatory remodeling of inhibitory hippocampal circuits in mouse models of Alzheimer's disease. *Neuron*, 55, 697-711.
- PALOP, J. J. & MUCKE, L. 2010. Amyloid-beta-induced neuronal dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease: from synapses toward neural networks. *Nat Neurosci*, 13, 812-8.
- PARK, J., JANG, M. & CHANG, S. 2013. Deleterious effects of soluble amyloid-beta oligomers on multiple steps of synaptic vesicle trafficking. *Neurobiol Dis*, 55, 129-39.
- PARK, L., ZHOU, P., PITSTICK, R., CAPONE, C., ANRATHER, J., NORRIS, E. H., YOUNKIN, L., YOUNKIN, S., CARLSON, G., MCEWEN, B. S. & IADECOLA, C. 2008. Nox2-derived radicals contribute to neurovascular and behavioral dysfunction in mice overexpressing the amyloid precursor protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 1347-52.
- PARR, C., CARZANIGA, R., GENTLEMAN, S. M., VAN LEUVEN, F., WALTER, J. & SASTRE, M. 2012. Glycogen synthase kinase 3 inhibition promotes lysosomal biogenesis and autophagic degradation of the amyloid-beta precursor protein. *Mol Cell Biol*, 32, 4410-8.
- PASSER, B., PELLEGRINI, L., RUSSO, C., SIEGEL, R. M., LENARDO, M. J., SCHETTINI, G., BACHMANN, M., TABATON, M. & D'ADAMIO, L. 2000. Generation of an apoptotic intracellular peptide by gamma-secretase cleavage of Alzheimer's amyloid beta protein precursor. J Alzheimers Dis, 2, 289-301.
- PATHANIA, M., DAVENPORT, E. C., MUIR, J., SHEEHAN, D. F., LOPEZ-DOMENECH, G. & KITTLER, J. T. 2014. The autism and schizophrenia associated gene CYFIP1 is critical for the maintenance of dendritic complexity and the stabilization of mature spines. *Transl Psychiatry*, 4, e374.
- PATRICK, G. N., ZUKERBERG, L., NIKOLIC, M., DE LA MONTE, S., DIKKES, P. & TSAI, L. H. 1999. Conversion of p35 to p25 deregulates Cdk5 activity and promotes neurodegeneration. *Nature*, 402, 615-22.
- PAULA-LIMA, A. C., BRITO-MOREIRA, J. & FERREIRA, S. T. 2013. Deregulation of excitatory neurotransmission underlying synapse failure in Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurochem*, 126, 191-202.
- PEINEAU, S., TAGHIBIGLOU, C., BRADLEY, C., WONG, T. P., LIU, L., LU, J., LO, E., WU, D., SAULE, E., BOUSCHET, T., MATTHEWS, P., ISAAC, J. T., BORTOLOTTO, Z. A., WANG, Y. T. & COLLINGRIDGE, G. L. 2007. LTP inhibits LTD in the hippocampus via regulation of GSK3beta. *Neuron*, 53, 703-17.
- PERICAK-VANCE, M. A., BEBOUT, J. L., GASKELL, P. C., JR., YAMAOKA, L. H., HUNG, W. Y., ALBERTS, M. J., WALKER, A. P., BARTLETT, R. J., HAYNES, C. A., WELSH, K. A. & ET AL. 1991. Linkage studies in familial Alzheimer disease: evidence for chromosome 19 linkage. Am J Hum Genet, 48, 1034-50.
- PHAM, E., CREWS, L., UBHI, K., HANSEN, L., ADAME, A., CARTIER, A., SALMON, D., GALASKO, D., MICHAEL, S., SAVAS, J. N., YATES, J. R., GLABE, C. & MASLIAH, E. 2010. Progressive accumulation of amyloid-beta oligomers in Alzheimer's disease and in amyloid precursor protein transgenic mice is accompanied by selective alterations in synaptic scaffold proteins. *FEBS J*, 277, 3051-67.
- PITTMAN, A. J., GAYNES, J. A. & CHIEN, C. B. 2010. nev (cyfip2) is required for retinal lamination and axon guidance in the zebrafish retinotectal system. *Dev Biol*, 344, 784-94.
- POLYDORO, M., ACKER, C. M., DUFF, K., CASTILLO, P. E. & DAVIES, P. 2009. Age-dependent impairment of cognitive and synaptic function in the htau mouse model of tau pathology. *J Neurosci*, 29, 10741-9.
- POOLER, A. M., NOBLE, W. & HANGER, D. P. 2014. A role for tau at the synapse in Alzheimer's disease pathogenesis. *Neuropharmacology*, 76 Pt A, 1-8.
- POORKAJ, P., KAS, A., D'SOUZA, I., ZHOU, Y., PHAM, Q., STONE, M., OLSON, M. V. & SCHELLENBERG, G. D. 2001. A genomic sequence analysis of the mouse and human microtubule-associated protein tau. *Mamm Genome*, 12, 700-12.

- PORTELIUS, E., PRICE, E., BRINKMALM, G., STITELER, M., OLSSON, M., PERSSON, R., WESTMAN-BRINKMALM, A., ZETTERBERG, H., SIMON, A. J. & BLENNOW, K. 2011. A novel pathway for amyloid precursor protein processing. *Neurobiol Aging*, 32, 1090-8.
- PRATICO, D., URYU, K., LEIGHT, S., TROJANOSWKI, J. Q. & LEE, V. M. 2001. Increased lipid peroxidation precedes amyloid plaque formation in an animal model of Alzheimer amyloidosis. J Neurosci, 21, 4183-7.
- QI-TAKAHARA, Y., MORISHIMA-KAWASHIMA, M., TANIMURA, Y., DOLIOS, G., HIROTANI, N., HORIKOSHI, Y., KAMETANI, F., MAEDA, M., SAIDO, T. C., WANG, R. & IHARA, Y. 2005. Longer forms of amyloid beta protein: implications for the mechanism of intramembrane cleavage by gamma-secretase. J Neurosci, 25, 436-45.
- RADI, R., CASSINA, A., HODARA, R., QUIJANO, C. & CASTRO, L. 2002. Peroxynitrite reactions and formation in mitochondria. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 33, 1451-64.
- RANJAN, R., BRONK, P. & ZINSMAIER, K. E. 1998. Cysteine string protein is required for calcium secretion coupling of evoked neurotransmission in drosophila but not for vesicle recycling. *J Neurosci,* 18, 956-64.
- RAYCHAUDHURI, M. & MUKHOPADHYAY, D. 2007. AICD and its adaptors in search of new players. J Alzheimers Dis, 11, 343-58.
- REDECKER, P., PABST, H. & GRUBE, D. 1998. Munc-18-1 and cysteine string protein (csp) in pinealocytes of the gerbil pineal gland. *Cell Tissue Res*, 293, 245-52.
- RENNER, M., LACOR, P. N., VELASCO, P. T., XU, J., CONTRACTOR, A., KLEIN, W. L. & TRILLER, A. 2010. Deleterious effects of amyloid beta oligomers acting as an extracellular scaffold for mGluR5. *Neuron*, 66, 739-54.
- RIS, L., ANGELO, M., PLATTNER, F., CAPRON, B., ERRINGTON, M. L., BLISS, T. V., GODAUX, E. & GIESE, K. P. 2005. Sexual dimorphisms in the effect of low-level p25 expression on synaptic plasticity and memory. *Eur J Neurosci*, 21, 3023-33.
- ROBERSON, E. D., HALABISKY, B., YOO, J. W., YAO, J., CHIN, J., YAN, F., WU, T., HAMTO, P., DEVIDZE, N., YU, G. Q., PALOP, J. J., NOEBELS, J. L. & MUCKE, L. 2011. Amyloidbeta/Fyn-induced synaptic, network, and cognitive impairments depend on tau levels in multiple mouse models of Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci, 31, 700-11.
- ROHER, A. E., LOWENSON, J. D., CLARKE, S., WOLKOW, C., WANG, R., COTTER, R. J., REARDON,
 I. M., ZURCHER-NEELY, H. A., HEINRIKSON, R. L., BALL, M. J. & ET AL. 1993. Structural alterations in the peptide backbone of beta-amyloid core protein may account for its deposition and stability in Alzheimer's disease. J Biol Chem, 268, 3072-83.
- RONCARATI, R., SESTAN, N., SCHEINFELD, M. H., BERECHID, B. E., LOPEZ, P. A., MEUCCI, O., MCGLADE, J. C., RAKIC, P. & D'ADAMIO, L. 2002. The gamma-secretase-generated intracellular domain of beta-amyloid precursor protein binds Numb and inhibits Notch signaling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 99, 7102-7.
- ROZAS, J. L., GOMEZ-SANCHEZ, L., MIRCHESKI, J., LINARES-CLEMENTE, P., NIETO-GONZALEZ, J. L., VAZQUEZ, M. E., LUJAN, R. & FERNANDEZ-CHACON, R. 2012. Motorneurons require cysteine string protein-alpha to maintain the readily releasable vesicular pool and synaptic vesicle recycling. *Neuron*, 74, 151-65.
- RUIZ, R., CASANAS, J. J., SUDHOF, T. C. & TABARES, L. 2008. Cysteine string protein-alpha is essential for the high calcium sensitivity of exocytosis in a vertebrate synapse. *Eur J Neurosci*, 27, 3118-31.
- RUSSELL, C. L., SEMERDJIEVA, S., EMPSON, R. M., AUSTEN, B. M., BEESLEY, P. W. & ALIFRAGIS,
 P. 2012. Amyloid-beta acts as a regulator of neurotransmitter release disrupting the interaction between synaptophysin and VAMP2. *PLoS One*, 7, e43201.
- SAIDO, T. C., IWATSUBO, T., MANN, D. M., SHIMADA, H., IHARA, Y. & KAWASHIMA, S. 1995. Dominant and differential deposition of distinct beta-amyloid peptide species, A beta N3(pE), in senile plaques. *Neuron*, 14, 457-66.
- SAITO, T., MATSUBA, Y., MIHIRA, N., TAKANO, J., NILSSON, P., ITOHARA, S., IWATA, N. & SAIDO, T. C. 2014. Single App knock-in mouse models of Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Neurosci*, 17, 661-3.

- SASTRE, M., STEINER, H., FUCHS, K., CAPELL, A., MULTHAUP, G., CONDRON, M. M., TEPLOW,
 D. B. & HAASS, C. 2001. Presenilin-dependent gamma-secretase processing of betaamyloid precursor protein at a site corresponding to the S3 cleavage of Notch. *EMBO Rep*, 2, 835-41.
- SCHEFF, S. W., DEKOSKY, S. T. & PRICE, D. A. 1990. Quantitative assessment of cortical synaptic density in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging*, 11, 29-37.
- SCHEFF, S. W., PRICE, D. A., SCHMITT, F. A., ROBERTS, K. N., IKONOMOVIC, M. D. & MUFSON,
 E. J. 2013. Synapse stability in the precuneus early in the progression of Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis, 35, 599-609.
- SCHEINFELD, M. H., MATSUDA, S. & D'ADAMIO, L. 2003. JNK-interacting protein-1 promotes transcription of A beta protein precursor but not A beta precursor-like proteins, mechanistically different than Fe65. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 100, 1729-34.
- SCHELLENBERG, G. D., BIRD, T. D., WIJSMAN, E. M., ORR, H. T., ANDERSON, L., NEMENS, E., WHITE, J. A., BONNYCASTLE, L., WEBER, J. L., ALONSO, M. E. & ET AL. 1992. Genetic linkage evidence for a familial Alzheimer's disease locus on chromosome 14. *Science*, 258, 668-71.
- SCHENCK, A., BARDONI, B., LANGMANN, C., HARDEN, N., MANDEL, J. L. & GIANGRANDE, A. 2003. CYFIP/Sra-1 controls neuronal connectivity in Drosophila and links the Rac1 GTPase pathway to the fragile X protein. *Neuron*, 38, 887-98.
- SCHENCK, A., BARDONI, B., MORO, A., BAGNI, C. & MANDEL, J. L. 2001. A highly conserved protein family interacting with the fragile X mental retardation protein (FMRP) and displaying selective interactions with FMRP-related proteins FXR1P and FXR2P. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 98, 8844-9.
- SCHILLING, S., HOFFMANN, T., MANHART, S., HOFFMANN, M. & DEMUTH, H. U. 2004. Glutaminyl cyclases unfold glutamyl cyclase activity under mild acid conditions. *FEBS Lett*, 563, 191-6.
- SCHILLING, S., ZEITSCHEL, U., HOFFMANN, T., HEISER, U., FRANCKE, M., KEHLEN, A., HOLZER, M., HUTTER-PAIER, B., PROKESCH, M., WINDISCH, M., JAGLA, W., SCHLENZIG, D., LINDNER, C., RUDOLPH, T., REUTER, G., CYNIS, H., MONTAG, D., DEMUTH, H. U. & ROSSNER, S. 2008. Glutaminyl cyclase inhibition attenuates pyroglutamate Abeta and Alzheimer's disease-like pathology. *Nat Med*, 14, 1106-11.
- SCHROETER, E. H., KISSLINGER, J. A. & KOPAN, R. 1998. Notch-1 signalling requires ligandinduced proteolytic release of intracellular domain. *Nature*, 393, 382-6.
- SCHWEERS, O., SCHONBRUNN-HANEBECK, E., MARX, A. & MANDELKOW, E. 1994. Structural studies of tau protein and Alzheimer paired helical filaments show no evidence for beta-structure. *J Biol Chem*, 269, 24290-7.
- SELKOE, D. J. 1989. Amyloid beta protein precursor and the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Cell*, 58, 611-2.
- SELKOE, D. J. 1993. Physiological production of the beta-amyloid protein and the mechanism of Alzheimer's disease. *Trends Neurosci*, 16, 403-9.
- SELKOE, D. J. 1998. The cell biology of beta-amyloid precursor protein and presenilin in Alzheimer's disease. *Trends Cell Biol*, *8*, 447-53.
- SELKOE, D. J. 2002. Deciphering the genesis and fate of amyloid beta-protein yields novel therapies for Alzheimer disease. *J Clin Invest*, 110, 1375-81.
- SELKOE, D. J. 2008. Soluble oligomers of the amyloid beta-protein impair synaptic plasticity and behavior. *Behav Brain Res*, 192, 106-13.
- SERGEANT, N., BRETTEVILLE, A., HAMDANE, M., CAILLET-BOUDIN, M. L., GROGNET, P., BOMBOIS, S., BLUM, D., DELACOURTE, A., PASQUIER, F., VANMECHELEN, E., SCHRAEN-MASCHKE, S. & BUEE, L. 2008. Biochemistry of Tau in Alzheimer's disease and related neurological disorders. *Expert Rev Proteomics*, 5, 207-24.
- SHAHPASAND, K., UEMURA, I., SAITO, T., ASANO, T., HATA, K., SHIBATA, K., TOYOSHIMA, Y., HASEGAWA, M. & HISANAGA, S. 2012. Regulation of mitochondrial transport and

inter-microtubule spacing by tau phosphorylation at the sites hyperphosphorylated in Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurosci*, 32, 2430-41.

- SHANKAR, G. M., LEISSRING, M. A., ADAME, A., SUN, X., SPOONER, E., MASLIAH, E., SELKOE, D. J., LEMERE, C. A. & WALSH, D. M. 2009. Biochemical and immunohistochemical analysis of an Alzheimer's disease mouse model reveals the presence of multiple cerebral Abeta assembly forms throughout life. *Neurobiol Dis*, 36, 293-302.
- SHANKAR, G. M., LI, S., MEHTA, T. H., GARCIA-MUNOZ, A., SHEPARDSON, N. E., SMITH, I., BRETT, F. M., FARRELL, M. A., ROWAN, M. J., LEMERE, C. A., REGAN, C. M., WALSH, D. M., SABATINI, B. L. & SELKOE, D. J. 2008. Amyloid-beta protein dimers isolated directly from Alzheimer's brains impair synaptic plasticity and memory. *Nat Med*, 14, 837-42.
- SHARMA, M., BURRE, J. & SUDHOF, T. C. 2011. CSPalpha promotes SNARE-complex assembly by chaperoning SNAP-25 during synaptic activity. *Nat Cell Biol*, 13, 30-9.
- SHENG, J. & WU, L. G. 2012. Cysteine string protein alpha: a new role in vesicle recycling. *Neuron*, 74, 6-8.
- SHENG, M., SABATINI, B. L. & SUDHOF, T. C. 2012. Synapses and Alzheimer's disease. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol*, 4.
- SHERRINGTON, R., ROGAEV, E. I., LIANG, Y., ROGAEVA, E. A., LEVESQUE, G., IKEDA, M., CHI, H.,
 LIN, C., LI, G., HOLMAN, K., TSUDA, T., MAR, L., FONCIN, J. F., BRUNI, A. C., MONTESI,
 M. P., SORBI, S., RAINERO, I., PINESSI, L., NEE, L., CHUMAKOV, I., POLLEN, D.,
 BROOKES, A., SANSEAU, P., POLINSKY, R. J., WASCO, W., DA SILVA, H. A., HAINES, J. L.,
 PERKICAK-VANCE, M. A., TANZI, R. E., ROSES, A. D., FRASER, P. E., ROMMENS, J. M. &
 ST GEORGE-HYSLOP, P. H. 1995. Cloning of a gene bearing missense mutations in
 early-onset familial Alzheimer's disease. *Nature*, 375, 754-60.
- SILVA, J. M., EZHKOVA, E., SILVA, J., HEART, S., CASTILLO, M., CAMPOS, Y., CASTRO, V., BONILLA, F., CORDON-CARDO, C., MUTHUSWAMY, S. K., POWERS, S., FUCHS, E. & HANNON, G. J. 2009. Cyfip1 is a putative invasion suppressor in epithelial cancers. *Cell*, 137, 1047-61.
- SINGH, K., GAUR, P. & PRASAD, S. 2007. Fragile x mental retardation (Fmr-1) gene expression is down regulated in brain of mice during aging. *Mol Biol Rep*, 34, 173-81.
- SISODIA, S. S. & PRICE, D. L. 1995. Role of the beta-amyloid protein in Alzheimer's disease. *FASEB J*, 9, 366-70.
- SIVANESAN, S., TAN, A. & RAJADAS, J. 2013. Pathogenesis of Abeta oligomers in synaptic failure. *Curr Alzheimer Res*, 10, 316-23.
- SKARNES, W. C., ROSEN, B., WEST, A. P., KOUTSOURAKIS, M., BUSHELL, W., IYER, V., MUJICA, A. O., THOMAS, M., HARROW, J., COX, T., JACKSON, D., SEVERIN, J., BIGGS, P., FU, J., NEFEDOV, M., DE JONG, P. J., STEWART, A. F. & BRADLEY, A. 2011. A conditional knockout resource for the genome-wide study of mouse gene function. *Nature*, 474, 337-42.
- SMITH, M. A., HIRAI, K., HSIAO, K., PAPPOLLA, M. A., HARRIS, P. L., SIEDLAK, S. L., TABATON, M. & PERRY, G. 1998. Amyloid-beta deposition in Alzheimer transgenic mice is associated with oxidative stress. J Neurochem, 70, 2212-5.
- SOKOL, D. K., MALONEY, B., LONG, J. M., RAY, B. & LAHIRI, D. K. 2011. Autism, Alzheimer disease, and fragile X: APP, FMRP, and mGluR5 are molecular links. *Neurology*, 76, 1344-52.
- SPIRES-JONES, T. L., MEYER-LUEHMANN, M., OSETEK, J. D., JONES, P. B., STERN, E. A., BACSKAI, B. J. & HYMAN, B. T. 2007. Impaired spine stability underlies plaque-related spine loss in an Alzheimer's disease mouse model. *Am J Pathol*, 171, 1304-11.
- ST GEORGE-HYSLOP, P., HAINES, J., ROGAEV, E., MORTILLA, M., VAULA, G., PERICAK-VANCE, M., FONCIN, J. F., MONTESI, M., BRUNI, A., SORBI, S., RAINERO, I., PINESSI, L., POLLEN, D., POLINSKY, R., NEE, L., KENNEDY, J., MACCIARDI, F., ROGAEVA, E., LIANG, Y., ALEXANDROVA, N., LUKIW, W., SCHLUMPF, K., TANZI, R., TSUDA, T., FARRER, L., CANTU, J. M., DUARA, R., AMADUCCI, L., BERGAMINI, L., GUSELLA, J., ROSES, A.,

CRAPPER MCLACHLAN, D. & ET AL. 1992. Genetic evidence for a novel familial Alzheimer's disease locus on chromosome 14. *Nat Genet*, **2**, 330-4.

- STEINER, H., FLUHRER, R. & HAASS, C. 2008. Intramembrane proteolysis by gamma-secretase. *J Biol Chem*, 283, 29627-31.
- STEWART, S., CACUCCI, F. & LEVER, C. 2011. Which memory task for my mouse? A systematic review of spatial memory performance in the Tg2576 Alzheimer's mouse model. J Alzheimers Dis, 26, 105-26.
- STRITTMATTER, W. J., SAUNDERS, A. M., SCHMECHEL, D., PERICAK-VANCE, M., ENGHILD, J., SALVESEN, G. S. & ROSES, A. D. 1993. Apolipoprotein E: high-avidity binding to betaamyloid and increased frequency of type 4 allele in late-onset familial Alzheimer disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 90, 1977-81.
- SUDHOF, T. C., LOTTSPEICH, F., GREENGARD, P., MEHL, E. & JAHN, R. 1987. The cDNA and derived amino acid sequences for rat and human synaptophysin. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 15, 9607.
- SWAYNE, L. A., BLATTLER, C., KAY, J. G. & BRAUN, J. E. 2003. Oligomerization characteristics of cysteine string protein. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 300, 921-6.
- SZENDREI, G. I., FABIAN, H., MANTSCH, H. H., LOVAS, S., NYEKI, O., SCHON, I. & OTVOS, L., JR. 1994. Aspartate-bond isomerization affects the major conformations of synthetic peptides. *Eur J Biochem*, 226, 917-24.
- TAGAMI, S., OKOCHI, M., FUKUMORI, A., JIANG, J., YANAGIDA, K., NAKAYAMA, T., MORIHARA, T., TANAKA, T., KUDO, T. & TAKEDA, M. 2008. Processes of beta-amyloid and intracellular cytoplasmic domain generation by presenilin/gamma-secretase. *Neurodegener Dis*, 5, 160-2.
- TAKAMI, M., NAGASHIMA, Y., SANO, Y., ISHIHARA, S., MORISHIMA-KAWASHIMA, M., FUNAMOTO, S. & IHARA, Y. 2009. gamma-Secretase: successive tripeptide and tetrapeptide release from the transmembrane domain of beta-carboxyl terminal fragment. J Neurosci, 29, 13042-52.
- TAKAMORI, S., HOLT, M., STENIUS, K., LEMKE, E. A., GRONBORG, M., RIEDEL, D., URLAUB, H., SCHENCK, S., BRUGGER, B., RINGLER, P., MULLER, S. A., RAMMNER, B., GRATER, F., HUB, J. S., DE GROOT, B. L., MIESKES, G., MORIYAMA, Y., KLINGAUF, J., GRUBMULLER, H., HEUSER, J., WIELAND, F. & JAHN, R. 2006. Molecular anatomy of a trafficking organelle. *Cell*, 127, 831-46.
- TAKASHIMA, A., NOGUCHI, K., MICHEL, G., MERCKEN, M., HOSHI, M., ISHIGURO, K. & IMAHORI, K. 1996. Exposure of rat hippocampal neurons to amyloid beta peptide (25-35) induces the inactivation of phosphatidyl inositol-3 kinase and the activation of tau protein kinase I/glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta. *Neurosci Lett*, 203, 33-6.
- TAKASUGI, N., TOMITA, T., HAYASHI, I., TSURUOKA, M., NIIMURA, M., TAKAHASHI, Y., THINAKARAN, G. & IWATSUBO, T. 2003. The role of presenilin cofactors in the gamma-secretase complex. *Nature*, 422, 438-41.
- TALANTOVA, M., SANZ-BLASCO, S., ZHANG, X., XIA, P., AKHTAR, M. W., OKAMOTO, S., DZIEWCZAPOLSKI, G., NAKAMURA, T., CAO, G., PRATT, A. E., KANG, Y. J., TU, S., MOLOKANOVA, E., MCKERCHER, S. R., HIRES, S. A., SASON, H., STOUFFER, D. G., BUCZYNSKI, M. W., SOLOMON, J. P., MICHAEL, S., POWERS, E. T., KELLY, J. W., ROBERTS, A., TONG, G., FANG-NEWMEYER, T., PARKER, J., HOLLAND, E. A., ZHANG, D., NAKANISHI, N., CHEN, H. S., WOLOSKER, H., WANG, Y., PARSONS, L. H., AMBASUDHAN, R., MASLIAH, E., HEINEMANN, S. F., PINA-CRESPO, J. C. & LIPTON, S. A. 2013. Abeta induces astrocytic glutamate release, extrasynaptic NMDA receptor activation, and synaptic loss. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 110, E2518-27.
- TANDON, A., YU, H., WANG, L., ROGAEVA, E., SATO, C., CHISHTI, M. A., KAWARAI, T., HASEGAWA, H., CHEN, F., DAVIES, P., FRASER, P. E., WESTAWAY, D. & ST GEORGE-HYSLOP, P. H. 2003. Brain levels of CDK5 activator p25 are not increased in Alzheimer's or other neurodegenerative diseases with neurofibrillary tangles. J Neurochem, 86, 572-81.

- TANG, D., CHUN, A. C., ZHANG, M. & WANG, J. H. 1997. Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (Cdk5) activation domain of neuronal Cdk5 activator. Evidence of the existence of cyclin fold in neuronal Cdk5a activator. J Biol Chem, 272, 12318-27.
- TAYLOR, C. J., IRELAND, D. R., BALLAGH, I., BOURNE, K., MARECHAL, N. M., TURNER, P. R., BILKEY, D. K., TATE, W. P. & ABRAHAM, W. C. 2008. Endogenous secreted amyloid precursor protein-alpha regulates hippocampal NMDA receptor function, long-term potentiation and spatial memory. *Neurobiol Dis*, 31, 250-60.
- TERRY, R. D., MASLIAH, E., SALMON, D. P., BUTTERS, N., DETERESA, R., HILL, R., HANSEN, L. A.
 & KATZMAN, R. 1991. Physical basis of cognitive alterations in Alzheimer's disease: synapse loss is the major correlate of cognitive impairment. *Ann Neurol*, 30, 572-80.
- TOMIZAWA, K., OMORI, A., OHTAKE, A., SATO, K. & TAKAHASHI, M. 2001. Tau-tubulin kinase phosphorylates tau at Ser-208 and Ser-210, sites found in paired helical filament-tau. *FEBS Lett*, 492, 221-7.
- TSIGELNY, I. F., SHARIKOV, Y., KOUZNETSOVA, V. L., GREENBERG, J. P., WRASIDLO, W., GONZALEZ, T., DESPLATS, P., MICHAEL, S. E., TREJO-MORALES, M., OVERK, C. R. & MASLIAH, E. 2014. Structural diversity of Alzheimer's disease amyloid-beta dimers and their role in oligomerization and fibril formation. *J Alzheimers Dis*, 39, 583-600.
- TUCKER, K. L., MEYER, M. & BARDE, Y. A. 2001. Neurotrophins are required for nerve growth during development. *Nat Neurosci*, 4, 29-37.
- UM, J. W., KAUFMAN, A. C., KOSTYLEV, M., HEISS, J. K., STAGI, M., TAKAHASHI, H., KERRISK, M.
 E., VORTMEYER, A., WISNIEWSKI, T., KOLESKE, A. J., GUNTHER, E. C., NYGAARD, H. B.
 & STRITTMATTER, S. M. 2013. Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 is a coreceptor for Alzheimer abeta oligomer bound to cellular prion protein. *Neuron*, 79, 887-902.
- UM, J. W. & STRITTMATTER, S. M. 2013. Amyloid-beta induced signaling by cellular prion protein and Fyn kinase in Alzheimer disease. *Prion*, 7, 37-41.
- UMBACH, J. A., ZINSMAIER, K. E., EBERLE, K. K., BUCHNER, E., BENZER, S. & GUNDERSEN, C. B. 1994. Presynaptic dysfunction in Drosophila csp mutants. *Neuron*, 13, 899-907.
- VASSAR, R., BENNETT, B. D., BABU-KHAN, S., KAHN, S., MENDIAZ, E. A., DENIS, P., TEPLOW, D. B., ROSS, S., AMARANTE, P., LOELOFF, R., LUO, Y., FISHER, S., FULLER, J., EDENSON, S., LILE, J., JAROSINSKI, M. A., BIERE, A. L., CURRAN, E., BURGESS, T., LOUIS, J. C., COLLINS, F., TREANOR, J., ROGERS, G. & CITRON, M. 1999. Beta-secretase cleavage of Alzheimer's amyloid precursor protein by the transmembrane aspartic protease BACE. *Science*, 286, 735-41.
- VASSAR, R. & CITRON, M. 2000. Abeta-generating enzymes: recent advances in beta- and gamma-secretase research. *Neuron*, 27, 419-22.
- VERDIER, Y., ZARANDI, M. & PENKE, B. 2004. Amyloid beta-peptide interactions with neuronal and glial cell plasma membrane: binding sites and implications for Alzheimer's disease. J Pept Sci, 10, 229-48.
- WANG, R., SWEENEY, D., GANDY, S. E. & SISODIA, S. S. 1996. The profile of soluble amyloid beta protein in cultured cell media. Detection and quantification of amyloid beta protein and variants by immunoprecipitation-mass spectrometry. *J Biol Chem*, 271, 31894-902.
- WANG, X., SU, B., LEE, H. G., LI, X., PERRY, G., SMITH, M. A. & ZHU, X. 2009. Impaired balance of mitochondrial fission and fusion in Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurosci*, 29, 9090-103.
- WEINGARTEN, M. D., LOCKWOOD, A. H., HWO, S. Y. & KIRSCHNER, M. W. 1975. A protein factor essential for microtubule assembly. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 72, 1858-62.
- WESTERMAN, M. A., COOPER-BLACKETER, D., MARIASH, A., KOTILINEK, L., KAWARABAYASHI, T., YOUNKIN, L. H., CARLSON, G. A., YOUNKIN, S. G. & ASHE, K. H. 2002. The relationship between Abeta and memory in the Tg2576 mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurosci*, 22, 1858-67.
- WESTMARK, C. J. 2013. What's hAPPening at synapses? The role of amyloid beta-protein precursor and beta-amyloid in neurological disorders. *Mol Psychiatry*, 18, 425-34.

- WESTMARK, C. J. & MALTER, J. S. 2007. FMRP mediates mGluR5-dependent translation of amyloid precursor protein. *PLoS Biol*, 5, e52.
- WESTMARK, C. J. & MALTER, J. S. 2012. The regulation of AbetaPP expression by RNA-binding proteins. *Ageing Res Rev*, 11, 450-9.
- WESTMARK, C. J., WESTMARK, P. R., O'RIORDAN, K. J., RAY, B. C., HERVEY, C. M., SALAMAT, M. S., ABOZEID, S. H., STEIN, K. M., STODOLA, L. A., TRANFAGLIA, M., BURGER, C., BERRY-KRAVIS, E. M. & MALTER, J. S. 2011. Reversal of fragile X phenotypes by manipulation of AbetaPP/Abeta levels in Fmr1KO mice. *PLoS One*, 6, e26549.
- WILLIAMS, B. P. & PRICE, J. 1995. Evidence for multiple precursor cell types in the embryonic rat cerebral cortex. *Neuron*, 14, 1181-8.
- WIRTHS, O. & BAYER, T. A. 2010. Neuron loss in transgenic mouse models of Alzheimer's disease. *Int J Alzheimers Dis*, 2010.
- WOLFE, M. S. 2007. When loss is gain: reduced presenilin proteolytic function leads to increased Abeta42/Abeta40. Talking Point on the role of presenilin mutations in Alzheimer disease. *EMBO Rep,* 8, 136-40.
- WOOD, J. G., MIRRA, S. S., POLLOCK, N. J. & BINDER, L. I. 1986. Neurofibrillary tangles of Alzheimer disease share antigenic determinants with the axonal microtubuleassociated protein tau (tau). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 83, 4040-3.
- WU, X. S., MCNEIL, B. D., XU, J., FAN, J., XUE, L., MELICOFF, E., ADACHI, R., BAI, L. & WU, L. G. 2009. Ca(2+) and calmodulin initiate all forms of endocytosis during depolarization at a nerve terminal. *Nat Neurosci*, 12, 1003-10.
- YOO, B. C. & LUBEC, G. 2001. p25 protein in neurodegeneration. *Nature*, 411, 763-4; discussion 764-5.
- ZALFA, F., GIORGI, M., PRIMERANO, B., MORO, A., DI PENTA, A., REIS, S., OOSTRA, B. & BAGNI,
 C. 2003. The fragile X syndrome protein FMRP associates with BC1 RNA and regulates the translation of specific mRNAs at synapses. *Cell*, 112, 317-27.
- ZEMPEL, H., LUEDTKE, J., KUMAR, Y., BIERNAT, J., DAWSON, H., MANDELKOW, E. & MANDELKOW, E. M. 2013. Amyloid-beta oligomers induce synaptic damage via Taudependent microtubule severing by TTLL6 and spastin. *EMBO J*, 32, 2920-37.
- ZHANG, C., WU, B., BEGLOPOULOS, V., WINES-SAMUELSON, M., ZHANG, D., DRAGATSIS, I., SUDHOF, T. C. & SHEN, J. 2009. Presenilins are essential for regulating neurotransmitter release. *Nature*, 460, 632-6.
- ZHANG, H., KELLEY, W. L., CHAMBERLAIN, L. H., BURGOYNE, R. D., WOLLHEIM, C. B. & LANG, J. 1998. Cysteine-string proteins regulate exocytosis of insulin independent from transmembrane ion fluxes. *FEBS Lett*, 437, 267-72.
- ZHANG, Y. Q., BAILEY, A. M., MATTHIES, H. J., RENDEN, R. B., SMITH, M. A., SPEESE, S. D., RUBIN, G. M. & BROADIE, K. 2001. Drosophila fragile X-related gene regulates the MAP1B homolog Futsch to control synaptic structure and function. *Cell*, 107, 591-603.
- ZHANG, Y. Q., HENDERSON, M. X., COLANGELO, C. M., GINSBERG, S. D., BRUCE, C., WU, T. & CHANDRA, S. S. 2012. Identification of CSPalpha clients reveals a role in dynamin 1 regulation. *Neuron*, 74, 136-50.
- ZHAO, L., WANG, D., WANG, Q., RODAL, A. A. & ZHANG, Y. Q. 2013. Drosophila cyfip regulates synaptic development and endocytosis by suppressing filamentous actin assembly. *PLoS Genet*, 9, e1003450.
- ZHAO, X., BRAUN, A. P. & BRAUN, J. E. 2008. Biological roles of neural J proteins. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 65, 2385-96.
- ZHENG, H. & KOO, E. H. 2011. Biology and pathophysiology of the amyloid precursor protein. *Mol Neurodegener*, 6, 27.
- ZINSMAIER, K. E., HOFBAUER, A., HEIMBECK, G., PFLUGFELDER, G. O., BUCHNER, S. & BUCHNER, E. 1990. A cysteine-string protein is expressed in retina and brain of Drosophila. *J Neurogenet*, **7**, 15-29.

RESEARCH



Open Access

Evidence that the presynaptic vesicle protein CSPalpha is a key player in synaptic degeneration and protection in Alzheimer's disease

Sachin S Tiwari¹, Marie d'Orange¹, Claire Troakes², Badrun N Shurovi¹, Olivia Engmann¹, Wendy Noble³, Tibor Hortobágyi^{2,4} and Karl P Giese^{1,5*}

Abstract

Background: In Alzheimer's disease synapse loss precedes neuronal loss and correlates best with impaired memory formation. However, the mechanisms underlying synaptic degeneration in Alzheimer's disease are not well known. Further, it is unclear why synapses in AD cerebellum are protected from degeneration. Our recent work on the cyclin-dependent kinase 5 activator p25 suggested that expression of the multifunctional presynaptic molecule cysteine string protein alpha (CSPalpha) may be affected in Alzheimer's disease.

Results: Using western blots and immunohistochemistry, we found that CSPalpha expression is reduced in hippocampus and superior temporal gyrus in Alzheimer's disease. Reduced CSPalpha expression occurred before synaptophysin levels drop, suggesting that it contributes to the initial stages of synaptic degeneration. Surprisingly, we also found that CSPalpha expression is upregulated in cerebellum in Alzheimer's disease. This CSPalpha upregulation reached the same level as in young, healthy cerebellum. We tested the idea whether CSPalpha upregulation might be neuroprotective, using htau mice, a model of tauopathy that expresses the entire wild-type human tau gene in the absence of mouse tau. In htau mice CSPalpha expression was found to be elevated at times when neuronal loss did not occur.

Conclusion: Our findings provide evidence that the presynaptic vesicle protein CSPalpha is a key player in synaptic degeneration and protection in Alzheimer's disease. In the forebrain CSPalpha expression is reduced early in the disease and this may contribute to the initial stages of synaptic degeneration. In the cerebellum CSPalpha expression is upregulated to young, healthy levels and this may protect cerebellar synapses and neurons to survive. Accordingly, CSPalpha upregulation also occurs in a mouse model of tauopathy only at time when neuronal loss does not take place.

Keywords: Alzheimer's disease, Cerebellum, Cysteine string protein, Hippocampus, Synapses, Neuroprotection

Introduction

Alzheimer's disease is a devastating neurodegenerative condition and the most prominent cause of dementia. The neuropathological features of Alzheimer's disease are substantial neuronal death in the forebrain, but almost no neurodegeneration in the cerebellum [1,2]. In the forebrain extracellular amyloid plaques and intracellular neurofibrillary tangles are characteristic of Alzheimer's disease. Further, synaptic loss precedes neuronal loss and the former correlates best with early deficits in memory formation [3,4]. Our recent research provided a novel window into the mechanisms underlying synaptic degeneration in Alzheimer's disease [5]. We found that the truncated cyclin-dependent kinase 5 activator p25 is reduced in Alzheimer's disease [6]. Normally, p25 generation is linked to the synthesis of particular synaptic proteins, synaptogenesis and memory formation [6]. Thus, impaired p25 generation may cause early synaptic dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease. Furthermore, we demonstrated that p25 generation regulates expression of the



© 2015 Tiwari et al.; licensee BioMed Central. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly credited. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

^{*} Correspondence: Karl.Giese@kcl.ac.uk

¹Centre for Cellular Basis of Behaviour, Department of Neuroscience, King's College London, 125 Coldharbour Lane, London, SE5 9NU, UK

⁵Centre for the Cellular Basis of Behaviour, James Black Centre, King's College London, Institute of Psychiatry, 125 Coldharbour Lane, London, SE5 9NU, UK Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

synaptic chaperone protein cysteine string protein (CSP) alpha [6]. CSPalpha is a synaptic vesicle protein that belongs to a conserved gene family [7,8] that includes CSPalpha, CSPbeta and CSPgamma of which only CSPalpha is expressed in the brain [9,10]. CSPalpha function is essential for synaptic survival as indicated in mouse knockout studies [10]. Furthermore, loss-of-function CSPalpha mutations are responsible for autosomal dominant Kufs disease, an adult-onset neurodegenerative disorder with associated dementia [11,12]. CSPalpha is proposed to serve various functions at the presynapse, including: 1) Formation of a trimeric complex with SGT and Hsc 70, resulting in a CSP/SGT/Hsc70 chaperone complex that is localised at synaptic vesicles [13] and interacts with SNARE proteins leading to calcium-triggered synaptic vesicle exocytosis [14,15]. 2) Modulation of presynaptic calcium levels by regulating the activity of presynaptic calcium channels [8,16]. 3) Regulation of endocytosis by facilitating dynamin 1 polymerization [17]. 4) Regulation of the density of calcium-dependent K⁺ (BK) channel at the presynaptic terminal, controlling the excitability there [18,19].

Our finding that CSPalpha is a p25-regulated protein [6] suggested that CSPalpha expression may be impaired in Alzheimer's disease. Here we tested this hypothesis by examination of post-mortem human tissues. As expected, we found that CSPalpha expression is reduced in forebrain of early and late Alzheimer's disease. Interestingly, CSPalpha expression was reduced before synaptophysin levels drop, suggesting that it contributes to the initial stages of synaptic degeneration. Surprisingly, we discovered an upregulation of CSPalpha expression in Alzheimer's disease cerebellum, a brain area that is protected from synaptic degeneration. Further post-mortem investigations and work with a mouse model of tauopathy established a novel correlation between CSPalpha upregulation and neuroprotection.

Results

Specificity of anti-CSPalpha antibody

To study CSPalpha protein expression we performed western blots and immunohistochemistry with an anti-CSPalpha antibody, which does not react with other protein in CSPalpha knockout mice [10] (Figure 1).

CSPalpha expression is reduced in post-mortem Alzheimer's disease hippocampus

The hippocampus is one of the earliest and one of the most severely affected brain regions in Alzheimer's disease [20]. We studied whether CSPalpha protein expression is affected in this brain region, comparing post-mortem samples from severe Alzheimer's disease patients (Braak stages 5 and 6) and age-matched control subjects by western blot analysis. CSPalpha expression was normalized to either the neuronal marker NSE or the synaptic marker





synaptophysin (Figure 2A, C). In both cases CSPalpha levels were significantly decreased in the hippocampus of severe Alzheimer's disease patients (referring to NSE expression: F(2,21) = 21.3; p < 0.01; referring to synaptophysin expression: F(2,19) = 14.6, p < 0.05). This result suggests that in severe Alzheimer's disease CSPalpha expression is not simply reduced as a result of neuronal or synaptic loss, and that reduced CSPalpha expression may precede synaptic loss during the progression of Alzheimer's disease.

Interestingly, we did not find that synaptopysin levels are reduced in Alzheimer's disease when normalized to NSE expression (Additional file 1: Figure S1). In contrast synaptophysin levels are reduced when absolute expression levels are considered (e.g., [21-23]). Therefore, neuronal loss in Alzheimer's disease appears to mainly contribute to reduced expression of synaptophysin, which can be corrected for when expression is normalized to NSE.

We also analysed CSPalpha expression in mild Alzheimer's disease (Braak stages 1 and 2) (Figure 2B, D). Analysis of western blot results revealed a significant decrease in CSPalpha levels in the mild Alzheimer's disease hippocampus when normalized with synaptophysin (F(2,20 = 4.26; P < 0.05), but showed no difference when normalized with NSE (F(2,21 = 0.366, p = 0.427). These results indicate that decreases in CSPalpha expression in the hippocampus is an early event in Alzheimer's disease.



Figure 2 CSPaipha protein expression is reduced in Alzheimer's disease hippocampus. (A) CSPaipha expression in post-mortem hippocampus from patients with severe Alzheimer's disease (Braak stages 5 and 6; n = 12; average age at death = 75.2 ± 2.0 years) and control subjects (n = 12; average age at death = 76.5 ± 2.9 years). CSPalpha expression was normalized against the neuron-specific house keeping marker protein NSE. (B) CSPalpha expression in post-mortem hippocampus from patients with mild Alzheimer's disease (Braak stages 1 and 2; n = 12; average age at death = 80.3 ± 3.2 years) and control subjects (n = 12). CSPalpha expression was normalized against NSE. (C) The same samples as in panel (A) were used but CSPalpha expression was normalized against the synaptic marker protein synaptophysin (severe Alzheimer's disease, n = 11; control, n = 11). (D) The same samples as in panel (B) were used but CSPalpha expression was normalized against synaptophysin (mild Alzheimer's disease, n = 12; control, n = 11). Panel (E) shows the representative western blots for 7 controls, 7 patients with severe AD and 7 patients with mild AD. Note that the anti-CSPalpha antibody recognizes two bands at an approximate molecular weight range of 35 kiloDalton, which are likely to represent distinct post-translational modifications of CSPalpha. Means ± s.e.m. are shown. *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01.

CSPalpha expression is reduced in Alzheimer's disease superior temporal gyrus

We next studied CSPalpha expression in the superior temporal gyrus (STG), which is affected later and less severely than the hippocampus in Alzheimer's disease. In a western blot analysis we compared CSPalpha expression in severe Alzheimer's disease and control STG. The level of CSPalpha expression was again normalised to NSE or synaptophysin (Figure 3). In both cases, there was a significant reduction in CSPalpha expression (referring to NSE expression: F(2,22) = 14.8; p < 0.01; referring to synaptophysin expression: F(2,22) = 7.48, p < 0.001), similar to that found in the hippocampus (Figure 2A, C). These results show that changes in CSP levels are not limited to the hippocampus in Alzheimer's disease brain, but are also found in other degenerating forebrain regions.

CSPalpha expression is increased in Alzheimer's disease cerebellum

The cerebellum is the least affected brain structure in Alzheimer's disease [1,2]. There is no synapse and neuronal loss in this brain region in this disease. We investigated the levels of CSPalpha expression in cerebellum from severe Alzheimer's disease and controls, using western blot analysis. As in the case of hippocampus, CSPalpha amounts were normalized against NSE and synaptophysin (Figure 4A, C). In both cases CSPalpha levels were significantly increased by about 50% (referring to NSE expression: F(2,17) = 2.76; p < 0.05; referring to synaptophysin expression: F(2,17) = 5.28, p < 0.01). We also analysed CSPalpha expression in mild Alzheimer's diseaseand control cerebellum (Figure 4B, D). We found that the level of CSPalpha expression was significantly increased in mild Alzheimer's disease cerebellum when







Figure 4 CSPalpha expression is increased in Alzheimer's disease cerebellum. (A) CSPalpha expression in post-mortem cerebellum from patients with severe Alzheimer's disease (n = 10; average age at death = 74.7 \pm 4.0 years) and control subjects (n = 10; average age at death = 76.3 \pm 4.2 years). CSPalpha expression was normalized against NSE. (B) CSPalpha expression in post-mortem cerebellum from patients with mild Alzheimer's disease (n = 10; average age at death = 81.3 \pm 4.1 years) and control subjects (n = 10). CSPalpha expression was normalized against NSE. (C) The same samples as in panel (A) were used but CSPalpha expression was normalized against synaptophysin. (D) The same samples as in panel (B) were used but CSPalpha expression was normalized against synaptophysin. Panel (E) shows the representative western blots for 5 controls, 5 patients with mild AD and 5 patients with severe AD. Means \pm se.m. are shown. *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01.

normalized with both NSE and synaptophysin (referring to NSE expression: F(2,17) = 7.25; p < 0.05; referring to synaptophysin expression: F(2,17) = 4.18, p < 0.05). Therefore, we have observed reduced CSPalpha amounts in degenerating regions of early and severe Alzheimer's disease brain, and increased levels of CSPalpha in areas of Alzheimer's disease brain that are relatively spared from degeneration. These findings suggest that there may be a mechanistic link between CSPalpha expression levels and neuroprotection in Alzheimer's disease.

Immunohistochemical analysis confirms CSPalpha downregulation in forebrain and upregulation in cerebellum in Alzheimer's disease

To confirm the changes in CSPalpha protein amounts determined by western blotting, we carried out a qualitative immunohistochemical analysis with post-mortem cerebellum, hippocampus and STG from a severe Alzheimer's disease patients and a control subject (Figure 5; Additional file 2: Figure S4). A neuropathologist blinded to the disease state of the tissue performed a qualitative





comparison of CSPalpha expession. This comparison confirmed an increase in CSPalpha levels in cerebellar regions (Figure 5) and a decrease in hippocampus and STG in severe Alzheimer's disease compared to control (Additional file 2: Figure S4). To validate the synaptic specificity of the anti-CSPalpha antibodies, the immunohistochemistry was compared with synaptophysin expression patterns (Additional file 3: Figure S2). Staining of cerebellar dentate nucleus from a control subject showed similar results with both antibodies, confirming that the CSPalpha immunostaining was typical for synaptic staining.

CSPalpha expression is not changed in frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD) cerebellum

Frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD) is a prominent form of dementia that is characterized by neurodegeneration of the frontotemporal region [24]. In addition to frontal lobe degeneration, the cerebellum is also reported to be affected in FTLD cases [25]. This disparity provided an opportunity to test the specificity of our observation that CSPalpha is upregulated in Alzheimer's disease cerebellum. We performed a western blot analysis to study whether altered CSPalpha expression is linked to cerebellar neuropathology in FTLD (Figure 6). CSPalpha expression levels did not differ between FTLD



FTLD. CSPalpha expression in post-mortem cerebellum from patients with FTLD (n = 5; average age at death = 73.0 ± 3.0 years) and control subjects (n = 5; average age at death = 70.2 ± 7.2 years).CSPalpha expression was normalized against NSE (**A**). Panel (**B**) shows the representative western blots for 5 controls and 5 patients with FTLD. Means \pm s.e.m. are shown.

and control cerebellum (t = -0.373, p = 0.72). Hence, increased CSPalpha expression in the cerebellum is not a common feature of neurodegenerative disease, but appears to be specific for Alzheimer's disease.

Normal ageing reduces CSPalpha expression in human cerebellum

The difference in CSPalpha expression in the hippocampus and cerebellum of Alzheimer's disease brain suggests that CSPalpha expression may be differentially regulated under physiological and/or pathological conditions. Therefore, we studied whether normal ageing also regulates CSPalpha expression in cerebellum. Using western blots, we analysed CSPalpha protein expression in cerebellum from healthy subjects belonging to two age groups, 15-30 years ($21.3 \pm$ 1.6 years) and 90–105 years (96.1 \pm 1.4 years) (Figure 7). CSPalpha expression was reduced by approximately 50% in the aged cerebellum when expression was normalized to NSE expression (t = 2.443; p < 0.05). Similarly, when normalized to synaptophysin levels the average CSPalpha expression in the aged cerebellum appeared lower than in young cerebellum, although this did not reach significance (t = 1.351; p = 0.23), most likely due to a large variability of CSPalpha amounts in young cerebellum. Taken together, our results suggest that CSPalpha amounts are subject to age-dependent decreases in healthy cerebellum. Interestingly, the CSPalpha expression level in Alzheimer's disease cerebellum is similar to the expression level found in young healthy cerebellum.

Overexpression of human tau leads to an age-dependent decline in hippocampal-cortical CSPalpha levels

Together with amyloid plaques, neurofibrillary tangles containing hyperphosphorylated tau aggregates are a pathological hallmark of Alzheimer's disease. We investigated the levels of CSPalpha in a mouse model of tauopathy that which expresses the entire wild-type human tau gene in the absence of mouse tau [26]. These mutants progressively develop hyperphosphorylated tau and form neurofibrillary tangles predominantly in the cortex and hippocampus. This model also has deficits in basal synaptic transmission, long-term potentiation and memory, and a widespread neuronal loss in old age [27,28]. The tau pathology is visible with biochemical analysis from 3 weeks of age, but neuronal loss is only apparent from 17 months of age onwards. We studied CSPalpha expression in the hippocampus/overlying cortex (Figure 8A, Additional file 4: Figure S3), frontal cortex (Figure 8B) and cerebellum (Figure 8C) of htau mutants and wild-type mice at 3-4 months of age. We found a significant upregulation of CSPalpha expression in hippocampus (Figure 8A, t = 6.539, p < 0.001), frontal cortex (Figure 8B, t = 8.005, p < 0.001) and cerebellum (Figure 8C, t = 5.200, p < 0.001) in 3–4 month-old htau

CSP





wild type (n = 6) and htau mice (n = 6). (C) CSPalpha expression in cerebellum of the same mouse sample as in panel (A) and (B). (D) CSP alpha expression in old (24 months) wild type (n = 4) and htau mice (n = 7). CSPalpha expression was normalized against NSE in all panels. Panel (E) shows the representative western blots. Means \pm s.e.m are shown. ***, p < 0.001.

mice relative to controls. At this age there is no neuronal loss in htau mice, and therefore this findings is in agreement with the idea that increased CSPalpha expression may be a neuroprotective mechanism. We also investigated CSPalpha expression at 24 months of age in hippocampal/ overlying cortex lysates prepared from htau and wild type mice (Figure 8D). At this age point no differences in the levels of CSPalpha in the hippocampus from wild type and htau mice was apparent (Figure 8D, t = -0.220, p = 0.83). Thus, at a time point when neuronal loss is observed, CSPalpha expression is no longer elevated.

Discussion

The main findings of our study are that 1) expression of CSPalpha is reduced in degenerating forebrain in mild and severe Alzheimer's disease. This downregulation occurs before synaptophysin levels drop. 2) CSPalpha expression is upregulated in Alzheimer's disease cerebellum, a brain region protected from synaptic and neuronal loss in Alzheimer's disease. This upregulation is at a level that occurs in young healthy cerebellum. 3) CSPalpha expression is not upregulated in FTLD cerebellum where neuropathology occurs. 4) In a mouse model of tauopathy CSPalpha upregulation inversely correlates with neurodegeneration. Taken together, these findings provide evidence that CSPalpha is a critical player of synaptic degeneration and synaptic survival in Alzheimer's disease.

CSPalpha is a p25-regulated protein, and we have previously shown that p25 expression is downregulated in Alzheimer's disease forebrain [6]. In addition, loss-offunction CSPalpha mutations cause adult-onset Kufs disease that is associated with dementia [11,12]. We therefore speculated that CSPalpha expression could be altered in Alzheimer's disease. Here we confirm this idea. We found that CSPalpha expression is reduced in hippocampus and STG in severe Alzheimer's disease. In western blots we detected CSPalpha as two bands due to posttranslational modifications. The posttranslational modifications and the levels of CSPalpha appear variable within a given group. However, when normalized to NSE or synaptophysin and when outliers were excluded (see, Material and methods) significant differences in expression between groups were identified. Our finding that CSPalpha expression is reduced in AD hippocampus and STG is consistent with another study, which was published after we started our project, showing that in Brodmann area 9 of severe Alzheimer's disease CSPalpha expression is reduced by about 40% [29]. Furthermore, we also detected a downregulation of CSPalpha expression in hippocampus in mild Alzheimer's disease when CSPalpha amounts were normalized to the synaptic marker synaptophysin. Traditionally, synaptophysin is used as a neuropathological marker of synaptic degeneration in Alzheimer's disease [3]. However, our finding that CSPalpha levels are reduced without noticeable changes in synaptophysin expression, when relative neuronal expression rather than absolute protein expression is analyzed. When considering the importance of CSPalpha for synaptic function [10], our findings suggest that reduced CSPalpha expression is likely to be involved in the initial stages of synaptic degeneration. Further, for investigating synaptic degeneration in Alzheimer's disease analysis CSPalpha expression appears more suitable than assessing synaptophysin expression.

CSPalpha, along with its interacting partners Hsc-70 and SGT, is involved in exocytotic mechanisms in presynaptic terminals that are mediated by its interactions with SNARE complexes [9]. Downregulation of CSPalpha may therefore lead to reductions in the number of synaptic vesicles binding at presynaptic membranes, thereby affecting synaptic activity. Further, CSPalpha is also important for endocytosis of synaptic vesicles. CSPalpha interacts with dynamin to facilitate the of dynamin polymerization which is important for endocytotic vesicle fission [17,29]. This is important for normal synaptic function since the number of synaptic vesicles readily available for exocytosis is reduced when there are defects in endocytotic fission [30]. This suggests that defects observed in exocytotic mechanisms in CSPalpha knockout mice could be explained by deficits in CSPalpha-dependent endocytotic mechanisms. Hence, CSPalpha downregulation could lead to loss of function at different stages of synaptic vesicular recycling to contribute to synaptic loss. Additionally, reduced CSPalpha expression is expected to increase BK channel density at synapses, which reduces excitability at presynaptic terminals [18,19]. BK channel activation has been reported to decrease basal synaptic transmission in hippocampal CA1 region of a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease [31]. Loss of synaptic activity is thought to be lethal for synapses, therefore, the downregulation in CSPalpha expression we observe in Alzheimer's disease hippocampus could be closely associated with synaptic degeneration and the resulting impaired memory formation in early Alzheimer's disease.

The second major finding from our study is the identification of CSPalpha upregulation in Alzheimer's disease cerebellum. The cerebellum is relatively protected from neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease. For example, there is no synaptic and neuronal loss in this area, although there are some diffuse amyloid plaques [1]. The molecular mechanisms that impart neuroprotection to the cerebellum in Alzheimer's disease are not known. Our results suggest that CSPalpha may be a factor contributing to this neuroprotection. We observed an upregulation of CSPalpha in cerebellum both in mild and severe Alzheimer's disease. Importantly, we found that the level of upregulation in this region is comparable to the amounts of CSPalpha expression detected in young, healthy cerebellum, in contrast to an age-dependent decrease in CSPalpha expression in normal cerebellum. Additional experimental support for the suggestion that CSPalpha upregulation could be neuroprotective in Alzheimer's disease comes from our finding that CSPalpha expression is not altered in cerebellum from patients with FTLD, although there is neuropathology in the cerebellum in this disease [25,32,33]. Additional support for our hypothesis comes from analysis of htau mutant mice, where we found that CSPalpha upregulation occurs only at times when no neuronal loss is observed. Taken together, the evidence we present here suggests that CSPalpha upregulation in Alzheimer's disease cerebellum might be neuroprotective, although in future functional studies in model systems are needed to support this idea.

How could CSPalpha upregulation protect synapses and consequently neurons in Alzheimer's disease cerebellum? In Alzheimer's disease forebrain, amyloid-induced aberrations in synaptic activity are one of the causes of synaptic toxicity [34]. In particular, dysfunctional synaptic machinery could be an after-effect of impaired synaptic vesicle trafficking. Aß oligomers impair synaptic vesicle recycling by hindering endocytosis as well as the formation of fusion-competent vesicles [35]. Furthermore, transgenic mouse studies have suggested that presynaptic degeneration is pivotal in Alzheimer's disease [36]. Considering the role of CSPalpha in endocytosis and vesicle recycling, an up regulation of CSPalpha in Alzheimer's disease cerebellum could be a compensatory mechanism that prevents impairments in synaptic vesicle recycling that are induced by factors causing Alzheimer's disease. This might result in protection of synapses and neurons from degeneration. Functional studies with CSPalpha knockout and upregulation models will provide further insights into the mechanistic basis of our observations.

Conclusion

Synapse loss in forebrain, but not cerebellum, is a key hallmark of in Alzheimer's disease. However, the mechanisms causing brain region-dependent synapse loss and protection are unknown. Here we provide evidence that the presynaptic vesicle protein CSPalpha is a critical player in Alzheimer's disease. In the forebrain CSPalpha expression reduces in the initial stages of synaptic degeneration before synaptophysin levels drop. In cerebellum CSPalpha expression is upregulated both in mild and severe Alzheimer's disease. This upregulation of CSPalpha is to a level that occurs in young health cerebellum. In a mouse model of tauopathy we confirmed a lack of neuronal loss when CSPalpha expression is elevated. Taken together, these findings point to critical role for CSPalpha in synaptic degeneration and protection in Alzheimer's disease.

Material and methods

Post-mortem human brain samples

Brain tissues in 10% (v/v) formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue blocks and as frozen tissues were available from the Medical Research Council (MRC) London Neurodegenerative Diseases Brain Bank (Institute of Psychiatry, King's College London, UK). All tissue collection and processing was carried out under the regulations and licensing of the Human Tissue Authority and in accordance with the Human Tissue Act, 2004. Frozen samples were received in two sets for western blot analysis. The first set contained hippocampal tissue from control subjects, mild Alzheimer's disease (Braak stages 1-2) and severe Alzheimer's disease (Braak stages 5–6) [n = 7 for each group], as well as superior temporal gyrus (STG) samples from controls and severe Alzheimer's disease [n = 7 and n = 9, respectively]. The second set comprised hippocampus, STG and cerebellum samples from control, mild and severe Alzheimer's disease patients (n = 5 for each group). To increase the sample size of cerebellum, a new cohort (n = 5 per group) was later added to the analysis. Cerebellum samples (n = 5) were obtained from frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD) patients. Cerebellum tissues were also obtained from healthy subjects less than 30 years old (n = 6) and older than 90 years (n = 7). Additional file 5: Table S1 summarizes the details.

Lysate preparation from human brain samples

Frozen brain samples were lysed at 4°C in RIPA lysis buffer (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., USA) consisting of 0.1% SDS, 1% Nonidet P-40, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate and 0.004% sodium azide in TBS (pH 7.5). Protease inhibitors cocktail, sodium orthovanadate and α -toluenesulphonyl fluoride in DMSO (all Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., USA) were added to the buffer, diluted to 0.01%. The SDS concentration was increased to 0.25%. Approximately 100 mg of brain tissue was lysed in 300 µl buffer. Samples were homogenized using a dounce homogenizer (12 up and down strokes, 700 rotations per minute) at 4°C, and centrifuged at 3,000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C. Supernatants were immunoblotted and the bands from protein of interest were normalized with housekeeping proteins.

Mouse brain samples

Frontal cortex, cerebellum and hippocampus/overlying cortex was isolated from 3–4 month old human tau (htau) mice in the C57BL/6 J background (Jackson Laboratories, Bar Harbor, Maine USA; Stock number: 005 491). Mice were genotyped by PCR to confirm the presence of the human *MAPT* transgene and the mouse *Mapt null* background using primers for the *MAPT* gene (forward 5'-AC TTTGAACCAGGATGGCTGAGCCC-3', reverse 5'-CTG TGCATGGCTGTCCCTACCTT-3'), and the mouse *Mapt* gene (forward 5'-CTCAGCATCCCACCTGTAAC-3', reverse 5'-CCAGTTGTGTGTGTGTCCACCC-3'), as described in [20]. The primers for the disrupted *Mapt* gene were: forward 5'-AAGTTCATCTGCACCACC G-3', reverse 5'-TCCTTGAAGAAGATGGTG CG-3'.

Mice were housed on 12 h light:12 h dark cycles with food and water available *ad libitum*. Mice were killed by cervical dislocation and brain regions snap frozen on dry ice. All animal procedures were conducted in accordance with the UK Home Office, Animals Scientific Procedures Act 1986.

Lysate preparation from mouse brain samples

Frozen tissue was homogenised at 100 mg/ml in 2× sample buffer (0.5 M Tris–HCl, pH 6.8, 4.4% SDS, 20% glycerol, 2% 2-mercaptoethanol, 0.01% bromophenol blue, and complete mini-protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche Products Ltd., UK). Following brief sonication, homogenates were centrifuged at 25,000 g for 20 minutes at 4°C, and the supernatant was collected.

Western blot analysis

The same protein amounts were separated on criterion TGX precast gels (4-15%) gels (BioRad) and the protein was transferred onto a methanol activated PVDF membrane (BioRad), using standard protocols. Non-specific binding was blocked by 5% non-fat dried milk in TBST for 1 hour at room temperature. Subsequently, membranes were incubated overnight at 4°C in primary antibody solution prepared in blocking buffer. After three ten minute washes in TBST at room temperature, membranes were incubated for two hours at room temperature with horse-radish peroxidase conjugated secondary antibodies in blocking buffer. After three ten minute washes with TBST, the membrane was incubated for 3 minutes in ECL reagent (Thermo Scientific) and then exposed to an X-ray film (Amersham) in the linear range. To probe the membranes with other primary antibodies, membranes were treated with a stripping buffer (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) for one hour at room temperature, followed by three washes with TBST of 10 minutes each and subsequent labelling as described above. Primary antibodies against CSPalpha (1:50,000, AB1576 Merck Millipore), synaptophysin (1:1000, 4329 Cell Signalling Technology) and neuron specific enolase (NSE) (1:60,000, AB 951 Merck Millipore) were used. Signals were analyzed using ImageJ software (NIH). With the antibodies against CSPalpha sometimes two bands were detected in human postmortem brain. These bands are not CSPbeta and CSPgamma since these proteins are not expressed in brain [10]. For standardization CSPalpha was normalized against NSE or synaptophysin.

Immunohistochemistry

Sections of human brain of 7 μ m thickness were cut from paraffin-embedded tissue blocks. Sections were

deparaffinised in xylene and rehydrated in ethanol. Endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked by incubation of sections with 2.5% H₂O₂ in methanol. To enhance antigen retrieval sections were exposed to citrate buffer (2.94 g/L, pH 6.0) for 16 minutes microwave treatment (6 minutes high, two 5 minutes simmer). After blocking in normal swine serum (DAKO Ltd), primary antibodies against CSPalpha (1:500, AB1576 Merck Millipore), and synaptophysin (1:100, SY38 DAKO Ltd) were applied overnight at 4°C. Following rinsing and two five minutes washes in TBS, sections were incubated with appropriate biotinylated secondary antibodies (1:100, Swine anti-rabbit immunoglobulin/biotinylated, E0353 DAKO Ltd), followed by incubation with avidin:biotin enzyme complex (Vectastain Elite ABC kit, Vector Laboratories, Peterborough, UK). Following washing, sections were incubated for 10-15 min with 0.5 mg/ml 3,3'-diaminobenzidine chromogen (Sigma-Aldrich Company Ltd, Dorset UK) in Tris-buffered saline (pH 7.6) containing 0.05% H₂O₂. Sections were counterstained with Harris's haematoxylin.

Statistical analysis

Un-paired t tests were used for comparison of data from samples tested in one western blot. – In some cases, the sample size was so large so that data from more than one western blot needed to be pooled. To allow pooling of data by linear regression, the following equation was used -

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{CSP}{Normalization Marker} \\ (NSE, Synaptophysin) \end{pmatrix}_{i} = \beta_{0} + \beta_{1} \times X_{1i} + \beta_{2} \times X_{2i} + \epsilon_{i}$$

Where X_{1i} is the categorical predictor coding for the group difference (e.g. Control versus Severe), and X_{2i} is the categorical predictor coding for the different experiments ("1stcohort" versus "2ndcohort").

This regression model allowed us to pool the CSPalpha score from two different set of samples by eliminating the contribution made by the difference in experimental conditions. This analysis was performed using SPSS (version 20), which provides the output as an ANOVA score. The contribution and the significance of the factor of interest (e.g. the disease pathology) to the overall significance is subsequently determined by the score from this output. The level of significance for the analysis was 0.05 and outliers were decided by using mean ± 4 *SD as threshold. See Additional file 6 in supplementary information for analysis of post-mortem brain tissue.

Additional files

Additional file 1: Figure S1. Synaptophysin protein expression in reference to NSE expression is unchanged in Alzheimer's disease

hippocampus. (A) Synaptophysin expression in post-mortem hippocampus from patients with severe AD (n = 12) and control subjects (n = 12) was normalized against the neuron specific house keeping marker protein NSE. (B) Synaptophysin expression in post-mortem hippocampus from patients with mild AD (n = 12) and control subjects (n = 12) was normalized against NSE. Means \pm s.e.m. are shown. *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01.

Additional file 2: Figure S4. Decreased CSPalpha immunostaining in Alzheimer's disease hippocampus and STG. Fixed hippocampal sections from a patient with severe Alzheimer's disease (D) and an age-matched control subject (C) were probed with anti-CSPalpha antibodies for analysis of CSPalpha expression.Sections from the hippocampus with the granule cell layer show decreased immunoreactivity with a synaptic staining pattern in Alzheimer's disease as compared to the control case. A similar analysis was carried out for expression in superior temporal gyrus (STG) from a patient with severe Alzheimer's disease (B) and an age-matched control subject (A). In the STG there is decreased immunoreactivity in Alzheimer's disease as compared to control. Haematoxylin counterstain is included in the analysis. Original magnification: x400. Scale bars represent 20 µm.

Additional file 3: Figure S2. CSPalpha immunostaining in cerebellum is typical for synaptic expression. Immunohistochemical sections of cerebellar dentate nucleus region from a control patient were immunostained with anti-CSPalpha antibodies (A) and with antibodies against the synaptic marker synaptophysin (B). This comparison indicated that the CSPalphaimmunostaining is synaptic as obtained for synaptophysin immunostaining. Scale bars represent 200 µm.

Additional file 4: Figure S3. Synaptophysin levels relative to NSE expression are unchanged in hTau mutant mouse hippocampus. Synaptophysin expression in hippocampus of young (3–4 months) wild type (n = 6) and hTau mice (n = 6) was normalized against NSE in all panels. Means ± s.e.m are shown.

Additional file 5: Table S1. Details of post-mortem brain tissues for western blots. PMD refers to post-mortem delay.

Additional file 6: Statistical analysis of the effect of age, gender and post mortem delay on post-mortem brain tissues used in this study.

Abbreviations

CSP: Cysteine String Protein; STG: Superior Temporal Gyrus; FTLD: Fronto Temporal Lobar Degeneration; NSE: Neuronal Specific Enolase.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Authors' contributions

SST, MD, CT, BNS, OE and WN performed the experiments. SST, MD, TH and KPG analyzed the data. SST, TH and KPG wrote the manuscript. SST and KPG designed and coordinated the study. SST, MD, CT, BNS, OE, WN, TH and KPG reviewed, edited and approved the manuscript.

Acknowledgements

We thank Drs. Leonardo Gómez-Sanchez and Rafael Fernandez-Chacon (University of Seville, Spain) for CSPalpha knockout brain tissue, Drs. Victoria Harris and Ulrike Naumann (Department of Biostatistics, King's College London, UK) for their advice on statistical analysis, and Katalin Erzsébet Nagy (University of Debrecen, Hungary) for assistance with immunohistochemical studies. This work was supported by an international PhD scholarship from King's College London (to SST), an EMBO short-term fellowship (to SST), the British Medical Research Council (to KPG), and TH is supported by the Brain Research Programme, Hungary (NAP).

Author details

¹Centre for Cellular Basis of Behaviour, Department of Neuroscience, King's College London, 125 Coldharbour Lane, London, SE5 9NU, UK. ²Department of Clinical Neuroscience, Institute of Psychiatry, King's College London, De Crespigny Park, London, SE5 8AF, UK. ³Department of Neuroscience, King's College London, DeCrespigny Park, London, SE5 8AF, UK. ⁴Department of Neuropathology, Institute of Pathology, University of Debrecen, 4032 Debrecen, Hungary. ⁵Centre for the Cellular Basis of Behaviour, James Black Centre, King's College London, Institute of Psychiatry, 125 Coldharbour Lane, London, SE5 9NU, UK.

Received: 22 December 2014 Accepted: 15 January 2015 Published online: 29 January 2015

References

- Larner AJ. The cerebellum in Alzheimer's disease. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 1997;8:203–9.
- Andersen K, Andersen BB, Pakkenberg B. Stereological quantification of the cerebellum in patients with Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging. 2012;33:197.e11–20.
- Arendt T. Synaptic degeneration in Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathol. 2009;118:167–79.
- Serrano-Pozo A, Frosch MP, Masliah E, Hyman BT. Neuropathological alterations in Alzheimer's disease. In The Biology of Alzheimer's Disease. 1st edition. Edited by Selkoe DL, Mandelkow E, Holtzman DM: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press; 2012:43–65.
- Giese KP. Generation of the Cdk5 activator p25 is a memory mechanism that is impaired in Alzheimer's disease. Front Mol Neurosci. 2014;7:36.
- Engmann O, Hortobagyi T, Thompson AJ, Guadagno J, Troakes C, Soriano S, et al. Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 activator p25 is generated during memory formation and is reduced at an early stage in Alzheimer's disease. Biol Psychiatry. 2011;70:159–68.
- Zinsmaier KE, Hofbauer A, Heimbeck G, Pflugfelder GO, Buchner S, Buchner E. A cysteine-string protein is expressed in retina and brain of Drosophila. J Neurogenet. 1990;7:15–29.
- Gundersen CB, Umbach JA. Suppression cloning of the cDNA for a candidate subunit of a presynaptic calcium channel. Neuron. 1992;9:527–37.
- Evans GJ, Morgan A. Regulation of the exocytotic machinery by cAMP-dependent protein kinase: implications for presynaptic plasticity. Biochem Soc Trans. 2003;31:824–7.
- Fernandez-Chacon R, Wolfel M, Nishimune H, Tabares L, Schmitz F, Castellano-Munoz M, et al. The synaptic vesicle protein CSP alpha prevents presynaptic degeneration. Neuron. 2004;42:237–51.
- Noskova L, Stranecky V, Hartmannova H, Pristoupilova A, Baresova V, Ivanek R, et al. Mutations in DNAJC5, encoding cysteine-string protein alpha, cause autosomal-dominant adult-onset neuronal ceroidlipofuscinosis. Am J Hum Genet. 2011;89:241–52.
- Cadieux-Dion M, Andermann E, Lachance-Touchette P, Ansorge O, Meloche C, Barnabe A, et al. Recurrent mutations in DNAJC5 cause autosomal dominant Kufs disease. Clin Genet. 2013;83:571–5.
- Tobaben S, Thakur P, Fernandez-Chacon R, Südhof TC, Rettig J, Stahl B. A trimeric protein complex functions as a synaptic chaperone machine. Neuron. 2001;31:987–99.
- Nie Z, Ranjan R, Wenniger JJ, Hong SN, Bronk P, Zinsmaier KE. Overexpression of cysteine-string proteins in Drosophila reveals interactions with syntaxin. J Neurosci. 1999;19:10270–9.
- Evans GJ, Morgan A. Phosphorylation-dependent interaction of the synaptic vesicle proteins cysteine string protein and synaptotagmin I. Biochem J. 2002;364:343–7.
- Ranjan R, Bronk P, Zinsmaier KE. Cysteine string protein is required for calcium secretion coupling of evoked neurotransmission in drosophila but not for vesicle recycling. J Neurosci. 1998;18:956–64.
- Rozas JL, Gomez-Sanchez L, Mircheski J, Linares-Clemente P, Nieto-Gonzalez JL, Vazquez ME, et al. Motorneurons require cysteine string protein-alpha to maintain the readily releasable vesicular pool and synaptic vesicle recycling. Neuron. 2012;74:151–65.
- Kyle BD, Ahrendt E, Braun AP, Braun JE. The large conductance, calciumactivated K⁺ (BK) channel is regulated by cysteine string protein. Sci Rep. 2013;3:2447.
- Ahrendt E, Kyle B, Braun AP, Braun JE. Cysteine string protein limits expression of the large conductance, calcium-activated K⁺ (BK) channel. PLoS One. 2014;9:e86586.
- 20. Braak H, Braak E. Neuropathological stageing of Alzheimer-related changes. Acta Neuropathol. 1991;82:239–59.
- Masliah E, Mallory M, Hansen L, DeTeresa R, Alford M, Terry R. Synaptic and neuritic alterations during the progression of Alzheimer's disease. Neurosci Lett. 1994;174:67–72.
- Heinonen O, Soininen H, Sorvari H, Kosunen O, Paljarvi L, Koivisto E, et al. Loss of synaptophysin-like immunoreactivity in the hippocampal formation is an early phenomenon on Alzheimer's disease. Neuroscience. 1995;64:375–84.

- Sze CI, Troncoso JC, Kawas C, Mouton P, Price DL, Martin LJ. Loss of the presynaptic vesicle protein synaptophysin in hippocampus correlates with cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 1997;56:933–44.
- Cruts M, Gijselinck I, Van Langenhove T, van der Zee J, Van Broeckhoven C. Current insights into the C9orf72 repeat expansion diseases of the FTLD/ALS spectrum. Trends Neurosci. 2013;2013(36):450–9.
- King A, Al-Sarraj S, Troakes C, Smith BN, Maekawa S, Iovino M, et al. Mixed tau, TDP-43 and p62 pathology in FTLD associated with a C9ORF72 repeat expansion and p.Ala239Thr MAPT (tau) variant. Acta Neuropathol. 2013;125:303–10.
- Andorfer C, Kress Y, Espinoza M, de Silva R, Tucker KL, Barde YA, et al. Hyperphosphorylation and aggregation of tau in mice expressing normal human tau isoforms. J Neurochem. 2003;86:582–90.
- 27. Andorfer C, Acker CM, Kress Y, Hof PR, Duff K, Davies P. Cell-cycle reentry and cell death in transgenic mice expressing nonmutant human tau isoforms. J Neurosci. 2005;25:5446–54.
- Polydoro M, Acker CM, Duff K, Castillo PE, Davies P. Age-dependent impairment of cognitive and synaptic function in the htau mouse model of tau pathology. J Neurosci. 2009;29:10741–9.
- Zhang YQ, Henderson MX, Colangelo CM, Ginsberg SD, Bruce C, Wu T, et al. Identification of CSPalpha clients reveals a role in dynamin 1 regulation. Neuron. 2012;74:136–50.
- Wu XS, McNeil BD, Xu J, Fan J, Xue L, Melicoff E, et al. Ca²⁺ and calmodulin initiate all forms of endocytosis during depolarization at a nerve terminal. Nat Neurosci. 2009;12:1003–10.
- Ye H, Jalini S, Mylvaganam S, Carlen P. Activation of large-conductance Ca²⁺-activated K⁺ channels depresses basal synaptic transmission in the hippocampal CA1 area in APP (swe/ind) TgCRND8 mice. Neurobiol Aging. 2010;31:591–604.
- Al-Sarraj S, King A, Troakes C, Smith B, Maekawa S, Bodi I, et al. p62 positive, TDP-43 negative, neuronal cytoplasmic and intranuclear inclusions in the cerebellum and hippocampus define the pathology of C9orf72-linked FTLD and MND/ALS. Acta Neuropathol. 2011;122:691–702.
- 33. Troakes C, Maekawa S, Wijesekera L, Rogelj B, Siklos L, Bell C, et al. An MND/ALS phenotype associated with *C9orf72* repeat expansion: Abundant p62 positive, TDP-43 negative inclusions in cerebral cortex, hippocampus and cerebellum but without associated cognitive decline. Neuropathology. 2012;32:505–14.
- Westmark CJ. What's hAPPening at synapses? The role of amyloid beta-protein precursor and beta-amyloid in neurological disorders. Mol Psychiatry. 2013;18:425–34.
- Park J, Jang M, Chang S. Deleterious effects of soluble amyloid-beta oligomers on multiple steps of synaptic vesicle trafficking. Neurobiol Dis. 2013;55:129–39.
- Zhang C, Wu B, Beglopoulos V, Wines-Samuelson M, Zhang D, Dragatsis I, et al. Presenilins are essential for regulating neurotransmitter release. Nature. 2009;460:632–6.

Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and take full advantage of:

- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- No space constraints or color figure charges
- Immediate publication on acceptance
- Inclusion in PubMed, CAS, Scopus and Google Scholar
- Research which is freely available for redistribution

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit

BioMed Central